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UNITED JEZWISH APFEAL
INTERVIZW WITH EERB=RT FRIEDMAN
Interviewers: Roszlie Luris znd Menanem EKzufmen
Dec, 7, 1975 to April 27, 1976
Reel 1 Slide #1

&
The UJA was first orgaznized on Decerber G, 19538, four weeks after
Kristall-Nacht (Novemter 9th). Within these four weeks the leaders
realized that something serious wzs happening; that they.héié to
stop quibtling amonz themselves and try to unite.

Q.
The leaders?

A,
Basically three peovle did the whole thing, Jonzh Wise, William
Rosenwald, and Abba Hillel Siliver, There are many other psople
working tehind the scenes but these people were the symbols. They
sigred the contract, the document creating the United Jewish
Appeal. It didn't stay united. One or two years later, durins
the war, it brocke up. They had to patch it up and make =2 compromise,

It was 1like chevlei leda (birth pangs). = There were growing pains,

Montor was the director, but he had another director working with
him. Nobedy remembers that man ever existed.

Q.
Who?

Al
Iszdor Coomns. t was & question of two orgamizations coming
togzther, eachn one afraid of the other, so each put his oom man

in.
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They were supposed to be equal, but the personalify of Hontor
was so strorng, and the personality of Coons so weak, that the two
could not work together on an equal level., You cannot have two
bosses in any organization. lMortor simply overwhelmed the other
man, He ran the whole show.

Q.
I kmow an Allied Jewish Campalzn was created in the 1930s. This
Allied Jewish Campailgn published a book, "The Pact of Glory".
There was in existence a certain pre-United Jewish Appeal, called

the Allied Jewish Campaign., What is 1t?

A.

Nothing. I haven't got the slightest recollection. If's one of
several efforts which were abortions. They started and they dled.
Nothing was torm because there® was no biz fursion, no sense of
unity. There was no agreemmnt on the Zionist cuestion. It was
a tactical preoblem, Ween you try to unify on a tactical basis
on the battlefield, with no long-range stratezy, it can't last.
Tnese were the first attempts of the Americen Jewish community
to try to do something.

Most communities were very weak, as were most of the Federz-
tions. HMHost Federations were in the hands of Cermar Jews and not
the Russian and Polish Jews. Nobody was caring very much abtout

refugees from Zurope or about Palestine, There was no ideology.
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It was mostly Just philanthropy. Some poor Jews nseded help, and
we can send some help. The Joint had a big orcsram, s non-Zionist
program. They spent millions of dollars on_(AET0) Joirt in Russia.
I think they even telieved in Birobidzhan in the early days. This
was a pnilanthropic, not a nsfional aporocach. 3But when Kristall-Nacht
came so suddenly, it brousht a new perception, a new understanding.
Sven that wasn't strong 2ncugh to overcome z1l1 of these old
suspicions and bullt-in differences.

Montor was a Z2icnist 1n those days, as he defined it, and he
was in his own way a zenius, There's no doubt in my mind zbout
it. Every genius has within himself the seeds of destructionm.
Fontor destroyed himself and he almost destroyed the machine which
he himself bullt., FHe is the Ze2nius who built the machine, but he
tried to destroy the machine. In September of 1950, after he had

#’vﬁrb e - '\' o 4 T""-A..

been the director of the UJA for years, he made a

statement at a meetinzg in Jerusalem in wuich ne was trying to

ngg;uade Kaplan and Zen-Gurion #» start the Bond organization.

He said thgt the UJA &&J% not raise twenty-five million dollzrs
ey iz 1951, ¥n 1952, l&a—ané—*§# Tt ﬁZii not raise any dollars, & »tw
Lot T sces prece A avd Maad b sar /hae Ruirag

The same Montor nho built tnq}macnine was already predicting
ts destruction. Either thls is not a balanced man or this is not

a balanced picture. =Ze was a true genius in fund raising because

he hzd the two things which fund raisins is built upon -- vision

and chutzpah. He had both. I lsarned to aporeciate him and I
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learned a great deagl from nim. I sven liked nim, although nhe was
not a man you could like. He was cold as ice,

Q.
What did you call him?

I called aim Henry.

Now liontor brougnt two people from the D.P. camps to the UJA
Conference in Atlantic City in December, 1945. This created the
revolution. One was Rosensaft. The second was Zzlman ;:gééﬁérg,
now dead, Rosensaft was a bad man., 2almzn Creenterg was 2 good

man. ¥ou'rS not surposed to--say-anythirg-gbout- the d=ad; but he

T peti~ 3
was noi-a-seed—man.hewever, ne served lMontor'!s purpose. Montor

#anted somebody to come from the'Sheerit Hapletz, stand up in
front of the people and say, "now look, we are here, 2live, snd

you hava o do somsthins,“ It was a snock. f&unyq - 6Mm-fb s ivin
Zent N M '“'L Wt (5 -H bt.nr e gy co sore
Hontor rea1* b3 Shat’he oe:ant make the cawpaign for 158

Camad (L Y

without bringing the Jews in America into contact with the reality
of 1945. You cannot make a campaign again in '46 based on slogans
and not deal with realities., Ee told these people what he wantad

them to say, "that we are glive and Eitler didn't kill us -- and

I - | .o
Lies Pl Jints

we want to go to Palsstine." Neither one of those two men got—to

2yantoatis

n Palestine. BRosensaft went to Geneva and Zz2lman Gresnberg went '
o € Shet Shey in Tgraek,

to New York, but novody remembers and nobody will look btack.

If I had teen a director at that time, I wouldn't have taken

those two people, but people who were in reality going to be on a
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skip of Aliyah 3et in a week's time., I would nave had peopls
stand up in Atlantic City in December, 1645 saying "we want our
country and we are zolng to gzo to our country. W2 don't care
what tne British say. We don't care what you Jews of America
say. Lech le-Azazel." I think I was always a little blt stronger
taan Montor, although he was very stronz.
Qa

Tell me who of the American J2wish leadership, wsre present at
the Atlantic Conference? iere you at that meetins?

_ A,
No, I was in Germany. I think the chairmen of the UJA at that
time was Eenry Morgenthau, so ks was the leader. Amon3 the

" B
h -

hassidim who were working thers, were Josepn Feliksman Irom

S ") D{rﬂ‘;:"
R
Detroit, Sewl Luckman Trom Cincinatti znd Sam Nerrow ‘rom Fhila-
b ) . sl —a =k
dBlphia, 211 dezd now. OThnl ~hw ustet ‘-.suﬂ-ﬁIT |t ...1.-4-. PRI | L‘-I .
.:'"-'q“.l I “ift? 'Eu-'r 3 \_‘u_avk¢ l"(( na.f“ M ;'-a"d": ""-'!' tl'--{ .
T

Wnzt about Jacod Zlaustein?

A,
Jgzcob Blaustein was never in his whole life 2zt the UJA meeting;
never once, Jscob Blaustein didn't zo to UJA meetings, Judae
Proskzsuer didn't go to UJA meetings. Of that whols crowd, the
only ons wno ever went to a UJA meeting was Senztor Leaman,

Qe

was 2ddie Warburg there?



o

My

"Burope. 3y the next Annual Conference in December 19L4, he

Warburz was orotebly not there yet., Ee was prcbably still in
was back.

The 1945 campaign raised tkirty million dollzrs. 2y the
1946 campaizn, ifontor said we'!'d have to raise one hundred million
dolliars because now, 2t last, cur brothers are out from the camvs,
Nouw we're seeing who's 2live, and we can do somstiainz for those
in the camps in Surope. Now, a2t last, w2 can help. Iou cannot
give the esxcuse that money dos2sn't dc any good, tecauss now mon2y
does do zocd. Everyone thought ne was absolutely crazy.

The Conference of 1945 was an historic meeting beczuse it
changed the quantum. There was a terrible two or three day Tizht,
in whiéh everyone said it's ridiculous to makxe a zoal of one
nundred million dollars -- 1t cannot be reached -- we will look
foolish, silly -- why should we do it? Hontor pushed and fouzht.
His few hassidim fough¥ with him, They were fizhiing =zgainst 21l
cf the delezations from gll the c¢cmrunitiss. And the Conferencs
passed a goal of one nundred million dollars,

Q.
That was with Zosenwald's help?

A.
Ch, sure.

Qe

..he told us he supported the hundred million dollar gozl and he
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gzve one million himself,
A.
I don't think he zave 2 million dollzars.
Qe

ze told us that he supported Hontor for the hundred million

dollar zozl..

Yas, he digs

Q.
He said that nis family gzve one million dollars.

A,
Correct. Hs gave 250 thousand and his sister, rs. Stern, also

250. On= brother, lLessing, never zave a permy. Two other

sisters each gzve 250 thousand., Z=ach of them gave 250 thousand;
a2 million dollars from the family. We 4idn't have a million
dollzar gift in the campaizn. It wasn't until the 1570 campaizn,

that there was a2 single 51’t of one million dcllars, from one

. Ciw-Davy Wi =, P -
rerscn, not even during Spesb-t—ﬁéyzﬁim- (I have an wucartins

relineNim Thal Dot ey iawt fein o enemihine golia o w67 e
i af A dnutnbl"t‘i’ LILJ' \.té.k ab}"““"lb: HpaT [FeFen, lh‘“—‘ ‘JL‘ I‘"'.__-‘-"-J

) - - -

- L =

Al
H“._(
You have tc talk to Montor zbout this g:ie -=- Auzust 1945, throuzh
olﬂv- 14yg ~ 1941,
September, !'50. Noutcr was already believing in the 2ond) selling
the Bond organization z2nd predicting the Jeath of the UJa. =

wasn!t interested in the UJA any more. 5e was determined to

fizht 1t.
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Qe
Do you think that Montor was really complstely convinced that
the UJA was out, or did he convince nimsslf the UJA is out because
he was out?

Al
No, he wasn't out y=t., I think you have to add a third zlternative --
was ne really convinced that the UJA was dsa2d? Ko, nhe was Too
smart for that. Was he predictins the death of the UJA because he
was quarrelins with 1t? No, he wasa't gquarreling y2t. Wzs ae
predicting the death of the UJA in order to preside over the birta
of something new? Yes, it was a tacticel thing and ne was telling
Sen-Curion and Kaplan -- wé're zoinz to create something rew
because you need z new way of g=2tting money.

Qe
And he ned Golda on his side?

A.
Yes. She wasn't territly important at that time but he had Golda
because he had Sam Rotnberg. Rothberg wasa't a fzctor in 1945,
but became a factor a few years latsr by 1950, Montor 2ad :
Rothberg with nim a hundred percent. Rothberg a‘éié%ig;: the feéé
goal -- the whole meeting in Ssptember 1550. There were thirty

of us, including myself.

Where did it take place?
A.
_ Ly Abe
At the King Dzvid Hotel, ,Feinberg told Montor to be sure to bring

me to that meeting,
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Q.
Wnat was your role then?
-- A'. [ & WE At gt 1“‘.1 whe Pméhb’_
e G &w_,l e \_‘ ““f-r"-k YIA ae r-..»--'.<"-4—-'- i Jd

3id o4 ““.1tam&&z—ees&—be—me—in-ara&nusa -;un_hz3inﬂ_zn_s_:_a_szagem+on—you—ﬁ*-

2
e [r
[T Owl Ay &Y by [eadln tv o ¢ maatrs

b 2omy fo-show-jou-wiat-~you-need~-from-ifontors
The next director wa;'gchwartz, 2 besal fallure as 3 ¢ o~ <%=
director of the UJA, but one of the kindest, most fullhearted,
loving Jew you'll ever =set. 3ut he was absolutely soft, not
decisive. He was a good intellect, a good heart, and waen he

e

e

stood up you hsd to love aim, but he couldn't lead =z fizht,
couldn't do anything. Ee couldn't win frcm anybody. If he had
stayed as the director of the UJA for another few yesars, rontor's
prediction wculd have come true, because in the years thzt Joe

ran the UJA, one main thlng happered. In this daily fight between
the UJA and 21l of the communities -- a2 fizsht over 2ow mucan money
the UJA should get ard a2ow much mon2y the local community should
&2t -- Schwartz lost every fizht., First of 211, he didn't want

to fizht. Ee didnt't like to fizht. His attitude used to ®e, 'an
meleh', so Los Anzeles wants to take another five percent for
themsslves -- we're going to make a2 fizht? Are we zoinz to
threaten them that the UJA will make its own campaizn in Los
anzeles? And I used to say to nim yes, by God, aow can you jJust
surrender, keep surrendaring, while the UJA is gettinz less znd
less? It wasn't his fault., It was not a Job for him because

fthls was a fighting Job znd hs was not that kind of a fizhter.

Ee didn't 1ike it and he wanted to g=t out.
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How long did he stay?

A.
Be stayed until I czme in, in the spring of 1955. E= came in,
in Japuary of '51. The Eond organization started selling in
May of '51. Ben-CGurion came to America with z biz tickertape
perade down 3Sroadway and down Michigan Bculevard in Chicago.
Iontor zlready had been running éhe 3ond organizatio; since the
beginning of '51, Warburg and Rosenwald came to mg~¥g zsk = to
run the UJA. This was one and a nalf years after Scrwartz was
in the job and he wanted to get out. I said no.

I had my own personal reasons, Number one, I had Just moved
from oy former congregation in Denver, to a rew conzregation in
Hilwaukese, I was only there a few months when they came to ze znd
asked me to take this job. I said it's suicidal., It's not fair,
I can't do it to these people. I came only z few months ago snd
I can't walk out on them.

The sscond reason that I gave them was that I dian't know
encugh to run thils orgznization. You guys are crazy to ask me.

I was the best volunieer spokesman the UJA had, I szid, tut you
are fooling yourselves. You have an illusion. I z2m the best
spokesman you have but what do I know sztout bankinzg, edvertising,
labor relations znd all the thaings that you have to kmow tTc run =
biz corporaticn? 1I'm not a2n executive of a corpcration. So they
sald no, you are wrong. B3ut I said loock, I'm omly here a2 faw
montins and I can't do it., I told them to get somebody else. They
didn't find anybody else and Schwartz stayed on '52, '53, 'Sk,
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In 1954 we came into a2 big crisis. lMontor was zttzcking
the communities on the policy that he wanted ths right to sell

Bonds a3ll yesar, twelve months a year. Ee zot into a big fight

with the City of Detroit. =Ze vrote a brochure, called "Tne Non-
+ Trv T3
ia Spmyve ’
sense of miming.“ The sssence of :ha-whe%e—%ﬂéag was that ‘the
Nt calevidas e & Ay B hiTia ty s S wTH Ia&-‘-"ﬂ

| GoA xcrkf for six months of the year and the Zonds work for six
months of the year, —Shesle—nonsense., =e sz2id, I'm zoing to
work twelve months of the year whether you 1iks it or not. So
they said we don't like it.

The executive director in Detrolt rzd enougr power to orzanize
many other executiwve directors in many other citiss and they began
to meke waves to the Govermment of Isrzel. The Bonds belonz=d to
the Govermment of Isrzel. The lezders, zlthough lNontor was their
man, fin2lly rad to throw him overbozrd. Trey hed no choice.
Eshkol was really involved in bthis whole thinz, He was the key to
the whole business. There was a burninz meeting in the Wzldorf
Astoriz Hotel, in '54,

Q.
Was that nesr the =nd of the year?

Al
Yes., Firnzlly Eshkol surrendered, zftzr all of the ccmrunity
leaders were standing in front of the table znd sayins to Eshkel,
we don't wantFﬁgE; g2t rid of him. That meant not only gst rid of
nim, but change his policies., You must have a man who will be more
cooperative with us.

Q.

They called Eshkol from Isrzel - he came especially for that meeting?



B, 6/1

A

Yas. Saplr szys he was there but I don't remember him. I Just
rememter Zsikol sitting there.;;Joéephtal was on the side and
Nzahum Golémenn was in the backzround. And so they gzve in. Thae
supporfers of Montor said, if you g2t rid of Montor, we quit, so
you have to decide, I=shkol said, okay, I've heard all your stories -
Now I will zZo upstalirs znd decide.

Je czlled me and ne called Schwartz. He sald to Schwartz, look,
the ccmrunities want somebody they can work with, and that's you.
I want to ask you 4if you'll take tne Bondis? And then hs turned to
me and ‘ke said, we already talked to you two yeesrs 2g0. Now you

+l ne 4R
hzve no choice. Now you have to e+

Q.
Esnkol?

A.
Yezs. &0 ; said, you know we were friends, Montor and I? 3Zut that
didn't bother me., I nzd to leave the congregation of people. I
had no right to say no at this time. There rad to be a2 solution
to the whole problem and all the pisces hzd to fit. They really
didn't nzve anybody except me. If I hzd said no, then it would
hzve been 2 bisz problem. They would hsve to start looking for
scmebody. He wouldn!t know the orgznization or know now to spesk
or how to a2rticulate; be a strong enoush Zionist with enough
experiznce and war background, Aliyzah Bet and from the side of the
Joint, Beczuse I had very good relations with the Joint, from the

-

days wnen I was in Zerlin with them, I was the best candiiate they
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had. So I told Eshkol that hs'drheve to send Warburg a2nd Rosenweld
2gain toﬁg; board of directdr;:QENﬁ;iwaukee to g=t me a release.
Warburz said okay, so we made the arrancerment. Yontor was finisked,
cut,
I said, you have to zive me until the end of 1955, a year.
Schwartz will break me in and teach me the job.
Q.
The banking business. ’1 ’
A,
I built 2 lsadership whick is goins to protect the UJA for the next
twenty years to come. There's nothins to worry zbout for twenty
years. 3onds 3idn't work that way. I could tell you who'll be the
leader for the next twenty years. That'!s very important. Then you
know you have scmething protecting the future.
So you nave to g=t information from Hontor. From Schwartz,
you can't zet anything - he's dead., I will give you one nzme -

Comls dav T
7elvin Goldstein. Es was the closesi personzal “aeﬁ;auﬁﬂ to Schwartz.

ol Low b‘u'.' ‘5
He was withk him in Lisbon 1950,
Q.
H#e's in New York?
A,
det's in New York and he works for the Zond organization. Tell him
you want everything he can remember about Schwartz. Schwartz took
Goldstein with him. He was hils personal secretary.
<o fa UTA g
I came in February or iMarch after the big compromise meeting,

Schwartz hzd already 1l=ft. He was over in the Bong office., I
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walked into the UJA office with no training, no orientation. I
didn't know nowv to push the button on the telephone. I 3idn't
know anything. I carried the thing until I left in Juns of 1971.
I started in February or March, !'55. I was director the longest
of them 211 -- longer than ilontor, lonzer than Schwartz. There
were only four directors. I was number three znd Bernstein wese ‘7
four,

Bernstein worked for me for many years as the numbsr two man,
I don't kmow how deeply you interviewed nim, but he hzs to give you
four years of history. You have to interview every single chairmsn,
Mcrgenthau 1s dead bubt his son is living. HMzyte you could find out
something from his son., He's a prime source for Morgenthau. Then
Warburg was the chairman, After Warburg, Rosenwald was the chairman.
After Rosenwald, came Morrils Bermstein. He's dead. You must do a2

ALt = :
Job on Josepn HMyernoff. EHe's 77 or 78 years cld zrd in perfect

health, thank zcodness -- 2 sharp mind. Seb—denli uassbe-time ou-nim,
efan
EEZQr ‘ernoff, for a few weeks, it was Pnlllip Elutznik.
Ce

A few weeks?

A.
No problem -- there was nothing wrorns with him, I mzde a dezl with
him. I szid, I went you to bte chairman., You have all the qualifi-
cations, except one. You are an outsider, not an insider, You necwe,
workainside this organization and ycﬁtédﬁg up throuzh t&e Tan¥s.
I'm a believer in the army system from the days of my early training.
But I said, in spite of that, you rave =0 many good qualifications --

give us tke berefit, ¥ou have a wonderful strong personslity, a
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good strong feelinz for Israel, you are z good diplomat, you can
compromise fizants if we hzsve them and we always have fizhts.

e told me that re was about tc receive an zppointment from
Kennedy and so he couldn'!t do it. I sald the timinz is wrong,
because ocur conference is in December. I can't wait -- we nave to
announce a chairman., If Kennedy comes to you before the December
Conference, sure, you want to te an Ambasszdor -- thzat's more than
being chairman of UJA. Klutznik didn't deceive me. He said, if
I am appcinted Ambassador, that!s what I want to d0. First I sald,
maybe you can bé chairman of the UJA at the same time? Zou know
Morgenthau did, he was a Secrstary in the Cavinet and he was Chalirman
of the UJA.

Q.
At the sape time?
A.
I think so. I'm not sure either, but I was trying to use an
argument. I édon't remember.
Q.
Was Forgenthau finisned?
A,
No. Roosewvelt died in April '45, =nd up to the time of Rooseveli's
death, Morgsnthau was still the Secretary of the Treasury.
Qe
Ee continued with Truman,
A.
And he was the Chalrman of the UJA in '45, I think, Klutznik
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wouldn't accept this. B&e said that there's a conflict of interests
and he wouldn't accept it. He said, if you want to take me at the
conference in December, you'll ltave to elect me. Naybe I won't be
appointed to the United Nations. Maybe I'1ll be zppointed =z year
later. Ee said, if you take me on these conditions, okay. I szid
yes, it's worth it for me. I have to gamble, because if you don't
get appointed, we have you, z2nd if we lose you, we lose you. You
have to take risks in 1life, You cannot be so careful. We lost him
in FTebruary. In six, seven weeks, it was finisked.

uye“koff becam= the chairmen and to this day "y=rho” is angry
at Klutznik because Klutznik put the United 3tates Aambassadorship
anead of the UJA Chairmanship. You kave toc talk to Klutznik,
although I dcntt know i1f he can tell you much, Then tzlk to lyerhoff.

&
after Hyerhoff came Fisher, then Ginsberg,,Zuckermazn and now Lauten-

%w-'u difrecad €acls wim 4% s .-.gi:t-f--"'--
Mﬂ%&é&ﬁ—k&y—m&n.?amry year there

is a group in the UJA called national chairmen -- ten, twelve men,

berg. Every one of them is

They are the top officers next to the general chazirman., Zvery one
of them puts in fifty to one hundred days a y=ar.

Q.
They!re lasymen?

A.
Laywen, as volunteers, like the general chzirman. You must interview
every single man who ever carried the title of n=tionzl chzirman --
about one nundred people. Trese are the boys who know the work from
the Inside. They know the fights in 211 the communities, the
arzunents whether to hzsve a special fund cr ncot.

et 1 - T \J

The first time I went tgﬁtorocco, I came tack and szid to Warburg --
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Warourg you are Ashkenazi, e rave to m=ke a special fund for
the Horoccans. If I stznd up and ask for it, everybedy will
twenty
listen znd say that we can't raise ancther/five million dollsrs,
but if you stand up znd szy that you want more money for the
Koroccan%...?ell me you‘ll do 4t 2nd I'1l arranze the whole thing.
e P.'-""V“"“f-'{ "‘lp-»ﬂ— -‘g .‘_. lwlﬂ-\~ o (.. a-—& e -i-&
T sppenszed a, maetina for four aundred zps pwt ‘Senztor Lenman m fo miae

the chair. Warburg stood up and sz2id hs wante&da spacial fund of

twenty five million dollars for tre lloroccans. I _g ii no, I think
Hi""‘lj rele: ey
de shoulin't take the money away from Israsl, Wwe were playling &

kol e -\Qf“"' e S Sois GrAd [ Faas i Svng,
and fwe won:t= e P i :

Qe
When was this?
AS

This was September 1555. e ran a specizl “und ir taes cala3ndar
year 1556, twenty-five million aollars for the Moroccan J2ws, and

3

5t—aés—zak&é&lthintg_on-ioat; Giitten -- I don't remembéFrJHwten

I tock the UJA 1t was at its lowest point, 2t the begimning of '55.
When I cazme into the office, I didn't know what I was doinz because
Schwartz didn't trasin me. Nobody tauzht =e. I couldn't even find

a secr=tary.
Mimset P Sant weele D 4ok o o ik <
ne whols business Yorocco star e Prench 1laft. Tre
t h 12 busine in tartgd.Fre P h 1=t
s“,:";ﬂ«-. wnt b N-t!-" La:e paslem inde T I L T Willed anl agaes de L
QE?:_ﬁgs the first pogrom. ke Jews were awdms in Cesa_Blanca.
¥~ | Lot .

S0 FEe—esiae— 1 127t the office., Thznk G I donlt 1lik=e to

-
L]
-—

sit in the office. I ran away tc tiorocco. came bzck z month
lzter and I understood the whole situation in Forcscco. I szid

L
that Heey have to move these people out -- four anundred thousand

Jews sitting there waiting for Aliysh. Tas Joint didn't want to
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do it, obut they agreed. Then everybedy was for the Aliyzh of
tthese neople, the ORT a2nd the Lubavitcher 2=bte, whe wasZ e in
Morocco workinz among those Jews. I started to go into every
q't*‘:r‘k— 1
community, because to make twenty five million“aollars you have
- <4

to so out and fizht on the' battlefield. So you hage a crew of
guys -- laymen, volunteers. Those boys csn tell you stories zbout
now 1t was - the fight in Dallas and how 1t was 1n Boston ard
Philzdelphiza and Los Anseles.

Qe

patar oL

These are the chairmpen?

A.
Yes, those boys know the inside of the business, The

ﬁ‘nna .

pames are, on the letternezd don't know anything. What does Abba

o

aople whose

Hill=2l Silver know about fighting on the bzttlefield? Ee could

stand up and make a speech. You don't raise money by mzkinzg a

: IR e ChLirmens !
speech. You have to talk to the seexmd iI you want to kmow zow

-y

1]

the UJA works. You hzve sxecutlves sitting in the office znd

laymen out on the battlefield. You have to talk to both.

.',,_' \‘——-'_
I hed an idea in December 1763 to make a conf2rsnce.? It was
\\____-‘

twenty years after the war =2nd I wanted the gommznding gernerzls

of Zurope to come -- this was Genara{ﬁ%i;y, the Frenca Gecerzl
Xoeniz, the British Fizld Hzrshal Alexander. :;'invited tne RFussizn
to come, Etig; wouldn'!t come. It was to remind +he peorle that

[- 2] et 2@\5"‘ whaag! u-. e
the war 1s over twenty years, We're ncw for , Isrzel in 19466.

wWe ngua 2 gmsat biz nay 708l-m--reslest.Fisner—irols-Fisher




I started this record. It wasn't keot bsfors. Topatchnik must

nzve some records frcm before but I dontt mow. On the list are

o

nunber one, the directors; number two, the chairmen; numbsr three,
the nzational chairmen; number four, the local chzirmen.

You have to see thet:;y who 1S on the other sids of tue fight.
I spent many years fighting, particularly in Los Angeles, over the
share of the money -- 2nd Chicago. Those were the two worst cities

that I fouzht with every yesar. You should zo and spezk to some key

@

ople -- the ckairmen of Los Angelss and chairmen in Chicago and

get the story from their side -- that's nistory.

S
The big cities.

A,
Tr2y're not the most important or the most interestins. "11H§gll
you Just one story to illustrate my noint. A few wesks a!gji éas

in Atlanta, Georgia for tae UJA and s’ et tas ";o“u:fmive nillion
iolla;kafg;hnext year., I said seven million. e fought and we
argued with the whole Eanhzlah (lsadership) znd I talked =211 day
long. I talked to a group of men in the morninz and to a group

of women =zt lunch. And in the eveninz I talked to a meeting of
every single person in the community who zives more than ten
thousand dollars, to the top zuys in the room. At the end of the
day they agreed to zo for seven million instezd of five. So you'll

make six. They'll m=zke more than five. So we mads monsy.

Lzte at nizht they w2re all tired. It was a long day. OCne

TaA -

zuy €=2ys to me, do you rementcer the terrible fizht you had nere

S~
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fifteen years ago? You were sayinz to a certzin fellow, 2 Iax
Kuba, that Atlanta saould “e wipsd off the map, aAtlanta wes
raising less than one million decllars znd it was taking sixty
percent for 1tself, not ziving the UJA a fzir amount. You szid
that these people w=re stealing the money away from Isrzel. They
are southern gentlemen and they don't 1like to be told that they

are stealing., You ware very rough on them and they threw you out
and told you they never want to see ycu come back to this city again,
They were remindinz me of this fight. ¥llton Weinstsin szid to xe
tnat it was good to nsve me here today and they got a good shot in
the arm from me. Ee sald that fifteen years 2go I was right. It's
a smz2ll town. I told you the story beczuse you should go to talk
to Milton Weinstein in Atlanta, Georgla =nd get a2 very interesting
look from his perspective.

Take twenty plzces, twenty five plzces, you doa't have to do
more. Go to Dallas, Denver, Colorado, to Atlanta, "llwaukse and
San Francisco.

Q.
rncenix, Arizona?
A,
Phoeniz, Arizona isday is important. Thoenix,Arizonz ten ysars
ago was notning. Go to Nashville, Tennsssee znd Migmi,
Q.
Mortimsr May?
a.
Yes. #2 had as much influence on the campzign as you did. (lzuzhter).

Fortimer May used to mske big speeches. He was a very rich man.
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One thing you learn if you study this whole process very carefully --
words, words, words. MNortimer l'ay could stand up znd say, I am

the president of the Zionists -- I love Isrzel. You must all work
for Isrzel. Then somebody says to him, fine -- but you nave to

face the cquestion, hov muicn? In kis life he never gave more than
five thousand dollars. In two minutes he'!s finished. Ees hzss no

ability to lead. The whole businsss hss toc te a persor2l example

of zivins.
Qe

3411 Rosenwald -- how 314 he dezl with this matter?
A,

Did 2osenwald tell you the story about what ne once dii fo me?
It was a bteautiful story, an absolute classic and I could orly love

< Mmames | Loy

o N bf e o
him for i1t -- zlthoush I hzted him mcst, I'll tell you the story,

but only to prove what a leader is. There was a guy in Tulsa,
Oklzhoma by the name OP;T;ESEan, very rich, in the oil business
a long time. 3Bill Rosenwald was the-chairman then and I was the
director. e were trying to figure out how to get Teubman to zive
the prover amount of money. Ve wanted a quarter of a2 million Jollzars
from him,
and Tzubman zgreed to comxe.

Bill zrrancged z breakfast in his room 2t the hotel/The day
berore the December Conizrence Taubmsn csllsd me up snd he asked,
what!'s zgoing on hera? Why do you want me for bregkfast tomorrow?
32czuse we want to ask you for a quarter of a million dollsrs. I
s21d, Hermzn, look, you give a quarter of z million dollars, tken
¥ou and I togetner, we'll turn on Rosenwald znd you ask him for a

hzlf a million. Z2's much richer than you are. Tzubman liked this
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kind of 2 gz=me bacazuse ne loved Israel very much z2nd if ne could

get ktzlf 2 million dollars from Resenwzld, it was worthwhi_le

We went to the meeting and had breakfzst, nice, Aftsr brezk-
fast, Taubman saild "nu?" Rosenwald started to explain to aim that
he should zive a guarter of a millian, stec., We didn't have very
many as big as him. At the right moment, Tzubman turn=d to Iosen-
wald and he said, I'll mzke 2 deal with you. I will give 2 quarter
if you will zive nalf. Sllence, I decided thzt I nave to start
also, so I said Bill, he's right. Wnat's the differsnce? He will
give two and a2 n8lf -- we were alyays talkinz two znd a ralf. Two
and a half meznt two hundred and fif%yfl:‘fi?e, five hundred
thousand.

Suddenly Rosenwald turns on me z2nd says, there are three of us
s1tting bers. \ Tob're alscd TCHIFEL 5y s 31 make a deal with
you. I will zive five if you will 3zive five. Ila-=—paid-=saployee.
When he tells me to give five, he 1s £alkinz five thousand, not
five hundred thousand. I looked at him zrd smiled a2nd szid, youfre
a rezl bastard, but you're a wonderful fund raiser. I said, what
you are saying is that his quarter of 2z million znd your hzl? a
million zre depending on my five thousznd dollars -- zome on. EHe

burst out laughing and he said, 1f you zive five, I zive five then
’TL " df"r | S

vy ?1vas two and a half. He was hugging znd kissinzg and melsdns whiskey

for brezkfast in the marning.

Con '
This story 1s a classic, s»d z2bscluts classic. I szid to nim,
i - 'f\\.r‘j',f
how thne hell can I pay five taousznd dollzrs when I'm cmzking teensy
_J Y i, g

&ive thousznd dollzrs. You want twen%y percént of my whole income?



Never mind, I'1l1 pay it. I'z zolng to get you for twenty ver-
cent of your income scm2 day. Don't forget, Mr. Rosenwald, When
everybcdy is making 2 meximum push, then you can have a success,
but that takes a lszder. 2Raising monsy is a science, 1It's not

Just done by accident., There are the boys dé-did the work.

« R, 7A

The Zioniests and non-Zionists came togetkar undsr the pressure
of Kristall Nacht in 1938. During the years of the war they broke
apart and they came together again, zlways on the sare zrzucent --
they didn't trust each other., Cne side wanted morney to gzo for
philanthropic purposes, and the otner side wanted money to zo for
raticnal upbuildinz of the homeland. They are two secarate things
and they didn't agree for many, many years. It wasn't until we
care down into the fifties, maybe evan the sixties, that the people
on the non-Zionist side were happy that so muck money came to the
Zionist side, Today the fight is meaninsless teczuse 3ll of the
veople who zre now inside the Joint are zs much Zionists as the
people on the other side, but that was a fight that had and idsolo-
gical basis and it contlnuzd for decades.
Q.

Sven when you were really the accepted vice president of the UJA?
A,

Sure, certainly I could feel it.
Qe

But 1t was not so crucizl as it was before '442
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A.
Of course there was no danger of a split,

Q.
I remember in '45 there was a split. I would say the American
Government really intervened in order to tring them tozetner.

e
No, I think what finzlly brouzht them tozether was when they sterted
to nske five year contracts with each otker instezd of one year
contracts. There was still 1deoloziczl tension and difference of
opinion, tut the danzer of 2 split wzs less zand less., That sutject
had nothinz to do with the subject of nztional budgeting. Nationzal
budgeting was an argument between the Nationzl UJA ané all the
comrunities, There was nothing 4deoclozical. This was an argument
over how much is ycur part and now much 1is oy part, not i3deology.
Q.
You don't think that in reality Blaustein was interested in getting
more power over what the Jewish Agency was doing with the money?
A,
No, he couldn't care less, Ee wasn't interested in the slishtest.
I think if I said to him, Jewish Agency, he would say, whatls that?
Q.
The Jewish Agency in Pzlsstire were quarreling about it already in
1941 and 142,
A,
Blaustein wasn't taking zn znti-Zicnist side or an anti-Isrzel side,
Ee btelisved thzat more mon2y should go to the local community, for

the local Jewish hospital, because he belisved more in America

than in Israel. _ ; ) i T eI
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Tnere was nothing really ideological bscause trey were
srguing over the vrinciple of how to divide the monsy. IlHeyte
there was a power argument but I don't know. I'm not sure. I
never thouzht of it this way. There might nave teen a power
argument about who 1s the boss of the National UJA or the lccal
Jewish community -- who 1s the Baal Eabzit, who should tell whem
wnat to do. ¥

Qe
Why 414 Silver fizht against nationzal budgetinz znd why 413 Blzustein
always claim national budgsting. This was = fizht between the
Blaustelin zroups end the Zicnist grouvs. 5€ wanted naticnal
budgeting and Silver opposed national budgeting. 3Silver szid
that he was resdy to zive information szbout what 1s going on
overseas, in Pzlestine, but he would rever zllow an American
national institution to recommend how to divide the money znd how
to construct the budget of the Jswish Agency. 2laustein clzimsd
that he was not only to bte informed but that a2 certair =gency in
the United States called National Budgeting should not only réceive
information, but alsq'recommend how to use the mcney collected by
the UJA. 1It's very important to clarify the whole matter because
noboly could clarify it until now. It!s very mixed up in =11 the
tooks. It is important for the saks of history.

a.

In ths Council of Federations and Welfars Funds there 1s a2
group from the bizzest cities who czlled themselves "Large City
Sudgetins Conference,® LCBC. Eave you ever run scross this?

Q.
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A.
This is the real pcwer inside the Council of Fsderations. ¥You
may have two hundred Federations but Tulsa, Cklzhomz is not 2gual
to Boston, lfassachusetts. There was zlways a small 3roup, Cwelve
cities, then thirteen and fourteen;ﬁdfﬁ;;ﬁwere very Jealous zbout
who they would let into this group. The "Large City Eudgsting
Conference” took a position inside the Cocuncil of Federaiions that,
since we raise most of the monay and since we give most of the money
to the UJA -~ even if the UJA dcesn'!t think we ziw a btiz snoush
percentaze, ~€ are giving ninety percent of what the UJA is re-
ceiving -- therefore we should nave the risht to pass Judgmesnt on
the budget monay which the National UJA is spendinz. If the
National UJA is givins X dollars to JDC and Y dollars to the Jewish
agency, we should have a rizht to zpprove that. That's what we
call nztional budgeting.

3lzaustein wanted this but Silver 4idn't want it., Silver didn't

want to glve any group of cities what he thouzht was the rizht of
veto, although I don!'t think they were asking for the right of
veto. Tne reason that therels confusion on the mesninz o the
term national tudzeting is because it has dwo meangings., To tae
Council of FPederations it msans, we would lik=s to have something
to sey abcut now the orzgznizestions receiving cur money are spsnding
it. The UJA is only a pipeline.

Q.
In Palestine a2nd in Poland?
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A,
Biznt, in Palestine and in Poland, we would lik= to nzve someiking
to say. Trom the other point of view, the words nztional buizeting
mean something else altogether. They mean that the UJA wanted to
make a national budget for all the communities of the country saying,
you skall all give fifty psrcent or sixty percert of what ycu raise
to the UJA instead of one city giving twenty percent, one city
giving thirty and one city givins eizhty., ITos Angelss is ziving
twenty percent of what they raise to the UJA =nd Washinston is
giving elighty percent of what they raiss to the UJA, so tiuesre were
somes people who ssid we should ecave national budzeting.

Qe
What was Silver's pocsition?

A,
No, no, here Silver is not in that. That concept is called by the
initials FCB which means Pre-Campaign Suigetins, 2efore the canm-
palgn started for 1547 we weanted to aave an zgrsemsnt szbout how
the money woul: be divided for the next year. Trere was 2 blg
fight about the idea that the UJA warnted to try to have n=tional,
uniform (nationzl in this czse means uniform) buigst procedurs.
This means that every city in America would agree to zive {ifty-five
percent of what it raises, that Isra2l znd the Jsws in Poland
neced more morey than the Jews in the United Statss =snd that the

bizgast share cr the btizgzer shzre should ke for UJA. The minor
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share should be for the loczl cemmunity. The Uda falled -- we
never zot nztionzl budzeting in this sense, Neifner sije zof wnat
t wanted 2nd each side %had a diffesrent definition of what it meant
by n=ztionsl budzesting.
Qe

o

National budzeting from the UJA ty=e means budgetins, the division

of money.
A.
Bignt.
Q.
«e.r22lly coll2cting from 2ach of the communities.
A,
Right.
Q.

and UJA never rec2ived that. And 3lzustein wanted rzationsl
budzeting, meaning that the United States shouli decide now the
money should be speat by Joint, the Jewish agency znd by &3S

(National Refugee Service) in the United States,

A.
Correct.
Q.
d that 211 these three orzanizations should really report to the
LC3C, to trke large cltises,
A,
Correct.
Q.

Neither the UJA or the Council of Welfare Furds pever really zot
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this nation=l budget.

A,
Correct.

Qe

And so we clarified a very, very important concept, difficult
because 1t was =z doubls concept. Naztional budgetinc from the
side of the UJA znd rationzl budzeting from the side of the
Conference of Welfzre Punds. I'm interested in Silver!s reasoning
against 3laustein not to give thess communftiss that kind of
power in the larger sense., Is that Silver's reasoning?

Silver said, if you give th= money for the Jewish people,
you can't sit in Cklahoma and decide whether the monsy should be
svent in Palestine for settlsments in Daganiz or for T2l Aviv.
This is our business, We have the responsibility to spend the
mone€y according to the needs of the Jewisn Azency and you can't
sit in Oklahoma or even New York znd 3ecide how the money should
be spent. A much more important point was that because Silver
knew very well that a part of the morey i1s svent for political
activities of the Jewlsh Agency and for security in Pzlestine,
we could never agree to any of the non-Zionists or anti-Zionists
sitting down at a central conference of Federztion znd Welfare
Funds and deciding that we only srent money for educatior and not
for security. Am I rizht? These were Silver's reasons zrd ne
never agreed to Blaustein's argument. That rounds out the picture,
Thank you very much for clarifying this concept., In the pzpers

everytiaing is mixed up. I understand that you wantsd Lo tell us
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about the anistory of your own involvement in the UJA,

A.
I was born in New Haven, Commecticut. Ny father was born in Vilra
apd my zother in Kurland. EKurland was also up in the Ezltic, near
East Prussia. It was Lithuania. I can't find it on the m=p.

Qe

Kurland is really a oart of Lithuanlizs, but it was settled by Germans.

Al
She was from a pretty ricn family., Eer father sgg grendfather
was in the forestry business, 1like everybody €lse. All Jsws were
in thzt business. She was one of eightesen children, from one
Tather and one motner, in twenty-two years. They kad a2 big Eof
an3 they all lived togethep. There was 2 teacher snd a doctor
and they had a small village compound of ftheir own family. Xy
father csme from a very noor family. “haf*“h% in the Un_ 2d Statss
and were narried there "VI was born in 1518, %They R ——
Kishinev pozrom in 1903. When I was borm they nzd alrezdy been
sneak*né English for fifteen years, so they spoke =Zrnzlish in the
house, po more Y¥iddish, ro more Germsn, nc more RBussian. So I
never learmed Yiddish when I was a boy. I was 2z first gersration
American borm, but still never learned Yiddisn. It's interssting,
Qe
You don't krow Yiddish?

A,
Foymiiee I 122rmed later, I went to ¥zl2 Univedsity. I have two

o

rothers who also went to ¥Yzle, This was durinz the desression.

I entered university in 1934 znd I finisksd 1338, My father had
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no job. He lost his house. The bank care aaﬁxélosed the =zmort-
gzge a2nd took the house away, so I understand exzctly wnat i€
means to live with no oread in the houss. It was a very diffizult
time, but he szid, if you boys want to zo to the university, you
Z0. liake your own way, €arnm your own money znd zo. 1fou don't have
to bring any money into the house, but I cannot give you any money
for education. fatrapl 2., He was very
proud. Iy mother worked véry nard., And thafffﬁegf us went through
the university. -

I went on to Columbiz, studied Business Administration;fgook
an #.A. and then stopped. I went to werk im = fzctory znd worked
for one yesr, two shifts, sixteen hours, alghif and—eizksy to pzy

back 211 the debts, Then I decided to g£o to rabbinical sezinary
Jawdn Toogmtive | Gle,

school, to Stephen Wisesdn New Xork.’

The motivation for Pails was Hitler andi the war, because I
felt very strongly sbout what was happening. I also f2lt that
the Jews of America were nct reacting, not doing anythinz, so I
tried to think of what I %é;?dp as one person. I decided that
the vest thinz for me to do 32 to try to becore 2 civil servant of
the Jewish people. Tae best way to be a civil servant is to be a
rabbi. It has ncthins to do with relizion arnd God. I don't know
any more about these subjects than you do. You don't xnow 2nytnins
and I don't know anything, neither one of us knows.

Qa

So you agree with Kaplan? XKaplan szys there's no God and I am

his propuet.
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A,
Eaplan is too sure. I'm not so sure. You know I 3Ion't think
tiere's a God, but I don't know. It 1s such 2 personal matter
when somebody says, why did you become a2 rabbi? I became a
rabbl not to try to tell somebody about God, beczuse I don't know
myself. I became a rzbbi to try to 4o somethinz for the Jewlsh
people and the only way I could see, was to tecome z rzbbi. Then
I can 30 into the army =2nd fizht zzzinst Hitler, nct Just as =
soldier, tut from a differsnt position. Maybe I can do something
to wake up the Jews of America? I didn't think the war would te
over so gquickly. I saw a lonz, long miichama (war) and 2 long

Festunz Zurove, with bzd trouble for the Jews, not just in Zurope,

but for thke rest of the world.

I went into 2z rabbinicel school #ith this motivatioan. I
stayed three more years until the middl=s of *43. The zrmy had 2
rule taat you hzd to have cne year experience zs 2z rabbi in some
congregation before they woull Zive you a commission., Then they
would maks you an officer and you could btecome a Cazplain. Stepnen
Wise sent me to Denver, Colorzdo and I stayed there for one year.

I went as an assistant, in August 1943, I didn't know they were
naving a fizht with their rzbdbi. In Septsmber, ons montk later,
he was out, Tzey ssked me i I will be ths chief rabbl and take

the Ismiw Norzim. I‘reeb—bhe—seld., I had nothing to lose, so I did.

It was 2 big congregation. e had almost a thoussnd families.

It had a2n 0ld anti-Zionist, German tradition. It hzd been founded
QW\-'\I g J

baathe Guggenheinm family. Ee was a United States Senator. It

Wwas a congregation two years before Colorzdo becams a menmber of



- 33 =
R. 71

the United Stztes, when it was still a territory.

hest Loz
They wexe trained for a nundred years in znti-Zlonist German </«

3eform traditior., I started to fizht against this, to charngse it, +

'r,,'-\",p.t TNt e Trnc { & jo - Sr=5T viea o s b Fer T i

I hzd a very interestinz year Tighting, every day fizhting, zrd

cnznzing them., It was wonderful. fter exactly one year I went
Tl—k Wiha g Eurspl, winl e 3 ,. o e Da i H?‘_

into the army. key wanted to send me to the Pacific a=d I sz2id

no, I have to go to Germany. 1I'm not fighting against Hirohilto,
*@-\n .
I have to fizht against Eitler. Okay, I went, ngg the war

13]

firished. I met a woman by the name of Buta Kluger (now Zliav).

She was the secretary for lir. Ben-Gurion. She called me up. I
was 1in Bavaria and we were co1lact1ﬁg Jews on the rcads, picking
Aoy cata~

up children sni veople ez:-they donls remembter their nsmes or
Tty ver i~ e s

what city they come frorm. It—wes shock, trazuma. Aunning on the

roads in big trucks and Jjust getting people together, firnding a

place to put them. This was the begiming of (Akurim)F1itim, what

we called camps fo*(}kur*mb?li im, displzced persons. D.P. was a

terrible initial.

-
T~

Now I was doing something to pay back Zitlsr, at least, the
Sheerit Hapleta, trying to help. Ruth Klugsr heard about it and
she called me and asked if I ;;ii come to see her in Paris. 1
went. I didn't kmow who she was but I came into the room at the
Hotsl Royal i'oncesu and she said, will you work for us? I said,
who is us? She sald, HZagzanah, Aliysh Bet. I said, okzay. She
Nent across to the door of another room. DSen-CGurion care out of
it. She told him that Friedman would work for us, E= szii, thank

’h:_—\(\
you, skakes nands, turnelaround ani walk€l out -- not ahother word,

Thet
finished, It was the first time I ever sazw nim, It was 2t the end

of 1545,
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Sae sald to sit down and to tzks off my cozbt. She zzve me
coffee, only then. If I nad szid no, she would have turned

around a2nd sent me out, finished. Ske told me to zo to Serlin znd

Tate sTn i~ Briaede \,J'}\.o ity X

get 2 house and then they would send in some be¥s, solliers famm
T WMowme, T b uoacie £ A L

,:a;:;gm. re—RalesbimeBYIZade—ras in Selsgium. She said ¢~4¢Ll}

send four boys to 3eﬂ'and yé& Jﬁiékwcrk feom ths routg:géettin 4>
ap Berlin, .

Qe
You were still in the army, though?

A.
Sure, it was a good cover. Anyway to make a lonz, lonz story short --
there are so many tkhings to te2ll about thess years. Some day I
skould really write down or t=1l1l somebody 211 the dstzils of every-

thinz that napvened in those years. It was twc 2nd 2 hzlf years
ani it was a fantastic story.

I went back to trne United States ir 1947, It wes a very com=
plicated business., GCeneral Clay sent me tack personally. We becanme
good friends and I became an z2dviser on his staff, I saw him zlmost

every day and ne knew sverything that was zoinz on in the Lliyzhn

A

Eet@ricna§ The cooperation from the United Statss Army was L

=

perfect, couldn't have teen better. 32ut I 4id somethking for whica

ae couldn't protect me, excent to send pe away.

You can g2t ths whole stcry from Pr ofessor,Sholem. Frofessor
Sholem came ovaer to Offentach, a city in Germany waere the Hzzis,
unier a prozram of Alfred Rosenbterz, nzd collacted z11 the Jewish

W T dak
. . G-M},t/m.l AN
books. ZRossnberg wanted to build a library for tas

Reich of Jewlsa books to condamn the Jewish relizion from sheir WS cuwn
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cooks. Gershom Sholem looked through 21l these books, three
J‘-I'L‘K
million pieces, snd feuxd one thousand three ktundred pizces
-\‘__.T g, IPCledtd tacmmebais m,..ﬁ... frecioas wtplice anit.
wnich he wanted.' H2 couldn't gt them out of the sscksdan—
4{warsnousel.
He couldn't g=t permission beczuse in America -- I don't

know this for a fact, but somebody investizatal it -- Professor

Finkelstein of the J5wish'Theological Seninary szid that he doasd 4

not a2gree that these books saould zo to Pelestine; that Pzlestine
is not the only center of Jewish 1ife. I wish I could prove this.
I think it's true and Sholem thinks it's right. We have szcken
zbout it many times but we have no procf.

The only thing we know 1s that the American Military Govern-

} chaklor~
ment refused to zive vermission Porlhés to take tnese books tc

thes Nztional Jewish Library of-ﬁ%-Saenus Hebrew Universitya Eer

been Tt
was crying and ne had only one more day left., He had limited
permission to stay in Germsny 2nd he had to leave, I szid I would
maralir 75 ad BB ke hof s <iide

steal the books and so I stole them. They were in five tiz boxes,
eacn one zsbout tiue size of this tedble. It's a long story, how I
stole them znd how I got them out, I gZot them to Paris znd to
Antwarp snd put them on 2 ship with the Library of Craim Weizmann
wanich was goirg from Zngland to Pzlastine, The CID foundé out
everything. They had the licerse numker of the zmbulznce I was
using. I stol2 an ambulsnce from the Joint, teczuse I need=d a
big car and T didn't want a truck., I wanted to have scmething
tr2t would not cause zny suspicion.

They came to me2 and they were going to court martial =e.
= Sf‘-ﬁ! e ".:'?r;r; i
There was a biz story in the 2rmy nswspeper, about an unnared

ctaplzin who stole five million dollzrs worth of books. Ii3a—we
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a—rizimaen., I vent to Z2neral Clay and told tim the story. He
stopped the court martial. 3ut told me tiat I'd nave Uo leave,
Also, I had helped to lcad reople on the Sxzodus in Hzrseilles 2znd
they krew about that too. Sof Pasuk, zo hrome my boy, 21l over.

I went bzck to America. ThéfﬁirEctor, Eenry lontor, neard
trat I was coming nome to be discharged from the army and he

VTA 2 rabrral

called me to come to 2, conferencs in Femnsylvanlia, It was om
emergency conference to explain to the Jews zbout the condition

-

of the people in tke cemps. I didn't know anytainz stout tane UJa,
nothins, I 3idn'ft kmow znything about how the movey gg’reised in
acerica. I nzdn't been irn America from the btime the UJa rezlly

got started in '45, 2But he was 2 very clsver ran znd ne knew that

k
inside of me was ke strong veszion that was tecilinz, so he ussd 1it.

Qe
Henry met you in Zurope?
o A’ - £ } A
e ke tona Dtk Pubim oy 15Y0 SrE ajan fevés
Yegs., H= met me when I w2nt into Poiand =t the time of the pozrom
¥ielee ?
in Xslz=.
Qe
Wnen was that?
A,

The 4t of July, 1949, cuite a day. There was = man who came o

bl'u\ 1 d",!vﬁu.‘&, (n Fammmen 1YW F
thishconference‘-- thlis 1s a2 va2ry impertant story tecause it —
sets up the whole lazter sequence of events -- by the nzme of
Pirestein, Iiax Firestein 1s a good Jaw from Los ingeles. =e makes

perfume; his business name 1s lax Pactor. I Gdiin't know him but



I was sittins 2t this confa2rence and listeninz, Th2 chairnsr of

the UJA, Benry Morgenthzu was there teco, as well ss ilontor. This

he

1little fellow, l=x Firestein, was standins up on the {loor znéd
wWas zanzry.

r. Morgenthau, he said, T am disgusted with you and this
conference; why you schleppéd me from Californizs to come here for
some emerzency conference because we have to rmake moreg;oney for
the Jews ¥ho are in such trouble? I'm listening to tnIE:EQE”E
ég;it near znything, =, ;ﬁere is nothing new that I'm learning
at this confersnce, that I can go home 2nd tell my neople in Los

Tra wmak T weg

vas
aAngeles, The more heds talking, &% boiling insids,

25
Morgenthau and Montor were very smart., It's liks you press
a button a2t the right moment, so they oushed the button on me znd
sald, znswer him. They gave me somebody to start to nit 2nd I
took that poor little fellow a2rd said, I don't know your name a2nd
you don't know my name, but I'm going to wipe up tke floor with
you. I'm sSoing to m2ke blotte cutl of you and I'm 30ing lckashmd
otcha because you cannot stand up and say that therel!s notaing new.
Wwhat do you want, blood 1like we had two years zago? What do you
mean nothing new? What new thinzs do you gant? You want me to
tell you what it smells like when there zre thirty, forty peowie
living in the szme room? I'll t211 you winat it smells like. EHold
your nose., I startdto m=ske a very grapnic descripvtion -- you know
what it smells 1iks when you nave orne lz2trins for five hundred
people; snd what it's 1ike when you can 2at once a day; and waat

£}

it's 1like wnen you ar2 going throusgh the mud znd you cannot keep
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clean znd your body begins to smell; and thea your mind; you are

ull of despalr; snd you came througn the ovens; everybody else
is dead znd you are still zlive but you don!'t know way; and you
don't know wnat is the reason for being zlive; you have no futurse;
you want to go To Palestine and nobody lsts you go to Pzlestine;
and somebody tells you to go bzck to Folard where you came from;
but Polznd 1s like a graveyard full of blood; the whole zZround
1s soaked with tlood; you can't go back zrnd you can't zo forward;
and you zre here stuck in the mud, in the stink. t was ro speech,
I was Jjust pouring out everything.

I don't imow how long I talked znd I don't know wnst I s=2id.
I never saw a transcript of that speech and I dontt know if there
was a recording of it. Tnhne whole attack was zgzinst uim; who do
you think you zre; wro are you; wnet kind of Jews do you rspresent;
wnat kind of psople do you have in Los Angeles; they may be like

znimals; ars they Jews with no conscience; ~hat kind of pople zre

(ay

(0]

you nere in Amarica? I was atbzcking him ani I was attackinz th
Jews of America, T szid that the Jews of America shouldn't even
nave a part in this whole business, they don't deserve 1t; they
are looking for sensations; what are you lookinzg for; you are

looking for some nitgzam even for ycur next campzign; wnat do you

want? You are living in the shadow of the shoa; you don't under-

stand what hzppened. I was smashing,
I got all throuzgh and the room was so guiet. =2 stced up
and he sald, now I got what I came for, thank you. He came up znd

shook my hend. I was sweating amd nervous. I didn't kneos who has
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was. Later on he bold me who ne was and I apologized to aim,
Never nind, re didn't care, To this dazy he tells the stery. He
says this was the beginning of his education. E2 went bzck znd
for twenty five years he worked in Los angeles. He was the number
one Jew, the first to give a million dollars,

Morgenthau took me up to nis room and he said, now you nsve
to come with us. And I sald no, first I nave to go to the ermy
to e Jemobilized, released. =2 said no, I want you in your uni-
form. It makes a different impression. I want you to come with
me for thirty days. We have a private airplane, and you and I will
go from one city to znother and we will £ry to create some en=-
thusiasm. So I szid, Fr. Morgsnthau, thank you, I have to go and
be released, He said, all right, I will arrang= it.

I told him to call Fort Dix, in New Jersey, where I kzd to go:‘&mb@ﬂ
and to talk to the 1lst Sargezant, tne Sargeant z2jor. =Ze szid, I
don't lmow anytuing azbout any Sargeant Yajor, I only know one person
in the army, the Secretary of War. He's the only one I know znd I
w11l call him. I said no, please, you'll g=t me in trouble. I
was only a captain. The anigher up you go, the worse trouble you!ll
make for me, And sure enough, 22 czlled up the Secretary of War,
a nice friend, I met him later., Zobert Fatterscun was his name,
They were talking and I was listening and I knew El;f%cinglgﬁgg
Sgé box beczuse they are talking. lorgenthau szid, 20ob, tals is
Henry. Iwent you To do me 2 favor. I have a captain hsre snd

: ot o duty b 3
Yeni-Gilvo-po—rolomssd—ent Lo be =i58x S me for thirty dzys

pefore he's releassd. I was thinking -- get me somsthing in
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writirnz, you kmow thzt the army needs everythins on ospver. Nothing
doing, ns 3idn't zive my name, my number, nothing.

Trne Secretary of War said, denry you wert this officer, ycu
take him. Je'll strzighten it out later. Straighten it out later?
Thirty days later when I came bBack, I wzlked into tﬁg—ggap to te
relezsed. I gave my pavers at tihe gate =nd becom, I was srrested.

I was put in jell beczuse I was thirty days "absent without l2zve,"

It tookx me four days to z=t out of jzil - znd nobtody would
believe the story. Finally the commanding gensral called up
Ilorgenthau and ne said, wrat is this? I have some officer here
and I think I have to send him for psyctiatric tests. Ho's telling
me a story of the Sscretary of Wer and the Secrétary of ths Treasury.
I'm only a simple zeperal. I don't know z2ny Secretaries. !‘orgen-

“e m "-('-'rlflf'i-"“ h—fqh?",__i
thau finzlly zot me out. I went bsck to Denver sad wee speaking

A
. sl T & sl Do ey b e e S

for the UJA 2s a volunteer. _On the first day, Morgsnthau zrd I went

Tt 1 M il"u-? TOua e - r.n.«.u! ."4"",
én to Detreoit, to Oklahoma City. We Zinished at midnizht, zot into
the plzre and went to the next tovm. Cn the plane, he zave me an
envelope., In the envelope was a check for one hundred dollzrs.
I zsked what 1s was for? He sald, teczuse we reve to psy you for
your services. You made a wonderful speech znd you ot the pecple
all excited. I took the check, tore it up snd tarew it in his fzce,
I saij to him, you znd I are goins to te on thls zirplane for
thirty days ard if yocu ever do this szzin I will throw you off the
plane,

It was insult., What are you 3oins to me, I said., I hsve oy

arcy pay end thzt's it. I'am on dubty with you for thirty deys.

H
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Ne £ pa Sk il
couldn't belizve iifgnd he coullnl i unisrstand——0t.

I worked for the next seven years as s volunteer for the UJA,
I went to hundreds snd hundreds of citiss z2nd made thousands of
speeches., In vetween, I chaznged congregations. I went from Denver
to Milwaukee for tha same reason, another challenge, There was
an 0ld German reform congregation in Milwaukee znd they wanted me
to try to mzke them Zionists. I szid, okay, I'1ll ¢ry.

From '47 to '54 were the seven years that I was working zs a
volunteer - 1 was making speeches with neople from Isrszel znd with
all the political fizures of the United States, Vice Presidexn
Sarkley, Vice President Truman and then he was President Truman.

L L™ r"'( Sae sh:-’\-:i\- b ._v'-ont‘u*!.'fuh-' dav T= "."-'."

1 spoke, with everyoody from Israel, Golda, Sktarett, Xatznelscn a=d

el doza~s ¥ ¢ [raes '
Sprinzak, In those early days everybody was coming to America.
i
anybody wnho came from Israel znd who spoke ,with an accent was a2
Lyms irn‘ﬂ'/a‘. .
great attrzction. We didn't use elufia. We used szrzeants and
A cytaen
corporszls. Saéﬁn was alrz2ady something very big. Todzsy you have

. !ﬂ"-ud-“.. !lL,"-su'
to zive the American zudisnce 2t 1lszst 2 (SS=adwil

So after all these years as a volunteer -- with that belisf
inside me, abcut having to do somethinz to mz2ke up for the zuilc

of what we did not do in the years of the Shos, znd confirmed and

= : = <5 .
convinced in the belief that Isrzel 1S the center of the Jewish
i vTA %
people -=- I became the director, I had the basic ideclogy and
enough knowledge of Jewilsh history aani tradifion, lezrring and
literature and reiigion from 21l the years as a rabbl. So I was

really eble to work from 2 long historical point of view a2nd also
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from an immediate histeorical point of view, Tnzt was the success.
I nad, of course, a lot of willingness to btry new things, That
w#as ny backzround and that was nrow I ot into the Job.

I Zot into the jJob not bacause I was a socizl worker or beczuse
I was a2 fund raiser, butr through the work in Germauny, the Bricha
and through speech making in America. I guess I was the voice or
the spokesman as an American Jeyw, the test there was, I stocd up
on a public platform a2t 2 very youns zg2 and talksd to Acmerican
Jews, and if we had an Israeli Jew as a partner, tien it was sven
better.

In spite of 211 that, I watched the UJA zoins dcwm, down, down,
during the years+ﬁﬂ;g 3 Spoké > befcre}when ¥ontor was zlready
losing interest in 1t and Schwartz was losing the zbllity to fight
for it. Wken I %ook it, it was really at a lor point.

Q.

Tell us some stories...

a,

4o ks e .
There were three kinds of meetings tigas the UJA used to send me, ¥,

One - a meeting with the board . of directors of the locsl

= b :
community, to fighkt for share of the money. This kind of
meeting with ter or twenty people is very hzrd fighting because
it's vary close., You don't make a speech for more than thirty
minutes beczuse nobody would sit still for this loxg.

I would come in: gesautlemen, I'm ners on behalf? of the GJa.

the Big Gifts Meeting, or you heerd me at the confarence in Thitn Drefehy,



- Uy -
8. 7/1

saiymeco, You know whno I 2m and you ¥now what I talisve in.
You know my ideas. I'm 21so the rabbl of a local commuricy
so I understand zll the nseds of a local comunity. If you don't
nave z community center in your city, nobody will die, but if we
don!t have more kibbutzim in the north of the Negev, some Jaws
will not live, because they will not have z plzce to develon. §So
putting this on a scale, I'm not so sympathetic for your ccmmunity
center. I'm more sympathetic for my kibbutz*m. Last year you

, o I o yrtam Fadin Nome

gave gﬁﬁ&ty-’ive vercent ia Eoe campzigm fe- the Uda. Tris year

AL vt sndy ST=d # e
I came to ask for fifty one percent., wow—Istls—aopoe., Thebis-

1

igé;:§gﬁ rave To argue and 2xplain, They want to know aow
we are spending the money in Isrzel and I 2lweys tell them to
z0 back to national btudgeting. It isn't a question of not wanting
to give more. 1It's a question of wvho has the power of decision.
I was always in favor of zivinZ information zni explanation,
makinz them pzrt of four problem. Then you can win tham over. I

would always brinz maps, charts 223 books. I would walk in w#ith

a briefcase., In those days Walter Lowdermilk was a very famous

man, SO0 I used him as an authority. Teszt—wzsons—ikind-ef-<meedtinyg,
= ki - 5 PO ® 8 gy 84— - = T2 - I '.\"Ould.
| ok

alyays try to have one cr tiwwo of the,fellows on wy side tefore
I went into the mesting. In the zfternoon, I would 4o scme work.

Q.
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aA.

Yes, pre-soliciting. Fost of the time the zmeetinz would 2nd

un

and they would say fine, we listaned to you.
Q.
Wde'll decide later,
A,
(4 et o ""‘“ )
Right. hat eem I 307 What would adwags hapsen was that if they

#Sre glving thirty five percent,; 2nd I asked, for f£ifty one psrecent,

ShE whond  n [ Tl ;mf“-‘;tj
we would g=t -e-%y-ﬁzmo—and-not-r&ﬂty—one. I was defeated. wWith
Ju.\._av.(.’ siint 1 Pasn e
such—daisa%&—w&-ga&ﬂsdmtan—aercant. I waabked aixtaeﬁfuu, I

Epevsn

didn't got 1it. ‘ot anl;”¥°n. I wes—2mou=n. Such dsfezts
aded &
@aie up,a victory. If yocu can win a few more points than the
iw eas=ap CoBES

yezr before,‘you are pushing anead.

When I got an assignment to zo to St.Louis to azrgue with the
budget committee, I would get the whole sheest of statistics from
the UJA staf?, so I would kncw what I was talking zbout -- how

much morey 40 they sperd on a2 hospital, 3eit Yitomim, 3eit Z=zvrza,
Beit Zekenim and Zeit ha-am,

December 1i4th

B. 7/2

I would go in with this advice, z2ll the fzcts that I wznted. No-
boldy gave me authorify to ask for fifty on2 percent or fifty three
percent or forty seven percent. I used tc try to build a logical

czse,
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I said, last year you raised one miliion dollzrs =znd you
gave us thirty five percent. That mesns you za2ve us 3
and ycu used 630 thousand. Whkat are you zoirng to nesed next year?
Waat is the inflation? What is the exparded program? How many
zore people do you expect to hawe in the hospital, in the orphans'
hore, etc, ete? You need sevén nundred thousand? Firne,

#e'll mpake a deal that the first seven hundred thousand dollars

you keep, but the next seven nunéred thouszand dollzrs you zive to

({0

me. S0, on one nmilllicn four hundred tiousznd, instead of ons

nillion, wa z0t fifty perceant and you get fifty percent. Do you
think you can razise one million four huncredg thousand instezd of
one miliion? I will coms back 2nd kelp you. I will solicit
veople z2nd make speeches., Negotiating, fizhting, argulng snd
offerirg a2 premium -- that's one kind of meeting, the nardest kind
of all.

Qe

dnat 2bout the in-Tighting in Federabion?

A,
Who zre thHose twenty people? Usually they asre thne bigzest zivers.

So if I'm talking to them, saying that they have to rzise one
million four hundred thousand next year, what I'm sayinz to thexm
is that you must zgive tiventy five thouszzd next yezr instead of
ten. I always had my fisures prepared. You must do your homework.
If you don't do your homework, it's no zccd.

Q.

They're business people.
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A,
Yes, sir. If you come as a Zionist orator, making orations and
you don't come down to business, they don't listen. This is a
business meeting, in which you are raising morey, fighting for
a bigger share of the money, stimilating them, giving them a
bigger visicn, telling them stories, indoctrinating them, brain-
washing, because this was the leadership, these twenty people.
They have the town.

Q.
Was it done the same way in the big cities and the small city?
A.
No, It was different.
Q.
In New York City?
A.

because until two years ago
New York City was the only yotseh dofen (exception),/it had two

campaigns. It was the only city in America where there was one

campaign for the UJA and one campaign for the local needs of New

York City, so.we never had this problem of how to divide the money.
We didn't go into every small town in America to fight over

the percentage. We didn't have enough manpower, not enough reople

Iidew=me who could go, so we only went to the biggest places where

trhere was really scmething to fight about. If you were going to
Wt

a small place where, b'sach hakol the whole campaign %s raising
two hurndred thousznd dollars, what l;lthere to fight about? If
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they need a hundred thousand dollars, they need a hundred
thousand dollars.

Q.
You make a telephone call.

A.
Right, you make a telephone call -- exactly. The fighting used
to be in thirty or forty cities, but that's a whole year's work.
That means going every single week, once a week, =
to a different place, on this one subject only.

Q.
And then the momey was again divided between the Joint and Israel?

A.
No, this was by contract.

Q.
So that wasn't an issue?

A,

No. The issue was between the UJA and the Pedergtions and what
their sum was going to be.

Q.
The interest of the Joint and the UJA together was to get more
money out of the Federztions?

A,
Oh, sure,

Q.
So you were rezlly the representative of the Nationzal UJA,
fighting for a higher percentzge in each of the cities?



A,
Correct, I was fighting for a higher percentage to go overseas.
It didn't matter whether it was going to the Joint in Morocco
or to the Jewish Agency in LaChish., That was the issue and I
used to try to put it on the highest ideclogical basis -- how
can you Jews in America be so selfish %o put your own local
needs ahead of the needs of Jews overseas? EHistory doesn't
permit that, In the 19th century, you put your own needs first,
arnd it may be that in the 22nd century you can do the same thing,
but now in the 20th century I know that the needs over there
have priority.

This was the whole framework, an historical framework, When
you fight something on a very high level like this, you can win
because they can see that it's not petty. I was not fighting
for some prestige, which is petty, or just to make a record like
in a football game, to win another point. They could really see
that it was an historic fight. I kept saying to them that I am
trying to educate you to understand that if you guarantee the
survival of the State of Isrsel and the Sheerit Mapleta of the
Jews living there, or the kibbutz Galuyyot of the Jews in Africa
and in Asia, in the long run, you will be guaranteeing your own
survival here in America beczuse you will be part of something
big.

If we lose over there, we will lose the Jews in Morocco and
the Jews in Iraq, in Yemen, and lose Isrsel and you will be left
Bere alone. You will be sométhing small, I was trying to show
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them that in the light of their destiny and historical fate at
this moment, they had to realise that overseas was a bigger
priority. That's asking people to become idezalistic.

Q.
Do you think that this problem exists today alsoc?

A,
Sure it still exists. It always exists, becazuse that's human
nature. The UJA has been growing bigger and bigger and sending
more and more money overseas, but Eiaéfgigrhiso getting more and
more 1ocglly. If you are raising momey, a2 million dollars, in
& PaaDwlas Fr~
-Sag_znancisno and you kggp fifty percent of this, you have five
hundred thousend a1al, WEz Ho adh *@silk turee million
dollars and you keep only twenty percent of it, you have six
hundred thousand.?

Q.
You gain?

A,
You gain. So I always tried to convigFe them that the percentage
was not important but to raise theh:ga;pgtgn. If they raised the
campaign, they can have a little bit more money and we will have
a lot more money. All of their needs ;;ig still be taken care
of. That's what happened, When I first came, the local communities
of America were getting forty, fifty million dollars, b!sach hakel.
Today, I think they are spending a hundred and fifty milliom
dollars. They have three times as much money to play with and
they don't have to Spend.§5$ on health care becsuse :&iﬁfhis is

taken care of now in the United States, Beczuse the Government
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does this, their needs have gone down and they have more mecney.
I keep trying to tell them to spend 1t on education.

Q.
Their needs have changed?

A,
They have changed, but they still have more money. They benefit.
We finally won the battle of the percentages after meny, many years --
ten, fifteen years of fighting.

Q.
That'!s one kind of meeting. You told us of amother kind of meeting,

A,
Another kind of meeting is called a fund raising meeting., A group
of people are invited to come listen to a speech and stand up
publicly and make their contributionms.

Q.

Before you proceed -- I never understcod the motivation of these
people, coming to a2 fund raising meeting, knowing in advance that
they are obliged to give money. Why would they come?

A,
To give money.

Q.
Can't they give money without the meeting? Do they g=t a certain
kind of orestige, coming to this meeting?

A,
No.

Q.
What is the reason for these people coming to a fund raising
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meeting, listening to a2 long sveech, sometimes a good speech,

sometimes... P o
4 e
e .
A terrib_le speech. P
Qep”
i

ese 2 terrible speech? They could have dome something much more
interesting and sent a ghé;k. Why do these pecple come to the
fgzd/faising campaign‘gﬁetings?

A,
It is because of the pressure which is put upon them to come,
because the people who are runming the campaign know, as does
the contributor, that if they come to the meeting, they will
give more money. Both sides know it. If I am the chairman of
the meeting and I call you up and I say, Chaim, we're having
the Big Gift's meeting for ten thousand dollars and over on
January 21st and the speaker is Shimon Peres. I want you to
come to the meeting. And Chaim says, what do I have to come to
the meeting for? How much did I give last year? Sometimes he
doesn't even remember. S0 you say, you gave twenty five thousand.
He might say, I can't do it again, I had a bad year. It was a
terrible year, business was no good. Or ke mizht say, don't
waste your time and don't waste my time, I'll give you the same.

Qe
In other words, he's saying, let me off the hook?

A,
Right. Both Chaim and I know that if he comes to the meeting,
he will give more, I don't know how much, $<donlt lmew-how-much,



il
R. 7/2

but suppose it's five thousand, or temn thousand, If I have a
hundred "Chaims" in the room, that's a lot of money. It's
half a million dollars and I don't want to lose it, so I'm
putting the pressure on him to come. And he knows, in his
heart, that 1f he comes, he will do better.

Do you remember the book by Roussezau, "A Socizl Contract?”
It's a social contract between Jews, This year I am the chairman
and I'm asking Chaim. In two years Chaim is zoing to be the
chairman and he's going to be asking me.

Q.
So its a prepared game?
A,
It's a game which i3 played among a very small group of people
at the top who are willing to take the responsibility. 1It's
such hard work. _ :

Q.
But it's played to prepared rules?

A, o

Yes, the rules are 211 prepared. The State of Israel «tT] remalin
in existence -« that's rule npumber one., Number two, the State of
Isrzel will s2lways need money. There will always be the last

war to pay for cr the next war to pay for -—— that's rule number
three. There will always be the Jews of Bussiz or the Jews of
Argentina or South Africa -- that's rule number four. Based on
these rules plus the local commmity being in existence ad olam

(rule number five), then you know you are going to have = campaign.

-~
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Q.
But there's a larger framework, isn't there, where the people
agree that they will take the responsibility?
A,
That's what I call a social contract. Within these rules, the
leadership of the communities agree that it has to go on with
this campaign year after year, like paying taxes. Only the chief
tax collector changes. This year you are the chairman, the next
year I am the chairman, Some cormrunities like to hold a chairman
for two or three years and some communities like to change the
chairman every year.
This game is played for biz money among a2 small percentage
of people -- fifteen or twenty percent of the community ralising
aighty:;l::rpercent of the money. It's always this way. So when
you say leadership, even in the biggest city, you're only talking
about a hundred people. In a small city you may be talking about
twenty people and these twenty people hold it for a generation
because they are willing or because they telieve in the cause,
There's a very deep ideology. Sometimes I listen to ggg::—gurﬁ,
ouP-FaRe., in Israe1: b‘l%ﬁe%h%?ampaign over there in America
becsuse what else would they have to do 1f they didn't make the
The wie-guyg aisehn s hatf
campaign? They do it for their own ego, egotism. That'!s all
mpE=y wreng, 1'll tell you something -- if d‘é‘;‘;\ost the
motivatiocn, the love of the people of Israel and the love of
the land of Israzel -- if they lost this and stopped the campaign,
they would have plenty of:;hings to do. I'm not saying it would
be good. They would play golf, They would sperd time with their

children.
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Or theys have other causes?

A,

e
They™N go to work for something., They don't keep this campaign
going with 211 the pressures which they put upon themselves just
because they have nothing else ¢to do with their time, These
guys, dafka are the richest guys in town, the busiest guys with
the least amount of private leisure time for themselves. They
steal the time from the family and from the business to give it
to the campaign.
There'!s no cynicism about this. I am still as fresh as the

first day I went into this business, because this whole thing is

D lezder 22 K, ot
based on idezalism. What does ke get for ¥? Does he get his
plcture in the goyishe newsparer? No, he gets his picture in the
Jewlsh newspaper. So what kind of Kavod (horor) is there? <He-
deoesn't do il fon-thal reason,

Qe
Tell us mere about the second kind of meeting.

A,
At the fund raising meeting you have to try to give a good ex-
planation of what's happening in Israel, what's happening in
Poland, what's happening in Bumania. You have to give them a
good inspiration in ten minutes.
Edlie sel &2 werd
WarburgAWII' a funny story that every time hes ever geme to
e
a meeting, the longer distance he flew to get to the meeting, fhe

e £\ies
shorter time they would give him to speak. GHe fIew from New York
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to Galifornia,nthree thousand miles in each direction, and-me gots
Y] LIGA T

off the planeiand swey say!, Mr. Warburg we're so happy you're here.
You made this meeting a success., When everybody heard you were
coming, they said theylziii come to the meeting. We have the best
attendance ever because of you. Now do us a favor and speak for
ten minutes., People will be hungry and others want to dance after
the meeting or they want to go home early, whatever.,

S0, you're a good soldier and you have to do it in ten minutes.
It's unbelievable -- you have to warm them up, be friendly, give
the impression that you are the ambassador coming from that big
world oversezs, so you are expert, you know the subject tetter

than they do. You have to give them inspiration, and bring them
to their feet cheering when you're finished.

Q.
In ten minutes?
A,
o bﬁht;.
. Then the chairman stands up and says, ladies and

gentlemen, you heard what ir., Friedmsn said and now we are going
to call the names,

Qe
Card calling?

A,
Jack, let me hear from you. Jack where are you? Jack is sitting
here, or maybe there are two Jacks in the room, so two hands go up.
I'm here, Okay, Jack you gave twenty five thousand last year.

This year, How much? That's good card calling.
Sometimes the chairman is afraid to do it that way and he says
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shie
Jack, how much would you like to give? EHe dcesn't sey how much
Cogd-sailipg Erae | .1’0 -’y

ge gave last year. That's soft, not hard. Aa.-ways befcre the

meetins, o wewsd take the chairman aside and ask to see the cards.
s

I would start to go through the cards and 3= ask how ke was

e
going to call the cards, was he going to -g-“ﬁe last year's amount?

T would a8k Aim Vo cecousider = weuld try te uf“-—'
If he sz2id no, that's toco rough, ld say let me-eomil, Ibd_say

Tret™ ‘o gl q::t' leten pnibi\of el < he ol ke e8¢ do T
oither yeu calld the cards the right way x

vibhgwl beaos
the right way, ne=es—mind rough. m-—ne-b—reugh. Scmetimes I could
|\‘~§~Sr tM (s I"rv
persuade bhe-nr sometimes not. In the south, ), everything t:’ very,

very gentlamanly, im—New—Srie=n¥ and in LoOULisI=r=s
Q.
-&nd._ﬂashxuie?
A,
+esin Tennessee and Virzinia you-have—to be—agenbtISEan. o0

o pmd
cannot be_pgugh, “They don't like any card calling and they don't
'M,l.k.m—aqg ”.ﬁl‘- [ 9
have any cards. FeeFeeey, you heard the speech, you heard what
Mr. Prisdman sald and now I think it would be very nice if some
of our wonderful gentlemen would stand up and say something.
Silence. Nothing. That's terrible you know.

Q.
You mean they hadn't planked anybody?

Al

Sudh & wqyranuns *7’
No, you don't plang in $he—sewdh., It's not gentlemanly, I used

Chaaem rly st ¥ Lo
to try to teach %hem that this 1is not a gentleman-business, E%-'—s

a tet Y gedtiencin e
highwayman. You have to come and point a sm L}\‘”‘f\rq_

to get sbartad.
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Wy YLaAS &g e
After e—-}hhe-l developed an instinct £or which speakers

could change the. minds of people. I developed a rulie that
some speakers ape_swhat—T—eatted five percenty and some—are—the
2 /
se5T il Jri- srdcineed
}gég- starz, ten percentus. They could change the,results of the

vape A e
meeting 'byP:Ee percent, I—i-f;:-suy gave twenty five thousand last

wld '“hu".
year éad—he comeg to the meeting Re-seiidwant to give the same
T siealan (ot
twenty five thousand. If yed.cam change his mind by ten percent,

ha kot B g
two thousand five hundred dollars, peu—ess very zood. There were »-17
s peadf
a Tew g‘éo;_;le who were ten percenters, afaw—eeopl—TIVE_EICInteTS.

The third kind of meeting would be a mass-meeting, not for

railsing money, but for ﬁti_m_g

Q.
Creating a mood?

A,
Yes, This is where you begin to build up weeks andi weeks in
advance with publicity, in the newspapers, advertisements, for
a mass meeting in the town hall. You are looking for a thousand
or two thousand people to try to get them to know that the
campaign mirto start and they have to volunteer. Maybe you put

Caxd aesting Pl
a small £foem on 2very seat tn—n%m to sizn up as

Him d w\“ﬁ"‘?
& volunteersto work in the campaign. This 1.5‘t to warm Shea up, e, o
wARY ont-hewa i P
For this youhhave to make a speech,ofwene and a kelfiTours.
Qe
But a good speech.
A,

spill 5‘.nJ:'w;...
A good one, and 1t has to be really old-fashioned good{ioratorfv.
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Qe
Like Abba Hillel Silver?
A,
\ite
WShmaryaru Ievin or Stephen Wise, We don't have many people 1like
that.
Qe
aNL
Do weﬂ people in the United States today who are able to glve
thatﬁ'gpkeecn?
A,

No, we do not. There isn't one person in America who can speak

like Abba Eban or who can speak like the old ones we mentioned.

I used to be able to. I hawvn't done it now for many 7ea For
L s & '\Lt."ﬁ - SRR S
example, ‘San Francisco wae a very assimilated tc*m. I went there

Q@ with Vice President Mr, Alban Barkley.
Q.
I think he was Trumsn's Vice President.
A,
e
Bight. We went to speak at a public meeting in the Opera House
in San Francisco.

Q.

Be was an o0ld man, Barkley,
A,
An 014 man., I liked him, he was 2 good old man.
Q.
As a Senator, he deglt with black market business,
A,
Yes, dealt with illegal war operations, Fe—sget THarried very late~
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%mmmmemptmm. ~He_
peetihrr~Sonishi—a—hnard-one, The chairmanha;;;ﬂfrom Hellywood, T~ 5"‘-4--\ S
Eddie Cantor. Barkley had come from Washinzton and I came from

Denver, Colorado. There had been big publicity in the newspapers.

There was no television yet. Taree thousand peopls were in the

nall and Eddie Cantor started. Ee was the chairman., He made Jjokes

and he was getting them warmed up. Barklsey was next and he spoke

. about now the brave young democracy of Palestine must be supported.

:}F,._,.’t-'l .‘. 77 Whin W o oefodd Lt ank #iR
B e S “e—wepe-a33 finished amd I said, Fa tired, sad—Flm—soing—
b of compty M o Mo hael zod
T WA Y cack-fo-blre—nesel, Let's go back e get a sandwich, Barkley
gt atl= "'I r
;‘?4 ). sald no, I have a plane at twelve o'clock midnight to go back
- .“‘!-
.uh;\ r!""’ to Washington. I said, you're crazy, at your age! He was maybe
TR
ol Hn-hﬁ ST AL Saan s ~‘..£~w:mw“
: seventy-five, and I was about thirty years old., He ‘szid.the = ° cada

trouble with you young men is you don't understand what it means
to have breakfast with a pretty girl and I'm going back to have
breakfast with my wife,

When you hzve characters like these, real personalities &% i‘“-] hare
an T o fan ol e fre. “““" fay anr Sasing
3 the crowd and they feel . We n't have many
pecople today with snnlch charisma. Thst was the third kind of a

e mcod-Se " b i Cakechas
meeting and those were the three ;ﬁngs“ géed }E’o do.
cuttsom ) schiv b
The fourth thing-‘was to fly someplace, maybe a thousand miles,
PARS
to see one A%, to sit in the office and argue with him, Maybe
weuld Cendd
he™y] only give me a hzlf-hour or maybe I <a=m hold him for three
S

hours -- while I %@ arguing with him face to face about his ome swn
personal contribution. It hsa nothing to do with budgeting, just

Rries

how much I needesfrom Feu.
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Q.
This was before you became vice chairman?

A,
Oh, sure. These were all things that I did. I 4idn't know any-
thing about the administration of a big organization. I learned
that later. All of this brings me up to the point where I
entered the joh. Now you have the whole background.

j} -

During those seven yedrs,did you find resistance in terms of the
whole process of everyone agreeing to play the game, to be
responsible for fellow Jews?

A,
I buillt the agreement. That's like Herzl saying in Basle Foday,
I built the Jewish Stat;, But it's easier for me to say because
I'm looking backwards. He was looking forward. I look back now
and I know without any doubt whatscever that in all those years
of fighting, what I was doing was not jusgum%?cthe
moment, but I was building an ideology, so next year when I came
back to the same man or to the szme community, maybe I wouldn't
have to fight over the same thing. I was bullding up an ideology
based on a few simple ideas. I'm not a complicated nerson and * &
don't have complicated ideas. 'gb;;:;;ﬂ%;;ch simple thtngs
peepde achdut ha'am, the unity of the Jewish people.

Q.
Trat's the center?
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A,

I st to ol peiser ~

The unity of the Jewish people, = you are responsible. Don't
try to tell me you are not responsible. You nave only one way
that you can gxx rid yoursslf of your responsibility, aside from
dying. You can say you are not a Jew, and the minute that you
tell me you are not a Jew, you are finished, and I excuse you.
You want to tell me you're not a Jew? Say if to me. I want to
hear 1t, get the words out. Teemryou are—challermEingz scmebedy.
Tell me you don't give a damn about the Jewish pecple beczuse
you're not one of us, say it. Nobody ever said it to me, not once,
never. I must have confronted about ten thousand people with this
challenge., I said, you have an easy way out, tell me you are a
Protestant or an Episcopalian, a Unitarian. Tell me you are a
Catholic, anything.

I taught them the unity of the Jewish people, the respconsi-
bility of one Jew for every other Jew. I taught them the cen-
trality of Isrzel as the salvation for the wheol2 Jewish people.

Q.
Was it so clear to these people?

A,
No, 1t was not so clear to them, it was clear to me. Treyx—Lousht
ae—-year—afser-yoar, Slowly but surely I won., Today if you stand
up and say these things, it's like a cliché. Nobody fizhts you
anymore cn these things, but about a quarter of a century ago, it

was different.

Q.
They fight the centrality, not the unity?



N
B. 7/2

A.
That's really a fight on semantics, because today they don't
want to make aliyah, that's all.

Qe
It's a protection of position?

A,
This was the most interesting intellectual challenge of the whols
quarter of a century of fizhting, because I was fighting to get
ideas across, and you get 1deas across in a way that they will
become operational only in a fighting situation not in a2 textbook
situation. 1If you try to teach these things to people in an
academic setting, it's very intellectual, but it's not a challenge.
If you are fizhting with a guy face to face about what kind of
men he 1s, what kind of Jew he 1s, how he 1s acting towards his
fellow Jews -- that's a challenge , full of heat, passion, argument
and friction. That creates movement. The only way the car goes
is when it!'s got friction on the road.

Q.
But tell me, please, who organized you and convinced you to do
the Job that whole time. You were a rabbl from Denver, Was it

Montor?

No.

Q.
Was it Schwartz? Or your own initistive?
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o hen I Heagar
It was me, myself. It was what happened to me, through the years,
in the Bgﬁicha, in Germany. It changed me and I made the rig
decision, thank zoodness, to become a civil servant. I was in
the position, the rabbi of Denver, Coloradc and this was my plat-
form., I went through a certaln experience in my personal 1ife
and after this, I didn't need any more motivation. Nobody had to

tell me. I didn't need any more hasbarah or inspiration.

I have it all inside, It's burning nere and I have the stories

to tell. I know the Hitler period, I read, I saw, I smelled, I
touched. That's authentiec., I came back as a volunteer., I had my
job, but I didn't stay home in Denver to make a bar mitzvah, a

e
wedding and to go visit Mrs, Cohen in the hospital. I left every-

- -

S wrnls % gt T, T — s

thing, oy Job, my family, my orgamization znd I eeme-to—reu—ebeut

X wing

.aour responsibility toward other Jews. I = burning and 1t=a very
genuine, I was self-motivated for 211 these years. The office
in New York used to push a button, that's all, *; felliy e wiie £ g0.

Q.
Who used to contact you 211 the time?

A,

o e Mbiowsd VIR josdiss s

There was a man Who was the director of the Spezkers' Burszu of

G n"“}:-
which I was chairman. I'wasithe whole bloody Speakers! Bureau

in the beginning,
Q.
This was really my question. How many peopls of your kind

et

~
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participated in this kind of activity? One man can do it. Tou
can also brinz somebody from Israel to do it another way. Tou
can bring Agg;; Kovner. Another question -- it could be a one-
man Job but couldn!t you transfer this kind of activity in a
pattern? When you became the vice president of the UJA couldn't
you try to find another ten Friedmans?

A,
No, we didn't have another ten Friedmans, but we had an interesting

situation. You talk about a_pattern; there wasiz‘airector in the
office, Arthur éﬁgﬂggg;, a nice man., He was a good clerk, like a
booking agent.

Q.
He was the director of the Speaker's Bureau?

A,
Right, I was the lay leader chairman of the Speaker's Bureau.
Once every year we had a meeting of the Speaker's Bureau. The
Bureau had to grow and there had to be more speakers brought in.
We found people. We found aUZ;;f; Gerda Klein from Buffalo, New
York. She was good. We found a man, Zwi Kolitz, who used bo
live in Isrzel. He lives in New York now and was a playwright
or a play director. FEe made a mo¥ie, "Hill 24 Doesn't Arswer."

We found, We began to mobilize people in America, local

people. We began to bring in some people from the Israel Embassy,
the Consulate., It was all very primitive in the begimning. We
found people who worked in 3echesh with Teddy in EHotel 14 in
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New York. Every year we had a meeting of the Speaker!s Bureau
and every year I was the chairman of the Bureau, I tried to gilve
them all of the inspiration, the technique, how I was learming
to work, because I was practicinz. I was learning all of these
nuances as I was goinzg along.
I tried to develop a pattern so we would have a larger number
of people, a bigzer force. Today the director of the Speaker's
Bureau 1s AlRRAchiES CEtE b Rl d B NS BB, today, you'll
£ind s4x pages of available speakers, a hundred and fifty names,p-iefs -

That 1list is the result of years and years of building,

Q.
Every one of these pecple went his own way?
A,
Sure.
Q.
What about the patterm?
A,

You cannot put words into somebody else's mouth.

Q.
You were not carbon copylng the patterm but creating a patterm?
That means that each of these men had to be original and go his
own way. The pattern is the vehicle of the Spezker's Bureau ard
the vision?

A,
No, the vehicle is only a vehicle -- how to move people, to give
them their assignments, material, the facts that they need, but



= b5
BR. 7/2.

everybody has to be free, a creative agent on his own, with his

own sense of vision, speaking his own words in his own way. I

used to write a model speech every year. I would give everybody

the model speech and then say, tear it up, because if you try to give
my speech you'll fail., But If I try to give your speech, I will
fall. Sco they understood 1it.

B. 3/1
It was 1955 when I began the job, I started to read my files
to refresh my memory, but I didn't have =z chance to read them all.
Here's an acceptance speech I made at the National Conference in
Washington in June 1955. That was ten years after the liberation
of the war. Mr, Eisenhower was the president of the United States.
We had a2 meeting in Washington,D.C. Eiserhower didn't come to the
meeting in the hotel but we went with a delegation to the White
Eouse to see him and he accepted a plague from the UJA
Q.
Who participated in the delegation?
A,
Oh, I don't remember. I know Rosenwald did, because he was the
General Chairman,
Q.
3111 Rosenwald?
A,
Yes. Bill Rosenwald, and myself. I have a photograph in my album.

et thet duyy e
If I looked at it I would see who was in the White House, I took

LFeows Te Rowman esdl
an old oil lamp ﬁaaep#h-=ansgépe===&-azﬁ put it under a glass Jar
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and gave it to Elsenhower. I made a speech and I said that this
Tittle piece of clay can te broken so easily, but it's two
thousand years old., It comes from the Eoly Land. He was very
touched. I ssid it's like the Jewish people; we are so easily
broken , but we're not broken, we're still here, I thanked him
for what he did for the peace and the war. I said that the war
has been cover for ten years now - and now we are going to build
up Israzel.

He made a very nice speech, which we taped and played at
the meeting in the hotel, in which he told people that he thought
it was important to build up Isrzel, He remembered all the
refugees 1n the camps in CGermany znd he told a story about going
through a camp near Munich, EHe didn't remember the name, but I
did, Feldafaﬁax He had his Chief of Staff with him, CGeneral
Walter Besdie Smith who later became Assistant Secretary of State.
Eisenhower dame through the camp amd turmed to Beedie Smith and
said to him,'fhis place is terrible., Eow eenld people live in a
place like this? Bet brooms, mops, soap and water and clean this
place up:

It was a very primitive way of expressing sympathy for these
people. Ee could only see on the surface level that he had to
help them somehow to improve the way they were living, Eitler
was finished, but still they had to sit in these camps for many
years because nobody could see any political future, If there
would be a Palestine, it wouldn't be an independent state. It
was completely up in the air, Ben-Gurion hzd faith that there
would be a state and other people had faith, but faith is Just

one Ikixx element. General Eiserhower ordering brooms and mops,
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whs
t5ls rezlly funny. He remembered that ten years later.

After the visit with the president, we went back to the hotel
and had a big meeting. General Clay was at the meeting, alsc
General Eull and General White. They were 211 commanders in
Eurcpe ten yeers earlier, who were familiar with the displaced
persons' problem, We made the meeting a tenth ammiversary cele-
tration of the war and it was also the occasion of my being
installed in office. We also had é?gggg;rg and g;;:;ésns, the
two D.P.'s who were the leaders of the camps ten yesars earlier.
Wwe had 2all the Jewish advisors, Rabbi Bermstein, Bill Haber, Judge
Leventhal arnd all the e&ggguysf

I was Just lookinz at the speech that I made on that occasion
in June 1955 and it's very interesting, because my mind was already
on the whole business of the Jews of Morocco and I spent a long
time in the speech tslling‘iiéirggbut that. There was a large
group walting to be resettled from the mountzins of the Szhara
to the Mountains of Judea. I think of them not in terms of a
quarter of a million Jews of Moroccco, no one can understand that.
I think in terms of the people of the villages of Lachish. In
1955 we had Just started Lachish, so this was on my mind. Eshkol
had planned 1t and started it that year. Think in thke terms of
the people in the village of Lachish, eighty houses, arguments
as to who should live irn which house, families wanting to be
placed together because they've been separated too long., The
United Jewish Appeal has had z record of standing at historic
moments and assuming historic tasks, It was a task that no one

asked for, but a task which undeniably existed that year.,
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Next was the task of French North Africa. These people came
from all over the vastness of the Atlas Mountains, from the Cassa-
blanca mellah, They came because there was an urge, on their part,
to be resettled. We didn't want to show any lack of confidence
in the French, who governed the country, but you know how quickly
the French were going to be cut. I think they were already out in
the same year. There was no pogrem, but there was insecurity,
economic fear, Scon there actually were pogroms, Then I talked
about the kind of Isrzel that we ggg% to build, onaugﬁgg;égg}?ggﬁld
go Lo, -

Right at the beginning I talked about how wg:ﬁéve a long-
range plan, that Israeliﬁégﬁsghaégénd upon & sporadic or erratic
response from us. If the problems ;53 continuous, our response
must be contimious. It is the height of immaturity, of irre-
sponsibllity, to make onme or two gigantic spurts of response at
one or two peak years and then sluff off the jJob undone. This
kind of irresponsibility and immaturity is not worthy of us. If
the WJA's record of seventeen years of service has any meaning
at all, it is that there is within it the seed of seventeen more
years, should they be necessary, and pray God they will not tbe.

I said that the problems of Israel are continuous. There is
no peace, no war, that uncertain, restless, insecure, psycholo-
glcally nervous condition in which a country can be worn down
by attrition. And a supporting people on the side, as we profess

to be, can also be worn down by attrition.
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Qe
Are you sure you are not talking about today?

A,
It was 1955, There was a beautiful custom among medieval rabbis
in Provence, France, to study at lorng tables. When they died,
these very tables were fashioned into their coffins, so that the
tables at which they studied would be the coffinsdAn which they
would be buried. This was their immortality, their resistance
to dsath, I should like to reverse the procedure, I should like us
to make tables to put in the houses for our children of the future,
out of the coffins of the martyred of our past; tables for eating,
for children tc study, for the young men as their workbenches,
The preceding generation went to its coffin and the successive
generation has to go to 1its tables to live, to work and so on.
Here are speech notes made all through 1955.
' Q.
Do you remember if this was the perioed of the Fedayln?(ﬁ"gtff?i’

A, \i:fu!‘\,; '.-i L\'Vl\.a I

Chwt Soamn winte v (50 4
Sure, because the war wes 156, But I decided to concentrate on
N Wlovaccom Thaanth &maum
that., When I say I decided, it was a persornal decision, because
I always believed that you canmnot confuse peopls by telling them
too many things. You have to decide what you want to concentrate

ﬂ"i‘

on and work on the§. I decided in '55, '56 that I have to wemk
2 laan 4o Tt g‘i-*...h"kﬂ % [t

the Jews of America, te—szpletm—to—tihEw ZDout the Jews of

Morocco,
There was a phrase once, "the forgotten million#,’ referring

to the million Jews in North Africa who were totally forgotten
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by the rest of the Jewish world. Ashkenazim in Zurope didn't
understand these million Sephardim in Afr¥ca and Asia and I
felt that from an historic point of view, I had to concentrate
on teaching the Ashkenazi Jews of America about this responsi-
bility to the Sephardic Jews. I know that it was only starting
with Morocco. It was goinz to go from country to country. But
this didn't make any impression on the Jews in America. In 1950,
we had Yemen, Operation Magic Carpat;:égeration Alil Bzba in Iraq
in 1950 and *'51.

It didn't make any impression on them, They didn't raise more
money because of it, they raised less money. The money kept
going down from 1948 on. We weren't getting across with this
gtory of the Sephardi Jews and I felt that it's got to come across

to them. There was a very dramatic 5§££g-whan the Prench went
& Dnvece, T S2Te ratmared, craged

out amd the Istiq}al,?arty came in, pogromaﬂ I tried again to
get across to the Jews of America that this 13 a major historic
problen,

Q.
You really had the impression that it would be more impertant,
mere successful to tell the story of what was going on with the
Jews in Morocco than to tell the story of what was going on with
the Jews in Isrzel at the same time?

A,
It wasn't a question of more successful. I never look at it from
the pointd of view of what is more successful at the moment,
because that's always like locking for a gimmick and I'm not that
way. I didn't run the UJA that way. What I tried to look for
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were historic trends?and to teach %ha; what I knew they had to

learn in order to give long-time support -- never Jjust quick,
immediate support. I decided that at that moment I had to devote
attention to this problam.

I telieve that from a long-term point of view, the most im-
portant problem that I had to dbring to the awareness of the Jews
of America was the security of Isrzel, that we are in a war which
is going to be a hundred years war. I z2lways tauzht them what I
bellieve and if they didn't want to accept it, they didn't have to.
But I had the responsibility to be a teachner and to try to interpret
history for them -- at least that's how I 45$3$§$3£ed my respon-
sibility. Nobody told me what my respomsibility 8, so I decided
for myself,

Q.
This really was a fact? Nobody in the frzmework of the UJA
decided what should be told to the Jewish community?

A,
No.

Q.
You, yourself, decided about that?

A.
Yes, that's right, sir. There were no discussions, meetings held
with the cabinet or the execﬁzziva committee or any official body
of the UJA defining the major historic problem or what our thrust
will 2., There were some meetings in which, from a purely prag-

matic point of view, some of the 1lay leaders would ask about the
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slogzan for next year. Theym:;; looking for slogans to put on the
stationery or on some big bammer in the banquet hall, such as
"JE ARZ ONE." 1If the slogan can be also coordinated with the
historic thrust, "Am Echad®, that's very good.

Qe
You didn't decide togetheragggg a certain kind of information policy?

A,
No.

Qe
What about a policy, how to explain, how to convince people to
give money?

A,
No, no.

Q.
You yourself decided about 1t?

A,

De ldy leadens

It was my initiative and I used to come to tkem and say, I think
we should do this and this, Mr, Warburg, or I think we should do
this and this, Mr. Rosenwald., As the UJA grew and we got to be
more formal, then we would have an executive committee that met
once in a while, a few times a year. I would go to the executive
committee and say, here 1is what is happening., Eere 1s the line
of the speeches that I am making and that we should all maks, I

Some § At'__o((,.‘?.‘_- g,

would suggest the lire, There would be some discussion, bus—mever

very sapious, They accepted it.
I think that it's always this way when the person sitting as

aecefiT

a leader gives a lead, people are very happy to heﬁe the lead,
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If you don't give them a lead they don't have it, so there's za
lot of fumbling around. I was always a ¥ery strong person and
alwayq_came in with my own opinion. I sometimes had arguments
and $i§§2§’witn other people, but most of the time nobody
challenges a leader. That's a fact of 1life,

Q.
You didn't discuss your policy with Israell leaders cominz to the
United States? With Eshkol?

A.
No, no. I can't recall any discussions with Israelil leaders on
the policiss of the UJA approach.

Q.
Hasbara? In English we don't have a word for hasbara. It's not
really information. And it's not propaganda. Educaticnal
information?

A,
That's why I use the word approach, policy line, medinjut. No I
didn't discuss with Eshkol or with Dov Joseph or anybody whether
in 1955 we should ma2ke a line of policy on Moroccan Jews.

Q.
This was your cwn initiatve, your own idea and your own way?

A.
Yes.

Q.
You felt that this was part of an historic continuum of the whole
question of Israel security, dependent on z wider vision?

A,

No, no, security and immigration are two separate things, What I
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started to say before was that I believed, always have believed,
that the security of Israel is the number one question. I believe
that this security will take us a hundred years to achieve, I
think we have ten wars to fizht. It's not unimowm in history
that there was a hundred years war, I cnce remember a conversation
with Ben-Gurion in which he told me that the war began in 1871
in Mikeeh Isreel. The first casualty was one of the agricultural
s;udents, children who came with Carl Netter. Ee was shot by 2
Bedouin. SO the war began in 1671. We Nome-tadisbemt—ith B,G, w¢ oo
in 1972488, a year or fwo before he died, se—it—was abeut—sne
hundred-—yeers., He said, we're in a hundred years war. I quite
agree. I used to teach that and say that 211 the time.

To give you a very interesting point; the Six Day War was
in June 1967. There was a meeting of the Council of Federations
and Welfare Funds in Cleveland, Ohic in September 1967 I stood
up and said that we will be at war again tefore t-he summem? m-vﬁ:l- e
should have heard the screaming and shouting in the room. Friedman
is a warmonger. Friedman 1s a sensaticnalist, looking for any
excuse to raise another few million dollsrs, it's disgusting.

Q.
The war of attrition actually began half a year later.
A,

Exactly. I said that we would be at war again before the summer
of '68, and we were, Then everybody bezgan to say, my God he is
not a warmonger, he is really a prophet. That was a very, very
interesting reaction all through America. I insisted taet in
that speech, in September 1967:%§;e UJA should retain gg'emargency
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fund for the campaign year 1968, because in 1968 we! iﬂ going to

be bsck at war again. I wanted an emergency fund during 1968
akd I didn't want to have some meeting in the middle of the year
to decide about it. That would have meant losing hz2lf z year.
So we got it. This again is an example of pushing the policies.
Qe
You irnitiated this idea?
A,
That's correct, and the exscutive board went along with it. For
1968 the campalgn year, we had an emergency fund. Keren Hayesod
in Jeruszlem made an cpposite decision for the rest of the world
in 1968, to cancel the emergency fund of 1967. They said 1968
is a year of peace, so how can you ask the Jews to have an
emergency fund for mer? The Keren Hayesod lost z fortune in 1568.
The UJA also made less money in '68 than '67, but still not so much
less money. The question-ig'how to prevent the deterioration. I
ve you that story to indicate two things. OCne, concentrating

always on the mestter of war and peace as the main theme eternal,
unchanging. The second reason was te show you that I tried to
make up the policles as I went along, according to the way I saw
them., Nobody in Isrzel agreed that this should be the volicy
for 1968. In Isrzel they decided exactly the opvosite.

However, having s2id this about war and peace always being the
main theme of my teaching, I think that in between there have to
be shifts and changes to other subjects of historic importance,

Trhat's why I was concentrating on the Moroccoan Jews in 1555, !'56.
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I—forgeb—which—-rear-oxactily. One year I decided that the theme
had to be concentrated on the develcpment towns and I commissicned
the writing of a small bock called "21 Towns," a beautiful little
book,

Qe
Where is 1t?

A, !
I have no idea. I suppose 1it's ocut of print or lost. I don't
even have any copies of 1t, It shows ycu how important stories
are and how sloppy ordinary pecople asre. They lose everything.
Harry Bosen over at the Jewish Agency might be able to dig up
a copy. I tried to show the Jews of America that in Isrsel there
was an idea about building development towns, that the idea was
not going very well. Not much monsy had been invested in it and
more money had to be invested. This was exactly the right kind
of thing for UJA money to go into. We had to raise much more
money and pour it into the development towns to close the social
gap. We're still talking about that gap now, fifteen years later.

Q.
This was an absorption of the Moroccan Jews?

A.

Cortn| (e TS

Exactly. After I succeeded in getting across the idea that Feu
have responsibility for the Jews of Morocco, =z few years later I
felt I g:ie to ;how #ﬁ;;‘§33 these poor people 5;3 living in
these bloody towns, to bring up the level of comscilousness to

~
the fact that these towns Eée'without adequate firancial backings.

There are always two sides when you brought up such a policy question.
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One is a challege to the Jews of America to give more money for
T?%T*AEE“¥E§'§¥£er is a challenge to the Jewish Agency and to the
establishment ;;22Jto spend more money on1;%:h;;3tew&-e$—aat£ng
~$ibbutzim,

Qe
This i1s a very, very important question. At the time you committed
yourself in the United g&tes to a certain problem, could you be
sure that the Jewish Agency here would spend the money raised in
the United States for the same purposse.

A,
No, of course not. You're kiddingsr There was always a terrible
fiznt.

Q.
And people would later be asking, saying, you convinced me last
year to spend morey for a certain kirnd of project and what happensd
to the money. Was the money not spent?

A,

No, that's a different question., That's looking for corruption.

Qe
Not for corruption.

A,
For effectiverness, And the answer always was no::éhey didn't do
anytRidz we wantsd them to do, but we pushed it a little bit

further. We made some progress with them. That's the answer,
The money you gave for this purpose didn't go to waste and nobody
stole 1t, Instead of being spent so much in the development towns
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the government decided it had to open up three more kibbutzim,
mosnavim or Nacazl units, or the zovermment decided that it wvyould
pay more morey in Rumania.

This was the question at that voint, bacause the business of
Bumania was coming up in 1959. wWe had to pay heavy ransom and
should more money be paid. JIFfevses—the—price-ncwy;—but the Bumanians
ralsed the price from a hundred dollars a head to five hundred
dollars a2 head., I'm not sure of the pumbers, but it was a very big
raise, I remember long discussions with Shragal and tha-%ﬁ? from
the underzro#hni, Sen—end Shaikgrgiout snould we nay or snouldn't
we pay? Iy ﬁ:ﬂi:} aldays was, pay. I had étb biz argument on the

v Q_n.v‘* \‘1‘

Bussian question, waaqiar*?i-er—i9?0. W#hen the first question of
the Bussian zaliyanh came up, 2%:;“653*;”;g1ca forAkadg im, so many
years of study, they insisted that 3ou pay.

Qe
You paid?

A,
I s2id pay, pay gladly, pay happily and pay very quickly, snd I
had a terribls fight with Rivlin.

Q.

That's Mecshe RBRivlin?

A,
With Moshs Rivlin, and Louis Pincus, They said to me, this is a
orinciple. We will not allow ourselves to be blackmailed., I said,
I don't believs in principles, I'm pragratic, I believs we have

only one RBussian Jewry, only ome in the whole world. I would like
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to have them and I am willing to pay for them, I think if we pay
we will overcome a2ll ths political prodlems of getting them out.
Money speaks louder than anything., They argued with me. Then
they came to me later and said, see, the Russians retreated and
they took off this special tax for academics to pay back twenty
thousand rubles, or whatever, for their education. Pincus and
Bivlin said, we were right, I sald, we'll see. Now, only a few
years later, only three, four years later, we lost the Bussian
immizration and I believe that I was right.

I believe that if we had paild and started a precedent to pay,
very big money, bhet ﬂﬂﬁbﬂrfg;;, the Jews of America would zive
the money for this ransom and nﬁﬁﬁas-twc, the Russian government
would permit Jews to flow and flow and flov, Even if it camé?%
Yom Kippur War, it wouldn't make any 4difference. The BRussian
Government would comtimue to take the money and get rid of the
problem in a fixed periocd of time, ten years, twenty years and
everybody who ww to come out, would come out. So we spent a
few million odd dollars. WHo knows if they are right or if I am
right? I think I am right., Maybe they still think they are right,
I don't know., I give it to you as an example.

To go back to Rumznia, I was pushing the Jews in America to
think about the development towns and they ;;:'aakiﬁg me was the
money really spent for the development towns? I said yes, most
of 1t or some of 1t, but meaybe some had to be diverted. Now we
started to pay ransom in Bumania, 2lso perfectly acceptable.

el .
There was never really any complaints that some historic issue

which I was pushing as a matter of policy, perhaps didn't reach
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one hundred percent effectiveness. With fifty percsnt effectiveness
you pushed the program forward.

I think today, now that fifteen years have gone by, it gegg a
little bit harder to explain why the condition in the development
towns is still so bad, but at that time 4% didn't face that
problem. If I wanted to bring the issue up again, I would face
that problem, no question about it. I think the Jewish Agency
would not have much of an answer, because I think by now the Jewish
Agency should have put these develcpment towns on the map economi-
cally together with the govermment. I think it's been largely a
policy of neglect and of not paying attention, a policy of
priorities. Where are the priorities? It's always very easy to
say that the development towns are doirg okay and will continue,

Q.
The question is not only where the money was spent in the develop-
ment towns, but I also want to know how tke money was spent in the
develorment towns. You can invest 1% or tuild something or you
can give 1t support. I want to ask you another question. There
was the problem of how much American Jewry should really inter-
mingle itself and try to determine how to spend the money. This
was a question through the forties and became a difficult problem
during the fifties, but did you do something in this field in
America in order to get more suppvort to press the Jewish Agency
here to go along with your line?

A,
I didn't do anything to try to press the Jewish Agency to go along,
because of my nature, I'm very pragmatic and when I think that
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something cannot succeed I don't waste time on it. I didn't
think anything would succeed in changing the Jewish Agency, to
take 1ts decision the way American Jews wanted those decisions
made, I still don't think so, even with the whole big apparatus
of the enlarged Jewish Agency, based ==x=e$ly on the principle
that American Jews will take part in the budget making process
and will make their impact felt and give their impressions. I
think it 1s simply symbolic, not rezl., I think the Jewish Agency
does what it wants and I think that the Jewish Agency assembly
at large is a rubber stamp. In the 1960's, you didn't have
machinery like the enlarged Agency and you couldn't influence
Jewish Agency decisions., In the 1970's, you do have the machinery
but you still don't influence Jewish Agency decision.

Q.
Is this dewish Agency dﬂcislon?or Israel-government decisions?

A.
I don't know how to answer that, because The truth of the matter
is I don't really know. I don't know whether Sapir told Pincus
what to do or Pincus told Sapir what he's going to do,

Q.
Who are the executives of the Jewish Agency here, Pincus and Moshe
Bivlin?

A,
There are three people, the chairman, the treasurer znd the

secretary-general. They are the power nucleus.
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Q.
I'm sure they're very influenced by Eshkol ard by Sapir.
A, :
fn Lrimfs, Yoy IO
Of course. The only independence they have is to say no., wWe—widl
allocate one hundred and eight million dollars to the universities
T~ TN B g § Tlecs firs Finfeefs B Thie cda e dat
and ¥ don't care,lip,-Al3en, 4:~;au—wan%—to—aiiut 118, No, =
going to give 108, This is a kind of a "dafka" position because,

after all, what independence does the Jewish Agsncy really have?
The Jewish Agencyhs just a tocol for somebedy else. It deesn't
raise the money and it doesn't really spend the money. It's only
a chanmel. T think the Jewish Agency Bas such a rizid apparatus
of its own #¥¥E‘She gbod_excuse.-zﬂg;;;;nment stay away from this
money because 1t's tax deductible, charitable money and if Feu M s~eoed
touchsit gau—wtil makes it unclean. That'sg the argument that the
Jewish Agency can use against the government in order to orotect
its so-called independence of action. I don't think it's reslly
an important historical question, maybe an important technical
question, but not a historical gquestion,

Q.
You made a film, "FPootsteps in the Desert," about the settling of

Dimona in '55.

BR. 3/2
Q.
I think it was about North Africzn Jews coming out to Dimona

and the problems they were facing in terms of Jobs, etec.
A,
I made twenty films so I don't remember them 21l. I remember the

film, but I don't remember the year. You can take a loock at the
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£41ms I have and see what you don't have, Maybe you can get them
from the UJA. Those films are as valuable as speeches. I'm not
talking about the technical quality of the film. Some of them
are really funny to look at now, I made them in Hollywood., Imagine
making a film in Hollywood about some moshav in the Negev trying
to show about the FPedayin. I made a film in '55 or '56 about the
problem of the Fedayin. I made it on Kibbutz Nachal 0z, I used
a 153 85" that £11a by the name of Uri Madinov, today Dr. Uri
Ma¥incv, the Chief Ecologist of the govermment. A ;ook at this
twenty year old picture can show you the image of what the UJA
was trying to put in the minds of the Jews of America, It's as
good as a speech, or better, It's amasteurish and you can laugh.
Never mind the amateur part. Today, twenty years later, look at
it, put your mind back there and look at 1t with syes of twenty
years ago and you hear voices coming through the night and the
lights coming from the Gaza Strip. It shows a wedding at this
kibbutz and it is interrupted by the Fedayin shooting, so it's
super-dramatic. But 1t brings the message home; our borders are
unsafe and our people in the kibbutzim reed more protecticn.

Q.
BEow did you use it in the UJA?

A.
We showed it at meetings, We made a2 hundred copies and sent
copies to every city in America. You have to warm EQJ;?Ep and

" Lo e sctms & Da actiom,

you have to explain to them, They are far away, Today it's
easlier because they are getting television broadcasts. If there
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is some explosion in Kikar Zion, they see it on television that
evening. Commumication today is instant, but in those days it-
was not. So to try to bring far away problems to their attantion
I had to use films and I used maps and 2all kinds of audio-visual
techniques.

Q.
This had never been done before? Today it's much easier with
Telavision?

A.
During the '67 War I was looking for film material and there was a
é:;} an American jourrelist from Denver, Colorado, who lived here,
Bobert Gamzzy. He's dead now. FHe lived in Arad., I said, Gemzi}&w*v,
I will pay you, go around to the Israell newsreel and get me ten
minutes of black and white footage or as much as you can get and
ship it over here so I can show the people what the hell is
happening, I have a few reels that he bought for me.

Then I began to use vfgo-tape, gﬁ::&iezgi%z&igb-ueka—&t myself,

I would come here with a camera, make a video-tape instantly
and go back with it, Every time an Israell came to America I would
sit him down in my office and putTSﬁ the camera and the sound and
sa;T—gym+1;; ri?élgﬁ:ute;TVkiﬁe technology 1s very good. Thers
4as a laboratory in New Jersey. I could $end a <& of film and
have a hundred copies the next morning. I used to mail out film
every few days to all the communities during the 1967 War, plus

a few months before the war and a few months after, to keep them

up to date, I had my own information service going. So films
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are for your historical archive purpose, like speeches. They are
the spoken word, or_zl history and you shoulén't overlook them.

I'm looking at a sreech I made of a telephone hook-up to all
the fielamen. I told you that I found a biz staff of a mmdred
and fifty, and I appointed a day when they would all sit together
in a fixed place and we would have a conference-call, It's called
a telephone hook up. I couldn't bring them into New York; too
much waste of tixe and too much money. And I couldn't go running
to them so I really 1§§$§E§é-a new use for the telephone.

The New York Telephone Company told me I was doing things with
the telephone which no commercial company was doing. They brought
big, huge equipment 1ntor;§mgff1ca. They had to put on a special
operator. Every man was told to be at a certain telephone number
at a certain time, according to the time zones wherever he was in
America. I would sit In my office and speak into a microphone
and they would listen to 1t on a telephonajnﬁ*“ﬂ“ 59'W*‘-lﬂ i o
g wehwitd SRE © pak Do ef2 s

I said, "fhis 1s Rabbi Friedman spezking, I have been here
in the UJA office just fifteen days. Part of this time was spent
at the Washington Conference, for your efforts on behalf of which
I want to thank you.

Part of the time has been used to meet the staff and personrel
here, And now I have the épportunity to speak with you. You are
the backbore of our organization out in the field." So T went on
and I started to tell them first about the technicalities, where
we §¥;ié in the campalgn sc far, We are zhead by a few percentage

points, but not enough and we are behind on cash, but we made a2 big

loan last year, in 1954, so it's not too bad, but keep going.
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Go get the cash, blah=hlah, efe <.

The allotment is what really counts, as I was telling you
before about the percentage that we are getting from the campaign.
We were still missing official notification of allocations from
eighty five comrmunities for 1954 and when too much time passes
between a2 campaign and an allocation, we lose.

I told them, 1954 may be zone but there's a lot that can be
done for 1955. Argue with the leadership in your communities for
a better UJA a2allotment, whetkher we have a PCB agreement or not
(P82 Pre-Campaign Budgeting Agreement). I always like to have an
agreement before a campaign starts. <Lestlememy—we—wlll ralse a
million-deddars, 1T we raisez-million-dollars; you get so much™

_and we get so much. Thattsarzgzreegent tefores 1t starts, Lhsn

Jou donli have-eny-fights latsp,~—F-ttke—-it -better—that-way:

But whether we have such a pre-campaign agreement or not, you
have to fight in your communities for a better UJA allotment, I
sald. Do what you can to have allocations committees approinted
and send us the names so we can work with them., Set dates for
allotmnt meetings wherever possible. Cur cabinet pecple and our
national chairmen are prepared to work on this with you. Those
are the lay leaders. But you, the professionals, must tell me
where their help is needed, Tell us whom we should put presgsure
on, wnere we have to go., We must know where se stand on
allotment and not be surprised by developments in Octoter, Novamber,
December, when the campaign 1s over and we are given our share,

Then it's too late,
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Qe
They gave jou a reply or they only listened?

A,
Both ways, it depands on what we wanted., If I wanted a two-way
hook up, then I had opén the lire two-ways. ZIf—yousaid °

anly, loak, otheruwisa.they gave-me a one-way hook up when I

™ petan
wanted to talk to tkeam for a2 short time ten, twelve miqptes. I

- : ?"“H‘-ln.—-,
didn't want o go intc a2 big conversation for two hours. They

would give me-%§;.§;g;; by telegram or they would czll me up, 1if
they had the initiative. Always thirty, forty ceople call within
the next three, four or five hours. We kept all the lines open.
I was a man also interested in techrnology. It's very important,
a great tool. I used everything, every technieal tool I could
think of. I used telephores in all imaginative ways. I used
video tape.

Q.
before anybody was using 1t?

A.
Yes. I was the first ore to use closed circuit television on a
large scale gzoing into forty or fifty communities. Do you know
the technology involved in this, to bring in 2 big screen, six
meters by six meters, find a hall to put 1t in, bring in a special
TV cable 1line, have enough seats in the place for one or two
thousand veople? TYou must have one person standing in every hall
with an open telephone line to a central monitor in New York,

A Srmies it Ay (mhoteT

And then you put Mrs., Golda Meir in front of the séresn, We really
developed 1t so well by 1970.
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It was a very dramatic episode in September 1970. Black
September, the civil war in Jordan. Golda lMeir was standing
in New York, in the Hilton Hotel and making a speech on closed
circuit television . There was a live audience in tke room of
two thousand people and an audience in eighty communities all
over America of thirty thousand people., She spoke for forty-five
minutes,

béLt:n:mgm: one hour of cable time. When E bought time on the ot
cable it mesnt I-Rad—Se—imocikoff other television progrgzékg;g;MJW
the cable. It was a very complicated thing to do, so I decided
to buy crne hour, I decided to gamble that she would talk thirty-

five, forty, FIFTY MINUTES, I didn't want to buy thirty minutes
TAE pepres&niT etw
1

and be cut off, so I bought one hour. big money.
Qe

Eow much did such an operation cost?
A,

Oh, I don't remember,

Qe

An approzimation?
A,

It can cost a hundred thousand, two hundred thousand dollars or a
quarter of a million dollars, but you only do it when you have
something you kmow 1s big.

Qe
You do 1t with Golda Meir?
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A,
And not every day even with Golda "eir., Tne War of Attrition
nad Just finished, Afuzust 8, 1970. At last we could breathe.
I'm 2lways afrald wher you zive Jews a chance to breathe, unless
you explain th2 next vroblem to them. When the War of Attrition
came %o an end, I decided to bring Golda herse., I couldn't send
her to every city so I set up the closed circuilt.
I didn't care what it cost beceuse I had to tell them in
Tt im Spife [© fra cage-
September of 1970, ch,—kinderlach, the fight &s still on. Thank
God nobody will be killed for a 1little whils, but if you think
this means the and of the war, you don't know what you'rs talking
about. The war continues - 2nd I wanted her to say it. I+_bu;l*m“mﬁ‘
+ madtma B Anina peigefict ) and 2 ,rcg.w}u“ B ot peta
That nizht was the nizht of the whole business in Jcrden,u-*“iﬁﬁj
,,1,:‘ arivee fre PLO Renste, wivie $Ae waf ""‘"’5
and Kissinser was trying to zet Eér on the talenﬂona, Nixon was
asking her if Isrsel w&%l 30 into Jordan to protect Jordan from
Syria, m sendins tanks south, it Jndaw ot Da Yeun's
C.
The same day?
A,
The same hour. She came awzy from the microohone at about eleven
o'clock at nizht, There was an E1 Al plane supposed to leave at
eizht o'clock, sitting out there in Kennedy airport, and two
hundired veopls walting hour after hour. They didn't know why
they were waitinsz,
The point of =hat story is that those colncidences Jjust

happen. Tkey make 1life interestinzg. <She called Dayan :
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ard Dayan called her back. Then she called Kissinger and she put
dowh certain conditions znd he told Nixon., I don't want to go
into that whole history. If she hadn't put it in her book I won't
put 1t into mine.
Q.
We don't put it in a2 book, we only record it for you. It will
not be used without your permissicn.
A,
Okay, if you really want me to finish that whole story -- the
conditions that she put were very interesting. First of a2ll, she
saild yes, of course Isrzel would help Jcrdan, especlally because
the United States was asking, but she had some conditions. Number
one, if Israel goes in to help Jordan on the ecast ewd ard 1if
Egypt Jumps Israel on her back in the west, America has to help
Israel. Number two, America has to tell the Bussians that Isrzel
boing Amanifel by M U5

to move in to stop Syria and help Jordan. Number three,
America has to send a plane over from the éth Fleet headquarters
in Naples with American officers and large scale maps of Jordan
in case the Israel Air Force has to go in. This plane should
come from Naples headquarters via the Turkish route so the Russian
radar can pick it up and can see that an American plane 1s actually
coming to Israel, as proof to the RBussians that Isrzel isn't
doing this on her own initiative but at America's request.

She gave these conditions to Kissinger and he gave them to
Nixon. She got an answer back in a2bout half an hour - yes to
everything, yes. ©She spoke to Dayan a couple of times and he
told her that there was already an alert on the Golan for two
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brigades. She said she'd come home, znd if he Eﬁ:g; her he would
find her on the plane. When she came home, he was there at the
airport. He told her, no problems.

In the next two days, the Jordanians finished with the
Mechablim, the PLO. When the Syrians saw that there was an
Israeli alert, their tank columm, two hundred tanks, turned and
went back up north. They never did come into Jordan territory.
Everything was all over and everybody was very happy.

Qe
Not everybody.

A,
Everybody except...

Q.
Arafat,

A,

The main point I was making many paragraphs back was about the
use of technology. I remember in 1957, thirteen years earlier,
Golda was Foreign Minister and there wam the whole question of
the withdrawal from the Sinai. She was in the United States, I
had a big, big national meeting in Miami in March 1957 and she
promised to come down. This would have given the big impetus to
the 1957 campaign, which was a2 huge campzign. Weenrwe—iave—eur
wars—in-cetfober—isa—vory—good TOr NeXt year's campalgn because
the—$iming i3 penfeel,

-By-Octobery—owemesr, Sen-Curion had already agreed to withdraw,
four days after the war. The war was over on November 2th:uz3ut

T wimdimal was dalayed )
thea—lL stmeigred-oul and it didn't zctuslly azppen until March,§+s7,
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Zie\e
One of our staff men, Harry Seale, was a tender, soft "old"

bachelor and ggghliked him very much., Hs was good for aer znd
could get her to do anything. He was in New Tork telling Golda;
wlook, what's the difference, you are waiting for a telenhone call
from Ben-Gurion to tell you when to Zo in to the Security Council
and give a date that we are withdrawing. You are sitting by your
telephone in the Essex House Hotel and you won't leave the telephone.
What's the difference? You get on the airplane and in two or three
hours you'_re in Mizmi, 1If 65‘0 calls you and you are in the air,

he will find you in Miami two or three hours later. What's the
difference? You stand in front cf these people and make a speech,
Fifteen minutes doesn't matter. Then you get on a2n airplarne and
come btack. You are not out of contact for so many hours. I will

"He couldn't move her. I was sitting in the

- iR . L. . T e " ‘iad
ballroom of the hotel walting. Lhar fisup ®id we i€ Loin? i o + ha Mhiak
j, LT h“"“ﬂhd- 5

I saids let's see if we can get a closed circuit cable from

go with you. Nothing,

New York to Mizrmi for tomorrow night. You see if you can et her
to go from the hotel over tb the CBS studio, just from 59th Street
to 52nd Street. She'll only te away from a telephone for maybe
seven minutes. She azreed, I had 2% hcurs to arrarze the tech-
nology. In 24 hours the television company build a 150 foot
antenna on top of the Fountainblau Hctel to receive the signal
and built a scresn tdggﬁy meters by tgggay meters inside the
ballroom of the hotel.

Q.

In '57 the technology was not as good as today?



No. -A—semeen—thet—=mEIl would only snow—her—face—asnd-nothing else,
Harry Bﬁgie took her from the Essex House over to the studio. I
had an open telepnone line from the ballroom in Miaml to the studio
in New York. -Fwent—totalk, I talk, ami—if rpot-I don't talk and

B tnn/hy ke
tee—momey 1T go1ng, but I have-an—instant-cormection. It was so
incredible when bhds raeeﬁ'eolaa',"f:‘::é’mf')';"ff’i:nat screen, vl se gebe e T
\ “‘f?hiéﬁ {:kgﬂgc;évival meeting, fantastic. I think we got ten
million dollars right there, on the spot, We ran a special fund
after the war was over. The campaign took a biz jump up and again
the tacﬁnology pald off,

I was always a believer in the use of modern technology,
telephone, video-tape, closed circult television and telex machines,
I had telex machines in every executive director'’s office in every
¢ity in America. I put in a telex network in twenty four hours
during the 8ix Day War, so if I couldn't zet a guy crn the telephonse,
I could talk te him on the telex.

We never had such a network before, linking together all the
cities in America, all the Federations within the control of the
UJA office. I talked to them on the telex and gave them information
about what was happening in Israel, in the war. They answered
me back, asked questions, and told what gifts they were getting in.
I could put 211l the latest news on the telex, what's haprening
now in Baltimore, in San Francisco, in Eartford, Conmecticut,

If a newsflash came in, I'd send it out. That's technology. I

kept a big book of these talk dispatches as a souvenir,
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Q.
Did you consider that this was a way that the UJA really became
the most important leadership orgznization of the American Jewish

communi £y ?
A,
Same—Tamae, Y, I 4w 5w .Y
Q.

Because of the way you gave the information you receivedf%he
leadership. Did you imagine that?

A,
Oh, come cn! That's why I did it. I knew esxactly what I was
doing.

Q.
Are you really sure?

A,
Exactly. One theme during my whole life was the tension between
the communities and the UJA. Whe-ls-the Jeader and who is the

h\u&
fishts., Fisher was always telling me not to fight with them.

Qe
What was Fisheris job at that time?

A,
I think it was in '65. In the middle sixties he was one of the
national chairmen of the UJA end then he became the General
Chairman in g%E Myerhoff finished in '6é4, I think.

Q.

Myerhoff?
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03— :
N o Ire 8t Hdayoede 1

Yes, Joseph Myerhoff from Baltimore., Fisher used to tell me

C o oo el
when he was omdy one of the national chairmen, to stop fighting
with the commumities. I said, Max, look, scmebedy has to be the
boss., If we let them be the boss, they will give us whatever
share of the campaign they want and they will take whatever
direction in the campaign they want., They will make their own
slogans, their own poligies, invite their own speakers and the
whole thing will be Hefker.

: wantedigaqgg the boss. The UJA should corntrol the direction.
The UJA represents the voice of Isrzel in this situation and it
has to fight with the communities about which speakers to take,
what policies to follow and what share to give. Therefore there
was this whole tension, which went on for many, many years,

Q.
.H—L-.crv\w:_u‘-.-.n !
Does that incljude the CJFWF, the rational office oi—She—communiii?

Y{S = Wl el ‘eh: 23 44 ‘4“1“"3‘. m%". hen -~ %( smefmes jz"iuJ wifh f}\.bh-' o wd a,

i f.l.'vl'

> FarIy—wezi—and o L
’ Citmrmmun, =
Powerlegs—ergarizabion.. Sometimes the comrunities, in their
fight with the UJA, would go to the CJF and say, yocu should protect
us against the UJA. You are our "roof" orzanization and the UJA
is trying to push us. So the CJF officers or the executive
director would come and say, you must deal with us. We are the
"roof" organization of zll the communitiles.
Q.

I remember there was one very short period in 1542 when there was

a split in the UJA, and the &JFWF tried to reunite the UJA. They



= P o
R, 5/2

failed, because they were not powerful enough to do this. So
it was a2 "roof" organization, but without any power, without the

possibilify to carry out 2 rezl plan cor a rezl anything. Do you

agree with me?

A,
I agree with you fully. Take a situation such as getting rid of
Montor. This was a revolt that came from inside the communities.
It startsd in one community, in Detroit. The "roof" organization
didn't have anythinz to do with it. The "roof" organization can
help call a meeting together of ten exscutive directors and say
that in Detroit tthey are very upset with Montor, and how do you
feel about it? But we are talking about where the power is. The
power was between the local community, fighting against the
National UJA, two sources of power. The Council of Federations
was not a power center, it was a coordinating body.

Q.
The Council of Federations didn't have the money.

A.
You're saying money is power?

Q.
No, they didn't have money and without money and without dslegation
of power, you can't do anythins.

A,
Correct, 1t was Just an advisory body and a coordinating body.
It had a certain influence in 1942, I think it was the only point

the
in/history of the Council of Federations znd Welfare Funds that
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they had a certain influence. It was because there was a split
in the UJA.

Q.
But in '44 they couldn't do this,

A,
I used to zo through the formalities, under PFisher's pressure, of
consulting with the Council of Federations. Pisher would say,
don't fizght with them. Go to the Council of Federatiocrs quarterly
meeting. Whatever you want to propose, propose it there and give
them a feeling they're your partners in the whole business., Let
them think that you are coming to them for their advice and
consultation. So you'll make them your friends instead of your
enemy. 2e smart, be a diplomat, te a good politician, Fisher
was advising me.

Qe
Wnen did Fisher act as chairman of the Council of Federations and

Welfare Funds?

After he left the UJA.

Q.
Who were tae chairmen of the Council?

A,
I really don't remember, except for the last one or two. I didn't
have too much to do with them, -I-hayen't oot-a-cimes—I-canlt
ReESmMOST,

Q.

It's the best proof they weren't importazt. Do you agrese with me?
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A.
I think so. I remember one name but I don't know which yesar,
a man from Indianapolis, Julius Freeman. There was also a man
from Newark, New Jersey, by nzame of Abeles.

Qe
I wouldn't say that these peopl2 were the leaders of the American
Jewish community.

A,
Oh, no, they were the presidents of the Council. That's all thsy
were, In their own hometowns they were local leadsrs,

2.
That's right it's the president, not the chairman.

A.
You asked me the question whether I realized what I was doing
when I put in a network of telex machines, I certainly did.
It's consistent with my whole life's policy in which I tried to
have the UJA lead, direct and dominate, I knew that the flow of
information is a key factor in determining who is taking the
lead, or who is in fact the leader.

Q.
You mean informatiorn makes formation?

A,
It dces. It creates a2ndi forms social structures. It forms power
relationships.

Q.
I'm not talking only about leadership in fund raising.
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A,
No, I'm talking zenerally, bichlal.

Q.
As you told us during the last meeting, the American Jewish
community, since the beginning of the sixties, d4idn't have big
leaders, charismatic personalitiss. So your organization, the
United Jewish Appeal, became the leading organization instead
of these charismatic personalities., 1Is that right?

A,
I think, in fact that's right. From a political voint of view
I think that maybe Nahum Goldmann and the Presidents' Conference,
which he organized, would not asree, btecause these men think they
are the politicians in Jewish 1life, The president of the Conference
of Presidents thinks that he 1s the leader of American Jewish
organized life.

Q,
The American Jewish Committee doesn't participate in this?

A,
No, it's an observer, a close friend. It follows the line most
of the way, btut 1t will not bte a2 member,

Q.
why not?

A,
I don't knoew. TFor historic reasons. I say that the UJA, its

leaders and 1ts power was the leading Jewish influence in the L//



- 101 -
B. 5/2

organized Jewish commnity; more than the synagogues and more
than the polifical organizations of the Presidents' Confsrence.
They might disagree, but I can only give you my opinion. I think
in terms of results.

Qe
And in setting up the telex machines, you were reco3nizing the
need for a mass education of the American Jewish community.

A,
It was an instrument, a tool that had an educational value to
spread out wider to reach a larger number of people. I finally,
against a lot of cpposition, zot the UJA computerized, The
greatest technology of all was the computerization. I failed,
but what I had in mind to do, was to create a computer bank with
the names, addresses, number of children and other information
about every single Jewish family Ep the United States of America.
Nobody has it. It doesn't exist;tp;;;;éhing on tape. Then we
would know what we have, once and for all, a total census of the
Jewish community, like in the Bible. As I szid, I failed, but
at least I got started. National UJA 414 it. They must have
something like two hundred thousand names of contributors on
their computer.

Then every big community in the country began to computerize,
Many of the small ones became ccmputerized by tying in with the
computer of a bizger town somewhere, Akron, Chio i1s tied in to
Cleveland's computer, I think America is three-Quarters
computerized by now. I failed to do it as a NATIONAL UJA, It's
my fault.
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Qe
It has all the names of the Jews in their community?

A,
Not zll, most contributing Jews.

Qe
You're not talking about the whole population?

A,
No, I wanted the whole population and this is what I failed to
doﬂhﬁat I 414 start was computerizing the contributors every
place. I got most of that zlthough maybe not 211 of it. I went
cne step further and persuaded every local community to computerize.
If I were there, I would finish the job. I would get a tape from
every city in America which made its own system and I would put
them on one master drum and I would finish the Job. A certain
anount of mcney, time, energy, imagination and you can finish it.

Q.
Many people say that computerizing is one of the faults of the
UJA today, that the population involved could be bigger. You
always irvolve the same populaticn.

A.
Not the same, but you involve a small percentage. That!s
criticizing the campaigzn methodology. There are good reasons why
it's very difficult to do. The problem is only in four places,
New York, Philadelphia, Chicago and Los Angeles. Those are four
unique problems by themselvssg.gaeykre not reaching so many
hundreds of thousands of Jews. Los Angeles has about six hundred
thousand Jews and they have fifty five thousand families in the
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computer. Fifty five thousand families
two hundred and twenty thousand people.
Q.
One-third,
A,
The problem is not much better or worse
New York, It depends on how you want to
was, tﬁ me; a finzsl technolegical tool.
Qe

When did you btegin the computer program?

A,

is two hundred thousari,

in Los Angeles than in

say it. The computer

Ask Tabatchmik. He luws exactly, because he was the first man to

study a computer program for the UJA for me., I'll guess at 1965.

If I had stayed longer, I would have carried the computer forward

to its ultimate and tried to make one complete master list of every

Jew in America and then try to figure out how much each one 1is

contributing, so if I wantito push a2 button and get 211l the zerces,

ol
I #4331 get all the zeroces,
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A,

I was always interested in technology as a toocl which could
increase the efficiency of the campaign znd improve 1ts abllity
to work. Sometimes wnen you talk about efficisncy and tools,
you get a feeling of some very ceold machine, I didn't want to
turn the UJA into a cold operatiom but I Just dor't think that
you have to use a pen and a pencil in an age when you have a
computer,

I believe that there are many future technologies which the
UJA should use and I hope they will use them. I used airplanes
and helicopters. I had a project called "Cperation Jet" to get
into smzall communities, where there 2re only one or two Jews,
with a private chartered jJjet plane., I would have them meet =@ us

A & roews T ﬂ"- clir ..-1.T
at the airport and sit inside the plane Wikhoos "and talk Por an

hour, feve—drimkts—im-e—small-—privete—plane. Then you keep going,
You can make five or six towns in one day by this method and we
did it. I once made an inventory of all the leaders of the UJA
who had their own airplanes, who would give us the airplanes for
nothing.
_B,371

I used to have 1ideas which nobody would agree with, but
some day maybe the UJA will carry them cut. One suggestiorn I
made was to take a mission and fly to Moscow, stay there a few
hours, turn around and fly back. You don't need a hectel. I

came to thils beczuse I was having such trouble with Intourist.
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They didn't want Jews. They saild they don't have hotels and
they don't want to be embarrassed by bringing visitors. That
was the early avoroach in Russian tourism, So I said, we don't
need hotels., I only want to stay there for three or four hours,
that's enough. It would make the impression I was looking for.
We turn around and go back on the same plane and we will take
pledges on the plane going back. It was called "a meeting in
the air." 1In eighteen or twenty-four hours we would finish the
whole thing from front to back.

I once had another idea. People were telling me 1t was too
much to go to Israel all the time seeing the same thing on every
study mission. I suggested that we take a plane and fly %0
Auschwitz., We will have a meeting in the town of Cracow with
every Israel Ambassador on the Continent of Zurope, so we have
the feeling of Israel, what the French call "presence”,

If we can't hava it there, we'!ll have a meeting in Vienna
and listen to every ambassador give a keXf—wemr resume about
the problems of Isrzel vis-a2-vis his country. Then we get on
the plane and go back. We see Auschwitz, makeugi;%3;;;e; to
the Beit Kvarot, talk to the Shagririm of Israel, and go back to
New York. %You don't need anything., We would put on two extra
meals, ten more bottlss of whiskey, some pillows and blankets
and finished., That's a study mission, toc, a2 one day study
mission.

You can do it if you have the airplane, if you have the
telex equipment on both sides and if you have a standby personnel.

eper atim~

Everytime I would make anmikssa like this, I would be the director,
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R Mo ddulg denrt
because I never trustdéanybody with details., llaybe that's a

failing on my part, btut when you are using high technolozy, you
cannot Just tell somebody else to do 1it, not the first time at
least. The second time you also have to do 1t yourself. Then
you have a few guys trzin=d =224 they know what you want., Then
it!' s okay.

The technology of the future? Fy Bod! Many times I wanted
to make closed circuit live broadcasts from Israel, but we naver
nad what's called an Zarth Statior here in Israel.

Q.
Now we have?
A,

Wnen I wanted to do it in 1970-71, we dién't have an Earth Station
yet. Here's what I wanted to do. We did it anyway on film, It
was z2lmost as good but not quits, My idea was this: Dayan
standing at the Suez Canal, Golda standingigiﬂgét Sthaan Valley
Luleide—bShe—tTR UiSet—Shes=wm  Abbz Eban standing =2t the (Westarm)
Walling Wall, and I had a helicopter and I was Zolnz to Zo from
one g;?hto the next, see each on2 in his owim settinz. Dayan 1is
standing with a flak jacket, a helmet, sandbags and the guns,
Golda is standing on a small bridse in a fileld with some trees
behind her. You can see the Golan in back of her, and part of
the town of Bet Shaan on this side, She's talking about mschablim
and Bet Shazan, Eban is standing, dressed in a sult and z tie,
the Wall in the background, we coculd have made z continuous

oS
broadcast for about thirty mirutes. I would be at one place and

ghata,

Wik
~we'd pick somebody 2lse to be h the second, and somebody to b

A4 gatas o,
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at
wiish the third, The camerz would come ck to me at the end

and I would be—ste——snebdédm_mapn 2ond close it for the lz2st one or
two minutes.

\.f-’r 44-1"‘4-*

I worked with the manial in the Sispag mefiicnorst for 2

long times =nd he cculdn't work cut the technology. =2 said
we'll have an Earth Staticn but we don't have it‘iﬁz. Instead
we did it on film. I went to the Suez Canzl and stood with
Foshe Dayan for fiteen minutes on film. I tock the helicopter
to Golda and to Abba Eban, We put the film togetker, put it on
a TWA plzne and sent 1t to New York. e showed it ths following
night on clecsed circuit in avout a hundred cities.,

Q.
It's not tne same,

Al
It's twenty-four hours later. It's a can o6f film and they sre
lockinz 2t something that happened twenty-four kours earlisr,
It was not only good, it was almost great, but 1t would have bsen
fantastic.

Now it 1s already four, five y2ars later zrnd we have an
Carth Station hers, but nobody is usiro it for the UJA. I'm
afraid the use of technology has not continued the way I would
nave continued with it. It is crucial for communication. If
~we want imaginative, instantaneous comrunication daily, why
can't you have a telex in Jerusalem going to every city in
America? Nobody's doinz it.

I would use the Corcorde airplsne, The Concorde will not

come into New York because of pollution, but the Conzorde can
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come to Ban-Curion once. 3So the pecpl2 in Holon will Te upset
once., 3Ient the Concorde., I can just ses z2 beautilul meeting
up in the azir or on ths grouni.

I will finish by saying that if an orsanizztion 1n today's
world doesn't use technolozy, then it's very routine and if will
lose something of its spirit, aside from losing the results.

The 1zst thing I would 1liks to say is a philosopnical comment.

Yoney is not always ths resulf sinply of the iix intellsctual

argument you use, or even the emotional zrsument you use. Some-

times money is the result of thne spirit, the ambiance, the ;;15554-

which you create. - Given the.same -intellectual content, the same

emotional ceontent, if you can find some way to put electricity

into the meeting, you will m=ake more money. Golda understood

this. I would say, Golda, let E% have a meeting in the gzrdien of
ahrret s Sdrwiaioas

your house on Zen iaimon, or Dayan_lft 1S have a meeting in the

garden of your hnouse in Zahala. It's better than in a hotel.

It's that oxtra 1ittle neshamah yeteran that you put into it thrat

creates a 1littld excitsment, Here the technolozy is only = tus,
but the ReiReLMe?s the same. Technology can assist you, i7
you use it properly. I think it's indispemsable. I tried all

my 1life to have technolozy work for me and to use new technology.
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Q.
I would like to hear your impression of the personalitiss in
the UJA, of 2ill Rosenwald. #e told us zbout working withk you,
about the trouble ~ith the problsms of the UJA a2nd the EZonds.
If I remember correctly you told some people, or you made a speech
in which you said that ziving mx@ to the UJA =znd givinz to Bonds
is 211 the same and that created a protlen.

A
That's what ke sald?

Q.
ind that created a problem for him between Sonds and UJa. He
saild most people liksd giving ard you said that you were interestad
in cash, and Israel was interested in cashtn and you didn't pay
attention to the diffsrence between the UJA and Bonds. So we wa_ht
your reaction to some thinzs; first to your relationship with
8111 Bosenwali =nd the others; second, your resction, what you
remember from ths Emergency of '67?

A,
I want to start to rsad my material adout '67. I think thare's
no sense in trying to zive yéztahat I remember, because that was
a very nectic period. I remember some bdiz thaings.

There were fantastic stories that I kave to tell you about

Ifax Fisher, Eshkol, Henry Ford and Yitzhak Rabin and such. I
came to Israel on the 21st of May, I think, '87 and stayed aere

until the 30th of ITay. In those ten days so much happened witha



me, the govermment, the people and the army: with Fisher, who

was 1n Athens; with th
when
telsphone c21ls/I tried to monvince th=m that we were going to

(1]

leaders, who were in america; sll the

nave a war here. They didn't want to believe that there would
b€ a war.

What we went through in those ten days are =z story to turm
your hair gray, but it was a turning point in the whole nistory
of the American Jewish community. The éi;gfof the matter was
that they didn't want to accept anythinzg where there would be
troubls and that therefore they would tnaves to react in a certain
way. I had such an argument with Fisher in Athens that I said I
was going to resign and call a press confarence to tell tne whkole
world that I belleve Israel is zoing to be in a war, that I tsllievs
that the Jews of America must act a2 certain way ard start the big

T said fo tas THT S0 lnog ay 2 remaiaed
campaizn immediately. WWmate—=-s5a7 1in office I sanxrat z2rzue with

Cowid nat
3 k 5 as .
#o, because Fou S84 the chairman and I a8 the vice chairmen, but
wlé
Af I resigndl &3n say what I wantedas a free man z2nd that's what
il
T\ soing to do. It was a very serious moment znd he understood

it.

I was traveling, running back and forth from Tel Aviv to
Awia (Nitzana)
I1 ¥¥2 2nd down into the desert. For three days I was in Sinsi
o Fithes vas,

end then Wk to Athsnsmand from Athens back to here. I was on
the telepnone to Cleveland, where Ginsberg was, the deputy of
FPisher, trying to convince CGinsberg. Eudt——rzob—to—tsei—sirtrs

enm—des S

- -



Now, to o back to the first questiony my reacticn to the
different chairmen. It's a question of not speaking in generali-
ties, but in specifics. In gerneral terms, I tried to have a good
relation with every chairman, to give nim the respect which was
due to him because he was the lay leader. I was the professional.
You always have to work togsther op a very dslicate balance. You
must never bring it to a confrontation over who is the boss.
That's the whole secret, never f.:,ause a confrontation.

On the other nand I always had the feeling that I was the
permanent officer, there all the time,., The chairman is always
chanzing. It's like the British government. They have BisHer
Maj)esty's Pesrmanent Undersecretary, and thén you have a gg;;zgéeg.
who'!s changing all the time. (§25 lMajesty's Permanent Under-
Secretary must really keep the line of policy of the government
going, never mind who's the Minister. I always had that same
feeling, that I wanted to try to zive a policy direction to what
we awe doing. I wanted to try to crezts the policiss. I had to
convince my chairman, whoever he was, without fighting with him,
and yet I didn't want him, if I thought he was wrecng, to try to
use his zauthority to say to me, well, I am deciding we will not
do this or that. I always tried to keep the balance, so that the
two of us should be on the szme line, Illaybe I might have to
convince him or ke nad to convince me, btut when we came fzce to

face with the public or Se—fece the exacutive committee or any

official in Isrzel, we would always be on the same line,
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“%a

I understand there was a difference sven hetwesn chairmen?

»
e

Always.

G
3eczuse Rosenwald was convinced that he is a2 specialist in fund-
raising and he knew better than anybody else in the United States

now to run the business?

i
Right.
Qe
= u;eb’
I undsrstand that the otherhchairEEn he had were not convinced
of that.
A,
Right.
Q.
led

Es had the NBS 2nd e was invcolved dedply in Joint businsess for

a long time. So he was completely convinced that he knew better
than anybody e2lse in the establishment of the UJA how to do the
business. I'a really asking you to give us a description not
only of Rosenwald, but of the difference between workinz with
such chairmar znd working with a chairmen who's a very good
business man, but nis experience in fund-raising is more intimate.
Is my question clear?

-

The question is very clear, but it's based upon a misconception,
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a Judzment that what Rosenwald szid is correct.

Q.
I said that ;Ro0semwald was convince=d of what he was saying.

A
Bosenwald thought that he was a grezst expert on fund-raising,
more so than anybody else, and your questiion was aow was if for
me to work with other chairmen. They all thought they were experts
on fund-raising. 2Zosenwald has 2 very strong personality, so he
came across to you in this way, but if you would intervisw anyone she
who was chalrman, Warburg, for example, 4Ze would say, on, I don't
really know anythiang about fund-raising, but of course I was the
president of the Joint for twenty-five years. His personality is
such.

Warburg 1s a fellow who laughs at himself 311 the time.
Bosenwald is a fellow who takes nimself very seriously. Warburg
knows as ouch about fund-ralsing as Rosenwald, but in his own way
ae would say, I don't know anytaing about fund-rzising, I never
asked a2 man for one dollar in 2y whole life. I would only tell a
man what our oroblems are and then I'd leave it to nlm to decide.
Is this 2 zood fund-raiser or a bad fund-rziser?

There are no rules in this game. I think, for exampls, tkat
it's better Af you ask a man, please zive me ten thousand dollars

tead of saying I leave it to your conscience, That's my
opinion, Warkurg would leave it to the mar's comscience. Rosenwald
would say, zive me ten thousand dollars. Sapir, who ig)supposed

to be a very good furkraiser, naver once asked a man for a specific
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sum cf money. I used to have terrible fights witkh him. I told
aim to ask the man for a specific sum. Sapir never did it once.
Is he 2 good fund-raiser or a2 tad fund-raiser?

Qe
I think it depends on the attitude of the man.

A,
Now you are talkinz about the psychology of the contrivutor. Then
you are in the fisld of art, not science. Some people say that the
whole approach to fund-raising must be very sciesntific, according
to the rules, I say there are no rules. It's not a science,

e
It's pot?

A.

]

It's much more than a science, Cf course, there zre zeneral rulses,
and one 1s to ask a man for a specific sum. 3ut if you hava some
feeling that the psychology is different, then don't, becauses he
wlll react badly. BHe will think it's pressure. If you have some
feeling he will be more generous if you leave it to his conscience,
do 1t, 1It's a feeling, what the Germans call Fingersoitztncefihl.
You cculd never get Warburg to ask for a svecific zmount,
but does that mean he was not z2s good a2 fund-rzis2r zs Rosenwali?
I don't know. 2osenwald nad a very strong sense of self-confidsnce
angfﬁgg?a very dry ssnse of humor atout hims21f. Ee wasn't very
serious a2bout nimself, Maybe he didn't have as much sslf-conficence

as Bosenwald, but he had more charm, more humor, an easier re-

lationship with the contributor. Rosenwald was stiff, The contributor
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T fy ' ! '
r'f:(‘&'.:'f'{ [\u-.h\wﬁ-é'u hn:: wag C.\:M.‘F"’t o4 l-J&fi."’_

THEECrim and Wapburg-cewid—charmtim. Who's a better fund-raiser?
I don't know, There's no way to say. Zach of them was excellent
accordinz to his own style.

T™e professional would decidér;hcm to send Warourg vu'and:;hcm
to send Rosenwald W@, but you still cannot predict. There is a
critical amount of decision on how to handle the contributor, 1like
the critical moment of a hattle. At that moment, something can
stretch or cnange. You cannot decide everything in zdvance. Tou

plan as well as you know how to plan down to the last detasil.

Qe
You try?

a,
And something can go wrong.

Q.

You think about the alternatives?

A,
Always, and you tell everythinz to your man. You g£ive him a good
briefinz and tell him how to retreat if he must, how to attack if
necessary.

I like Eosenwald becazuse, as a chairman, he was a very, very
hard worker. This 1s the most important thing ir a chzirman, that
ne give to ycu all the time you need, that he do anis homework and
study everythinz you give nim to study. Ee imew the material, what
he was selling. Ee studied everything. If you told him to talk

about the development towns, about immigratiorn, sscurity, whatever,

ne said, give me tne material. He read everytiinz. He was the best
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chairman I ever had, from the voint of view of doing his homework,
reading up, doing his triefing on each person.

Je gave nim a lonz profile, the psycholozsy of each man, his
background, his interests, nis hotby, ais clubs, his relatives,
sverything we coull find, When Rosenwald went to see a man, he
lmew as much about that men as we could tell him. I think I ked ., «'~
eight chairmen and I never had one who did his homework like
aosenwald.ﬁfi never had one who was less flexible., BHes followed
the instructions if you gave him "4" or "27 or "C", After a while
he lost his flaxibility and then he would come back.

Se
You mean he made up his nind?

A,
Yes, he was very much a2 Yeke znd this was wnat was excellent about
him, but This was also his limitation. He would often have to come
back for new instructions, Ee might be working with somebody and
he would not be getting what ke wanteél and he would say, stop, we
will zmeet next week. The mar ould say, what do you mean? BRosen-
wald said, I have to think about this some more 2ni then he would
come tack to me and say, now what do I do?

Q.
He would stop the battls?

A,
Be would stop. If he was not satisfied and saw it was not going

well he wanted more instructions. He nad so much authority..



That they listened.

AL
Tee contributor would take it from him bscause Rwosen:rald had such
tremendous personal power. That came from two thinzs. After all
the years he put into his public service, sverybody mew him and
they respectsd him. Secondly, it came from the respect they had
for nim as a successful business man. With Warburg they used to

rlvha, wed it Loy M weitf

say, he -ot so much money from his father and Zest—tt—=IT. Rosen~

IN.-T‘ wnid S - b et sl
N&ldﬁg@* so ;hch money frcm 2ls fat?er aaé—ﬂe made five times more.
Ay g

Zverybody knows that Sears & Roebuck is his old company. American
Security Corporatioﬁ was always in the stock market’aaﬂ always
making deals, buying ships, buylng and selling comparnies. Ee had
so much personzl authority from his business success that anybody
would listen to nim., I told you the story of what he did with me
ard Mr, g:;$$;;i, when ne solicited five thousand dollars frono ce
and five aundred thousand dollars freom himself, to g2t two hundred
and 17ty thousand from SRLsraiPEr men. He is like a tigsr snd he
doesn’'t l=2t zo.

Anotaer thing about him; this whole business was to a certain
extent a game to him., E2 had to succeed, liks ue had to succee
in everytning he did. In the ;gggzﬂ%art of uils life he z=ve to
many, meny institutioms. I wasn't working with him in théseareas
He gzave money to e universities. His fatler gave money to the
black unlversities ix America, one hundred million dollars. Howard
University and Tuskeegee University and 21l the big ones were all

And BN \taered Foowe Py falres,
paild for by his father.h g2 did work for gsneral humanitarian causes.
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I didn't work with aim in éﬂiﬁ fields but in the Jewish field,
nis approach was philanthropic and rumanitarian, to aslp poor Jews,
As far as Israel Eﬁﬁconcerned, if Isresel ézi;he—wafq-the tocl to
nelp poor Jews, Eglgr?ine with him. If the way to help ths Jews
of Morocco \i:é to bring them to Israel, Mm:’% ne™s
not 2 burning Jewish nationalist. I used to say that the main
thing was to strenzsthen Isrzel, akead of the individual person. IT
we czn create a strong state we can save many Jews now and prevent
another nolocaust in the future.

I was more interestad in upbullding the country =rd using the
vecple to btuild up the country. The psople abe zlso teing nelped,
but it's a question of which comes first. . I ns=sd to say to aim if
yo&i&gsﬁE want to buy Bonds’don't buy them. You don't think we
should get the UJA miz?3 up with the Bond organization, that eheyw<

are two separate organizations and must remain separate because e D2

JIT/ WS

gam'l‘l =
aPe tax exempt and Shey are not. However, down in the loecal com-
e UIA \uécrﬁ‘h-b ST cove pelicy Cicection sl say Nt .
mUNity, wWe-aaye to-—serishem 31ther we oem fiint a2gainst the Sonds
or we eem cooperate with the Bonds, one or the other, EHe preferrsd

(dcg&«ﬂ-h-ﬂ"‘ aally,

k tegather beczuse Israel b} get more momey, All the
money that‘gggigets fromT;;ugg better, because that money is free,
She doesn't have to pay it back, But tasre are plenty of Jews and
non-Jews, banks, insurance companies, pension funds, lzbor unions,
who can buy these Israel BEonds and loan Isrzel money. It's extra
money for Israel,

I think Israel is wronz to continus to sell the Bonds. I

enl Sepir

told Zsnkol that when the fifteen yeers were finisned in 13966, you

stould stop seiling bonds. The first ones are coming due. Pay
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them off a little bit every year, but don't sell more tecause
you're only going deeper and deeper in the box. Ee didn't zgree.
g2 wanted to keep zolng.

I explained to all the chairmen and all the leaders of tus
UJA, that even if we do not think it good economic and financizl
policy to continue to sell Bonds, Israel decided to do it. We
have only tc decide to help or not to help. It's stupid for us
to be working so hard for Isrzel, trying to get free money, and
not also to help her sell some Bonds if there's zny way we can
help. It's not our responsibility, but if we can helv in any way,
we should do so.

What does that mean in the local community? You can help
them to get a chairman for the Bonds, or you can prevent it. 1

i JECW Rk bt i N Yo F
once got a telephdne call‘fﬁbm the Bond organization, They wanted

Jfﬁaﬁ £35m Boston*:;Tah;;;man,er. George Shapiro. He was the
chairman of the Federation-UJA campaign for many years =rnd he is
very stronzg and aggressive. He said no, he'd nad enough. They
called me from New York and I said I'd try to help.

I called him in Boston. Ee asked if I was callinz from
Jeruszlem. I said sure and I want you to bte the Bond chairman,
because that's the way you can nelp Isrszel. You zlready did your
job as UJA chairman, now be the Bond chairman for a few ysars.

He agreed and was the Bond chairman for about three years. He 3id
a fantastic job for them.

I mysel? could not see that there was a contradiction. Rosen-
wald thought if I ﬁ the dirsctor of the TJA I must be loyal only
to the TJA, I said no, I am loyal to Israel. Ee said, what: Not
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Just the UJA? 3Rosenwald said look, you must be like a2 horss

- ¥ a
e 1Ll wn

o
¢closing your eyes axcepL'#bat is rizht in front of you. I szid

no. Thils was a2 typical disasreement. It was never any policy

issue inside the UJA. Ikagz {pied—to teIl-me-to-stop-tryirs—So
seIp—tne—Sond—organisationy—bub~they—ikzew ot  to meke of—tt—=

confrontation—-and I-didn!t-make~a-confrontation with them?

An example of how chairmen are different; Mr. liyerhoff, who
was the chairmen of the UJA for four years, was exactly the oprosite
of Rosenwald, Ee was the first chairmen of the Bonds in Baltimore,
The same year he was the chairman of thg:ﬁ&a. H2 did it dafka
in order to prove that a man can do both Jjobs with no contradiction
and do them well. He wanted to offer personal proof.'“&%Ew;b:5§*ﬁ“r;h"'
S TaaS—and——satd—Tins,

It's a question of time., The calendar is divided; the Bonds
have one g;g;.of the year and the UJA hzs a different 32;;. That's
the way it used to be, Today, the tempo has increased, and the

al ey hofh wnk alf I mrThs,
campzaizn has zotten so bilg for both of them,& But thers's zlways
the question of trying to coordinate and this always creztes little
arguments 211 the time. You argue with your wife every day. Z=Zvery
day I had four or five cases coming up, loczl arguments which had
to bte settled. I used to call Schwartz and say, Joe, what the hel

is bappening in Hzrtford, Connecticut? EHe would say, I don't lmow

whaﬁﬁhappening. I szid, czll your men and find out. ' 2lways
weuld L a
210y aRt———iaS—aaware—ras . Ee':calla-i me back and -Bez..d there's

soms argument about the 3onds having a meeting on Pebruary 2nd znd

the UJA wants to have a meeting on February lst. I said, Joe, 1if

*—.
they canuot sedtle it on the local level, you z2nd I wilf?se tle i%.
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You tell your man and I'll tell oy man. We had five six cases like
this every 3;;7 We'd settle in one city:F?‘would ccue up in another
city. Tanose are Just tactical problems of every day. The overall
strategic problems were to try to create cocperation betiresn the

two organizations in the fi=2ld so they bota couldi function. 3IZosen-
wald finally came to accept this. TFisher became the chairman and

we never argu2d about this. Ee had a broadminded visw of that.

The normal attitude of most of the chairmen I mew, most of
the sub-chairmen =znd the national chairmen,was that the Stzte of
Israel 1s 2 tool ~ith which to servs the nation. The Jewish people
is 2 nation and the State would serve the nation. This was the main
motivation. This is how I tried to train them and this is the kind
of n I tried to find.

Bill Rosenwald would say, yes, the State 1is necessary; the
State is the most important thing, but my main motivation is to
nelp the people and alsc I like to be a success in everytuing I do.
It wasn't how you put his motivations one, twc, three, four. KFaybs
number one was humanitariazn, to help the Jewish peopls in troubls.
Number two was his personal success as the greztest fund-rziser.

(A "f’r (1
Number three was to help the State of Israel. Rosenwald was aeebod.

. hig Gws i
a5 ioo—amd When he decided to cut dovm on wu gift, nobody could movs

aim., Eis ziving always fluctuated. FEe used money as a tool. Ee

. rr levee |
tried to get money out of peopleJ51 WS vy by swe qut &y & Hver
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A,
I'1l give you an example of how Rosenwald used to manags hils own
givinz., After the '67 war, the campaign of '48 went down, during
the campalzn of '69 we began to pull up again and the campaign of
1970 I wanted to pull up even further, Tue campaizgn of '71, I
thought, must come back to the level of '67.

Q. .
wny?

A,
I think we spoke about this, atout the rhythm inside campaigns,
of the cycles of many years. If a campaign tezins te go down
every year for tco many yezars, pretty soon you will never recover.
It's 1like an airplane that's going down and tae pilot can never
pull 1t up. You reach a point where 1T smashes into the zround.
After the campzign begén to g0 down one year, '68, two years
'69, '70, '71, it would keep zoing down. In four or five years
we would lose it. DNobody kmew there would be a war in '73 to bring
1t back up again., So I tried without a war.

To try to make peopla aware of danger, to pull the campaign

up, I tried to think of ways to do it. In 1970 I decided that we
nust tegin to heve a les=e number of million dcllar zifts. We

tlotmgl® T
didn't nave them in '67 and certainly not in '48 or ‘69.:;If I aga (ovle

altpmen

introduce this into the campaign, maybe it

Wl

be a2 way of ziving
some extra speed to the engine to turn the airplzne the other way.
Thzt's when I spoke to Golda and asked ner if she would be willing
fo come to a private house 2nd have dimner with 2 few private

people, not official and no publicity. I had tec nave the powsr
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of her name. I wanted to try this in three cities, New York,

Chicazo a2nd Los Angeles. (I‘m using this story to explain Rosenwald.)
Golda agreed. And fhen Isaid fime .. now I had to get three

nouses on three evenings. We had to get permission for an E1 Al

plane to land in Los Angeles and Chicago,which was never done before.

I wanted to have the aSE'J; :Tl.n advance, so the only ones who #H.f

come-n%%i be those who have already agreed to zive a million

Wealdnd

dollars. At the dinmer we donﬂt nave to talk money, Jjust a very
lovely evening, a social party. Jﬁ are gcing tg EE; Léﬁse of My,
Meshulam Riklis for dinner and you are going to meet some friends,
It's not a speech and not a meeting. It's a dimmer party. There!ll
be five, ten people. She said okay, a brilliant idea.

Here 1s where I weant to Bosenaald and I said, Bill, I'm

trying something brand new. It's pioneering and I need to make a

breakthrough. I need you to give m@ a million dollars, If you

R: .=:a-urJa£
say you'll do it, then I can build on that. I can say, #e is
Mok Y, nZ,
going to zive a million, so you must Zive a million, Kp,—y—Hrr—=7

2. EB said okay, because he undarstood the mecnanics, the
game, He understood that he had to do it, noblssse oblize.

Q.
And he had the msans?

A,
Of course, he always has the means, hels a very rich man. That's
the point of my story., Now I will jump ahead to the following

year and finish the whole million dollar story later. What happened
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is not important, because it's only about Rosenwald.
The next year when I went to see him for his gift, he said,

two hundred thousand dollars. I said Bill, how can you do this,
to drop from one million to two hundred thoussnd? You'll kill the
campaign. He said oh, no, when you needed me for a pioneer, I
gave a million dollars and you made a breakthrough. You have seven
people now who gave you a million dollars. You don't need me any
more. I1I'm zoing back to something more normal. I said: Come on!
Two hundred thousand dollars is not normal for you. He said, fthat's
1t. That's all I'm going to give this year. PFimished, I could
never move him, not one miljimeter, once he made up his mind.

Q.
Did that break the campaign?

A,
No, he was right and he knew it. I was angry for a different

f:w g~
reason. I couldn't really usa'xkax'érgument with him,because I _
wal wou lewet o guviey Rad been tece pirh o caiail, toe dy s.\ Fast r:
also kpnew 1t's . not true, ﬁ-bpougm'_it_to-a—new-a:eve-}:. I=geetd ™ 077

BT T dred B _f.*'.u-m i vty S imaly Nt
' , Israel needgl more money from §ea and this

argument didn't succeed with him.
lh “ Qi’f.-r"l{a.-\

If ke had to put in one million dollars id order to make

& wil WAl vl

a“d“ e?xork yos. But to ask him to put 2 million dollars in
azain because Israsl neelethe money, no. Now does this give you
some clue to the psychology of the man? Many times after we would
agree on what he was to giva?févery yeagfﬁggwaifferent, he used

to make me sign a letter that I'ﬁgfl not bother him for more money,

en it Tt
Shas I nromise ﬁitil such and such a dzte I w&ll never brinz up
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the question of more money. I ﬁiii never resolicit him =znd I
éiii never ask him for some extra, one-time zift to use it to
convince somebody else. He called it the "zidememoir” snd he'd
put it in his safe in the office. 1It's such a Joke. EHe's a

ti-millionaire, but he wants an aide-memoir from me. Ee had a
1little book with his meost important papers and he said, in case I
die, I want this to be in here, so you will never go to my estate.
They will already have here a letter saying you are not entitled,
that you zgree not to zsk for more money until such and such a date,
A stiff and stubborn, but a wonderful man because I could always
count on him. EHe would always take cards. He didn't care if you
sent him to solicit somebody for five Emmir= thousand dollars.
It was okay by him. He said, I can only do so much. If you want
me to see this man for five thousand, okay, but don't come to me
and give me another cne for five hundred thousand, because today
I can only do one,

Q.
A very clever businessman.
A,

A good soldier. He used to have a secretary in his office to do
the UJA work., We'd pay for the secretary. He had a telepvhone in
his office to make calls for the UJA and we pald the telephone
bill. He insisted on things like that. He szid, I have no right
to charge such an expense to the American Securities Corporation.
It's your expense., So I szid Bill, what the hell, pay it out of
your own pocket, He said mo. I give you a million dellars and

you have to carry the expenses.
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I see why ne was a rich man,

A,
Strict. If you sent him for a vislit to some town to make a speech,
We pald the airplane ticket. I used to give him a ticket, ome
hundred dollars, to go from New York to Bostoun every time. That
was his idea.

4 Q.

I'm not surprised. This is the way people make money.

A,
Zxactly, this is a perfect separation between ziving money and
'spendlng money on some public cause. Then you wantl your mcney back.

Ee said, I didn't azres to give you one million plus five thousand

expenses, I agreed to give you ore million.

Qe

But he gave you his time?

As m-u...l\ £-§ e \'\tté(d

Lecik, @n @™ bzlance

he was wonderful, I don't know how he would be tecday. HZe's now LossT
seventy, but if his health 1s good, if his mind 1s good, if he
has physical energy, I would take him as the chalrman tOuE?-
\n\\‘-t?ﬂ.*‘l" gue i¢ fvﬂ o \ru‘v g
The UJA hzad anproblsm in '74, ablg crisis, a seandal wise
Ginsberg and Adelman, Adelman was supposed to become the chairman

at the conference in December 1974, tut he couldn't beczuse he was

W
involved with Ginsberg in Tu-r- Three weeks before the conference,

vl i s Nl beca e P whe Ean f51¢ vavaleed Ba ot aved
the UJA had to go find a new chairman. They found Mr. Lautenberg, ﬁfff:

\
{pal

Lt

gl |
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who was the chairman in '75 and again in '76. I don't know hinm
very well but everytody tells me he's a very good chairman. I
would say if they had not fourd him and if they were looking for

somebody in November 1974, if anybody Solld ask me if the UJA

s had = we

should invite back Mr.Myerhoff to be chairman, I would say #e. EHe
wouldn't do it. Mr, Fisher as chairman? I would say no, because
he wouldnﬁifﬁg;ﬁgﬁéia eneugh- as the chairmanﬂggé:hcae. He 1s past
that. Mr, Bosenwald as the chairman? I would say yes, if his
health is okay. With all of the things that were.$;;%§:w;%ﬁ_him,
he was really a very, very good chairman.

I don't know how he remembers me, but I remember him with
a great deal of respect 2nd I think even with some affecticn. So
that's the Rosenwald story, although there are many more parts of
the story. That's enough on Mr. Rosenwald.

Do you want to know the end of the millien dollgi?gfory? I
got Mr, Max Firestein in Los Angeles, his company is Max Factor
cosmetics, to agree to give a million dollars and to have the
dinner in his home, I got about three other pecple in Los Angeles
to agree, M;fr;einberg was one, I forget who else. We had a
lovely dinner. Golda enjoyed it very much and they enjoyed her.
It was a real btreakthrough. We had four gifts in Los Angeles of
a million dollars and this put the campaign on a2 new plateau,
because when you throw a stone in the water you get ripples.

If four people are giving this much money as a routine gift,
So—whes—the—edl, then 2z quarter of a million dollars is not so

much. Then you can go through the community znd say to everybody

A e
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who 1is giving 2 hundred thousand, you have—to give 250, and Feu

héée a chanc to get it. You can bring up the whole level.

New York was the same thing., We had a very lovely dinner
at the home of Mr. Riklis, and we had four or five people. In
Chicago I failed completely. I had one man who agreed to be the
host, Henry Crown. He 1s a very rich man and a very successfull
businessman, the largest stockholder, I think, in ége company
called Gererzl Dynamics. They make airplares, the F-16 which we
are going to buy next. It's a fantastically good company, &=
Genersl Dymemiass, He's a good Jew and he szid okay to the dimmer
at his home and he would give a million dollars, but of course,
he didn't want to be alome. I said ﬁo, certainly not, f:ggéd some -
body to say they will start, and them I will get other people. I
told him what was happening in Los Argeles and in New York.

I worked in Chicago many days myself, not my staff. Not
the Chicago staff, not the national staff in New York. I saw

'{'0 ve ove wasll 'J-r-'a‘"\
twenty-two people and I couldn't get a single one to agree, I went

erd scplanad Do ik spim b Al wlliaersy # (e, IE £ 8plairgel 43 him DA 2 o
back to Mr, rowhdaaé—teié-hﬁm I had failed. Nuskeroney; =
= il J"\"‘. +
going to cancel CGolda cut cof Chicago, : y ke dinner';s
L\‘f. km wal 2 MVL-, Jo\v& Jdiv:J nan¥ 'k’ N dodn¥
. MNumber three _vou dentt have to give z million
dollars.
Q.
Did he give?
e e e L. -

No, he gave half a million, because that's what he wanted to give,
T e Rt plece
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I_sas_xcaﬁna—%e—get-htunxe double from hglf a million to a million.,f,,—a
f\,... fhu.— wqfljmr "-L\A W

Iszid, I thinR it!s tﬂ*risle, Chicago has more money than Los
Angeles, the Jews are living in Chicago for over a hundred years.
German Jews. I really am ashamed about Chicago. He said no, I
am more asham=d, btecause I live here. But, I sa2id, you are relessed,
you were willinz, thank you. I have no right to hold you. So we
had dinners in two cities but not Chicago. Ee zgave the half million
for 1971, but by 1973 he gave a million in the Emergency Campaign.

So that was the million dollar story. We started with seven
gifts of a million dollars for the campzign for 1971. This was done
in Septemter 19?0, an operation to g=t gifts in advance for the 1971

Tre V7R
campaizn, By th&s time sv¢ came to the 1973 campaign, the Yom Kippur

a SH - T ;nt 0 wol 24

War, we—hzd forty-fiva gifts of eser 2 million dollarsdwd o2
Q.

Also in Chicago?
A,

Even som® in Chicagzo. You must prepare the ground. It was z very
brilliant concept at that point 4in time. During the 1967 campaizn
there were rno million dollar gifts, exceot one. We got one gift,

an accident.
Q.

Wno gzve 1t?

A,
Walter Ammenberg from Philadelphiz, the man who later was the
American Ambasszdor to London. He never gave much money tefore

that and never gave much money after that, but as I say, 1t was

an accldent.
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Qe
How could it happen? He 1s a Jew, but not z Zionist. Ee is a
very devoted American citizen, devcted to American policy and
one day he decides to give a huge sum of money. I even lknow about
people that gave large sums of money and they didn't want it known.
A,

People who want to give money anonymously, this 1s psychological.

Qe
-But you had such cases?

A,
Sure we had such cases.

Q.
What sums?

A,
Well, huge sums.

Q.
Half a million dollars?

A,

No, no, always a hundred thousand or two hundred thousand. That's
not so huge. The znonymous psrt didn't bother Annenberg. Your
real question should bte, why does 2 man give this much?

Q.
He didn't give earlier and he didn't give later, Jjust once he

gave a million dollzars.
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A.
Yes. Something touched him or worried him, maybe the War of '67.
I don't kmow. During the '67 war I lived in America, but during
the '73 war 1 alreadg lived here so I don't know how the American
Jews were thinking and feeling.

Q.
When in '67 did he give the money?
A.

N e

- N’
He gave the money amcumd—Jume——We—gab-4t on the first day of the
ol
war, 5th or 6tét I'don't remember, Semebody—esiled—aimup to ask
fep the memey, & lawyer from New York, a friend of his, Albert

Parker, who was one of the officers of the New York City UJA, cales
Arneo Ders v ziiad o tRa ComTul e

In America May 31st is a holiday called Decoration Day.
Banks are clcsed, schools are closed, offices, everything. Nobody

goes to work. I was alone in my office. That was the day I came
“J ;«_\ oY :(I';' bt W;: MT
back from Israel. IAfelﬁ“war was coming any dzy and I was trying

to organize a2 mass meeting of the leadership of the Jews of America,

which was finally held on Sunday, June the 4th, one day tefore the
up e o 4o e Gmicem Tewirh Jeadesh)
The Council of Fedaerations ﬁidn't want to believe

(41 T kel hod & dentl “lﬂ_ Cadt i pitire Daewn LT k3 in

war broke out.

P Fokren ri
boat going through the Aegean, making a cruise througzh the Greek . -! m

5‘.-5.;&1.‘ i

Islands with Mr, Henry Ford, el St Cnspmpns — { evslsvd za

W3 sl
\

. I was making telephone calls 211 over America trying to get et N

i F{M
péople to come to this "emergency meeting" for which we needed two::f;f;{
5«3‘\- g -

or three top leaders from every communmity in America. PFour nundred.. _
nuw(r Ay

people finally came. There was only one man sittinsg with me in my Euiuu%.
Thet "““-“—"‘I L-'t::a..
ad J; Sa;h“- s

Moisw éa



- 132 -

R. 1/2
Mewa f Dany
office that day,h Albert Parker.
Q.
He volunteered?
A,

He volunteered. He'!s a rich lawyer from New York, a very interesting
man, I said Albert, is there anybody you can call to get some

money? I'm trying to get the Jews of America to start an emergency
fund again8 I have to tell you I stzrted the business of emergency
campaigns in 1955. Every time something happens, I try to get
another emergency campaign, always with the same idea that the
communities should not take any share out of it. We needed to have

a dec%?ration that there should bte an emergency campzign, but the
gxgiaﬁhing is not Jjust to pass a2 resolution that we shall have an
emergency campaign. The best thing is to have some ggﬁsﬁgi%gfsome

good money to it, because that's better than just a resolution.

He said, I'1ll call Annenberg. I—aa@érﬁﬁnq—?nuw-Hhr?—ikrﬁa&dq~

sure—Tmew—k4tm, To make a long story short, he's the one that
got the millien dollars from Anmenberg and we ammounced it the
following Sunday, June 4th, as T ~ecall.

Qe
So he got it vefore the war started., That's very interesting.
The emergency fund of the '73 war was after the beginning of the
war. I was in Isrzel for both wars and I was in the army in '67.
The danger, the emergency, our worry was before the war, when we
sald we don't attack and they get stronger znd stronger and stronger
every day.
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A.
This is why I was zoing crazy because I could not persuade ¥r,
Fisher or the Council of Federations or my own naztiocnal chairmen,

twelve men., I couldn't persuade them.,

Qe

But how could you persuade Mr, Annenberg?
A.

Secause Parker believed,
Q.

Parker could persuade Mr, Annenberg?

A.
Maybe Mr. Annenberg as a newspaver publisher was more sensitive,
reading things cominz over the wire; or maybe something touched
him in his Jewish heart; or maybe he simply was a smparter man; or
maybe he made z lot of money that year znd he had some money to
give away for taxes. I don't know what moved nim., All I know was
that he gave the only million dcllar gift we had in the 1967
Emergency Fund Campzizn from June until December,

Because of that fact, that in 1967 we didn't have any million
dollar zifts o b¥-1070 and 1971, my intuition told me we must
begin to raise the level. And, thank Cod, because of what I
started in '70 and '71, by the time we came to '73 :”a”&'ffﬁ’;on dollar
gift was already routine.

Q.
Does the UJA have milliem dollar gifts regularly?
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Sure, I don't know how mzny they have now., !Maybe they have six

A
or eight, I don't Imow, ten?

Everything I did in the UJA, I did, z2s I told you, for the
long range., I tried to create norms and standards and I tried to
do it at a2 time when my instinct told me it was the right time to
make a move, If I h::L tried to make this move in 1968, I would
have failed., But for 1968 I succeeded in keepirnz the emergsncy fund
goins., The Keren Hayesod, in Jerusalem, refused to vote on an
emergency fund for 1968, The war was over znd we won. Zverybody
was in euphoria.

I went to the Council of Federations' meeting in Cleveland,
Chio in September 1967 and made a speech in which I said we are
going to be at war again before the summer, They thought that I
was crazy and they were ready to tear me to pieces. I was mocked,
scornsd, attacked for being a seénsationalist, tryinz to make a few

extra dollars for the UJA. They said I was cheap, vulgar.

BB onsy
They asked me why I thought this and I based everything on
Khartoum, because the declaration out of Khartoum on September 1lst
Was no peace, no recognition, no nsgotiations. This was the
declaration of the Arabs. I felt the situation was going to lead
us to war again, without question. So I insisted that we keep an
American emergency fund for 1968, The Jews won't zive the same as

\L'uﬂ

bt wab
they zave in 1967, they still wi¥1 give something if it™s soing into

~
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an emergency fund =nd Israei:é:tp it all. Itig'not divided in
the community. I insisted that we must maintain it.

I was ridiculed at the public meetings in Cleveland. We came
back to New York and the executive of the UJA had its meeting. I
think 1t was in October. I absolutely insisted, demanded that we
must have an emergency fund, This is what I ca2ll meking a2 major
policy decision and providing leadership in the organization. This
is what I always tried to do., Many of the people said the UJA will
look foolish and that in Jerusalem the Heren Hayesod was not going
ﬁo do it. Why should we be holier than the Pope? In Jerusalem

they're not calling for an emergency fund, tut in New York we are.

2=

I said, I don't care what the Keren Hayesod does, -Tdidsnlt
think much of their initistive or their leadership., I felt we had
a responsibillity, that's all, so we did it. We made hzalf of what
was made the year before, but as I recall it, it was something
-ggbéﬁhtgqghty or ninety million dollars.

Q.
Did anyone give you zany kind of political guidance?
A,
None at all. I had my own intuition.
Q.
Do you think that the UJA should have political guidance?
A,
I do think so because scme day the director or the chairman might
not have such zood intuition.
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Q.
You hzd contact with Harman, the Ambassador?
A,

A1l the time, the closest contact. I could always see him at five
minutes notice. He would give me 21l the time I wanted. But when
you talg about guidance I am always talking about yozmah, who takes
the 1n£;tive to do something, There was never 2 situation where
they took the initiative in Isrzel. I don't know why. Maybe because
they felt they shouldn't try to tell the Americans what to do. I
don't know what the reasons are. All I know, was when I wanted to
consult with the Israslis they were always oren to me, in Washington
or Jerusalem. I never had the slightest trouble., I could zlways
go immediately to the Prime Minister, but the Prime Minister didn't
come to me, When I say the Prime Minister, that's a symbol.

I remember z time when Eshkol EE;::%?hmgé}bre the Six Day War
Eshkol sent me a telegram, 1I'l1l never forget it, I think it was
the 20th of May. I was again sitting alone in my office on a
Saturday night. The Consul-Gereral in New York was Michael Smmon,
He is now the director of ¥he Bonds, He called me at home and
said Eshkol sent you a coded telegram., He couldn't find you by
telephone., You weren't home. Ee wanted to bring over the telegram,
Eshkol sa2id in code, we are having some problems and I think we
will need some cash very quickly. Do you think vou can get twenty
of twenty-five million dollars together in one or two dz2ys? That
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was the time he took the initiative, I said to Arnon I won't
give him any answer, We'll zo to Kemnedy zairport 2nd I'll find
a plare and go to Israel., I already had a feeling that this was
war. I'm always sensitive about war., Warburg used to call me
General Hagansh., I said I feel something and I don't like it.
It doesn't smell good. I'll tell you the whole story some other
time, but what he wanted the money for was to buy some F-86 zir-

Aipectir
planes from Canada. The American Government would nct sell any
J-SIOJG §= N o D¢ S e

airplzanes in 1967. = All came ?}om FESCETING A © ° ¢ =4 seoy
voeebed G-»ac.- sodie heie, m-Ql Rurtriza H& 2pee frad ek ool ©
Torbm ™ s ol -«2.:.{ &gt U\ Wv-.. Mo L-I..:-i:t.. s I

You went to Israel then?

A.

That night, I'1l tell you the whole story of what happensd in those
ten days ard how I really failed, or thought I failed, Ultimately,
I guess, I succeeded, but the first ten days it was like breaking
teeth to convince the Jews of America that we were moving into a
war. They didn't want to accept it. The first time thérﬁziinet
had a meetiﬁZj;;hfgﬁé;-voted nine to nine not to go to war., All
the pecple in America were saying to me, see, you are a warmonger,
a sensationalist. There will be no war.

The ﬁgxt week the vote in the Czbinet was sixteen to two.
That was on a Sunday and the war started on Monday morninz. The
Government of Israel never published the names of the two men who
voted against., I know who they are and so do you. Think back.

=~ MFria a0,

Anyway Mr, Eshkol took some initiative thed—rizht. But your
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question was did the UJA get political advice or guidance?

A,
The answer 1s no. I think the Government of Israzel would give
you an explanation that the reason they didn't do it was not to
mix into the affairs of an American tax deductible organization.
Q.
And they still follow that course?
A,
I don't really know any more., I'm not there, but my guess is
that 1t is the same thing

B4

A,

The crisis of 1961 was not an Israeli crisis, but an internal
political crisls inside the UJA. For the first and only time
in my whole experience with the UJA whe=e there was an intermal
political power play. I suppose it's typiczl in big organizations.
It was very interesting from a historical point of view because
it was not simply a2 few men in the organization trying to take
the authority away from others, That's normal. This began to
develcp Into large ideologlcal overtones and that was not normsl.
That's why I think it's worthwhile to include this as part of the
whole history of the UJA.

Here's what happened. There were two men who were working
in the organization, Melvin Goldsteirn and Irving Jzcobs. These

two were very close. Melvin Coldstein had been the zdvisor and
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secretaryﬁ He was expert in taking shorthand, so he was the prifars
secretary to Joseph Schwartz from the time they were together
in Lisbon in 1941, and—ke-—was-his-"ameruensis™., Schwartz was
never without him, twelve, sixteen hours az day. Goldsteln was
his shadow. Jacobs was an accountant working in the zaccounting
department and he was the shadow of Goldstein., These two men
felt psychologically that they were the UJA. When Schwartz left,
they stayed with the feeling that they were protecting his in-
heritance. I came in, 2 new man and immediately there was a tug
of war over who is going to be the bess. But I was the boss. They
were very nice, but they made 1t clear to me that they knew much
more about the organizstion and more about it's history than I did
and without them I could not run the organization. The man who
was the accountant knew everything of the figures inside, the
Eééé%ééi practices, who was hired, who was fired, salaries and z11
this. Wwithout hfﬁfH;#;;;;éht I could . nnt functioﬁ}’ Goldstein
knew all the files of the organization because he was essentially
a very, very highgrade clerk., EBEe krew what was on every piece of
paper. Such a2 man also thinks that without him, 2 new boss like
s S P e opgeEtEabl e

I 1iked them both and I appreciated them both and when I
came in I saw that what they wanted was promotion. I gave them
promotions and titles. I gave them promotions in money, partly
because I thought they deserved it and partly to appease them

and keep them gquiet, You have to do that in a big organization.
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Things were quiet for about five years. But all during this time
these two men were attempting to find the opportunity to assert
their authority over me and they found it. t was through zn

accident and they found the right moment,

Ae;
There was a friend of mirne whom I knew from Germsny. He wasL‘

T

woritiag witi iz Rabbi Phillip Bernstein's office, Major Abrahanm

Eyman, -l think he was working for the Jewish-RBestitution-Or-_ .
Sanlizatlion-in-New—Y¥orle, I decided that I wanted to bring him over
to the UJA because he was a very capable man, I knew his abilities,
I had worked with him. I decided I was going to bring him in as an
assistant for myself.

Temisia

I brought Hyman into the whole business in Cermany. &t the
time of the Landsbyrg Trial in 1946, I found Hyman in the Adjutant
General's Office, I was under instructions from Gemeral Clay to
bring the best American Army lawyer to defend the Jewish D.P.'s in
the trizl in Landsbarg. I went to the Adjutant Gerperal a2nd I szaid,
who 1s the best Jewish lawyer you have here., Ee said, I have a man
by the name of Captain Eyman and he is in charge of reviewing from
a legal point of view 21l courtnﬁ;:;:ials where the soldier has
been given a death sentence. Before we execute a soldier, we
have the best lawyer in the army revisw the whole case, That's
Hymzan,

I said I want him. I have to take him down to Landstearg in
Bavaria to defend these Jewish D.P.'s, by order of General Clay.
The Adjutant General said okay, I accept Gereresl Clay's orders,
but you have to convince Hyman, not me., I went to Eyman znd I said

I have to take you. He said oh, no, because I am ready to finish
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with the United States Army 2nd go home, If you are going to drag
me into this business, to start with these refugees, I won't get
out of here for five years.

I will jJump to the end of the story. Eyman finally left
Germany in 1951. He had stayed there for five more years; he was
rizht. He became the last one of the Advisors on Jewish affairs,
after Bernstein and Judge Leventhal, after all of them. He finally
closed up the office in 1951. Then when he came back to America
he went to w;rk for the Jewish Bestitution Organization and I wanted
to take him into the UJA. I got him in 1960-61. These two gentlemen,
Goldstein and Jacobs, came in and szid no, you may not take Hyman as
your assistant. I said I don't believe what you are tellins me. I
cannot take whom I want for my assistant? I sald I appreciated their
advice, but I make the decisions, not ﬁ&:ﬁ.

They then startsd a big political campaign, first wita the
chairman of the UJA, Morris gg;ﬁﬁé:;n. Trey won him over 5o their
side, Number twa was Mr. Warburg, the chairman of the JDC and they
won him over to their side, The argument they used with him was that
I was an irregular administrator. I didn't go according to the line.
If I wanted to maégzggwgésistant, I had to tzke one of them, not
somebody from the outside. Or I hg;% to take a candidate whom they
aporove of , not somebody who Yg unknown to them. Another thing they
said to %@E‘%as that I &8 too much of a Zionist and I 3% taking the
UJA too much in the direction of Isrzel and the gggﬁt wouldntt like
that. They brought up all the echoes of the old arguments between

ot T
the Joint, humanitarian, non-Zionists, UXA, pro-Zionists.
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Warburg accepted the argument. He came to me in all friendli-
ness and said, listen my boy, vou cannct run this thing without
Goldstein and Jacobs and they don't avprove of what you're doing.

I said Eddie, you have to give me one simple answer, thatis 211,
and then I will decide what to do. Do you think that this organi-
zation can be run by a troika, three pecopls? He said that's the
way it has to be. I said, fine, then you and I are on different
sides, because 1t has nothing to do with me. It has to do with
the general principle. An organization like this cannot be run by
a committee of three peaplef possible,

If T am too much of a2 Zionist for you, £oo—wed, get yourself
another fellow. But whoever runs thiézggé to be one boss not three,
otherwise you'll have anarchy. He said no, I don't agree, you
nave to have checks and balances on you., In the American systea,
we have three parts of the American government, the Executive, the
Legislative and the Courts, EHere we have three men, checks and
balances on each other., I said no.

Por almost one whole ye2ar the organization of the UJA began
to split down the middle with some lay leaders taking the side of
the JDC, and other lay leaders, without realizing it, began to
take the side, not of Friedman, but the side of Isrzel. It's
very interesting psychologically, how a2 small, intermal adaministra-
tive problem, which was notning, expanded into a huge ideclogical
problem and naving to take sides,

I said this is terrible beczuse I didn't want what hzppened

in '41, to happen in '6l. We were past those times., I explained
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very carefully to all of the lay leaders that = not trying to

hold onto this jJob, I couldn't care less. You people came and
said ycu wanted me. Now I'm not goling to threaten anything.

Goldstein and Jacobs had a threat. They were going to resign
if they did not win this fight. I said I'm not goinz to resign if
I don't win this fizht, and I'm not going to threaten you. I will
walk in and resign if I decide I want to resizn. I'm going to
fight to the end, but not to split the organization. I do not want
my vote orn the board of directors and I do not want my vote on the
executive committee.

By this time the Isrzelis were in on the fight. They were
nervous. They didn't want to have this Joint-Israell split take
place because the Malben was in gg;é'ﬁgggi and the Joint was
spending eight or ten million dollars a year of tﬂg;r money inside
Israel. The Joint was sperding a few million dollars for Shaul
Avigur in Bussian business and the Rumanian business. Almost three
quarters of the money of the Joint was coming into Isrzel or
Israel-connected enterprises. That's why it was already a false
argumsnt by 1961.

‘Pinally 1t came to a head. JO9sephthal was still alive and IT
think Dov Joseph was the treasurer of the Jewish Agency. The
chairman of the Agency in '61 was Sharett. Nzhum Goldmarm was
the president of the Zionist Organization. This argument went on
all year, FPFinally, Dewey Ston2, who was the chairman of the UJIA
or UEA,T%hataver it was galled in those days, the opposit;:g;kthe
Joint, was a wonderful man, He's still alive but I think he is

very sick, almost nearing the end, He didn!'t want to have a fight
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with Warburg, but he obviously knew that he had to support me.
When it came down to the end == I think it was in December 1961
at the time of the Naticnal Conference in the Waldorf Astoria
Hotel -- there was a climatic meetinz and Stone said to Warburg,
listen Eddie, we're not going to split the UJA over this thing
and that's all, Now Goldstein and Jacobs have to leave and we'lre
backing Friedman. Goldstein and Jacobs have put in their letters
of resignation, and I'm telling you that I accept them. We have
the majority of the votes and that's all there is to it. In this
partnership, the UJA is two thirds and the JDC is ome third. I'm
sorry, Eddie. I hope you won't walk away zngry andi I hope you won't
split the UJA., I cannot let this thing contimue, this arguing and
fighting, We've decided to stop it, to finish 1t. Your friend,
Mr. Bosenwald, who is also with the JDC, agrees with me that this
is bad.

Qe
Rosenwald agreed with you?

A.
Yes, sir. He was a JDC man. That was his nztural background, but
ne understood the principles of organization, that you cannot have
three bosses, He understcod that you 2ither have to have confidence
in your director or you fire him. EHe didn't want to btreak up the
UJA znd he simply said, as a businessmanymy number one executive is
more important to me than the number two or three or four executive,
We cammot get another one to replace Friedman so easily, but we can
get another bookkeeper. That's all, simple., I understand =211 the
nuances, but the health of the organization is more important than
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the personal ambitions of any two men.

¥Mr. Dewey Stone arranged a very, very lavish sevaration
agreepent for the two gentlemen and they walked away, I think,
with so much money, hundreds of thousands. It was finished.
Mr. Golstein went back to higlfhiend Schwartz in the Bend
organization and Mr, Jacobs went to work for the Yeshiva Univer-

sity as an accountant,

Bt
A,
Now we're talking about the crisis of 1967 which was before the

Six Day War. In the middle of May, I began to worry about a
feeling that I had. It was my own intuition which I 2lways seen
to havé in regard to war in Israel, I felt that we were coming
into the danger of war. I really felt it very keenly. I couldn't
get anybody to azree with me, but I decided that I had to make my
own prevarations, to lock through all of the books of the UJA to
see where I could get money quickly in case something should happen
quickly.

What I was looking for were those communitiss which owed s
large amount of money to the UJA from previous pledges. We
always had accounts receivable, Is—wesnot—a-orisisy—ncthins
wmusuais—eut—in-the-svent—of—roubls—3if I -had-Lo mobilizeguickly,

Iwenbted—Seo—tnow ghers o turm I 4id not want to entrust this
Job to anyone else, so I used to come to the office lzte at nisht,

alone, go through all of the accounts receivable., I mades up my

own peiFese 1little list of wnich communities owed us large amounts
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of money, which I thought we couli get in a hurry. There were
many communities that owed us a2 lot of money, but couldn't
realize cash cuickly. I don't care if tne whole world falls in.
It was a feeling of knowing where the money was and where we
could get it, those two things.

On May 20th, a Saturday nizht, I was sitting in the office,
all alons. You have to know what it is like in New York on a
Saturday night in an office building on the 29th flcor. The whole
building is dark. Noboyd's working on Saturday nizht, and you are
in the middle of all these @ark office buildings., I was in a
terrible mood beczuse I was getting more and more worrisd, I had
to make up 2 1list by now. I had in front of me about twenty-Iive
million dollars, That was all I saw that I could put my hands on
quickly and get within a matter of one or two days. I said, my
God, that's not enough if we really have trouble.

Suddenly, into my dark office on a Saturday night, walked
Michzel Arnon, Consul-General of Isrzel in the State of New York.
Later on he was the Secretary to the Cabinet, and now hels back
as the Director of the Bond orgzanization in New York. Ee walked
in with a coded cable from Eshkol, Ee had alresdy sone to my
house to zive it to me. Hy wife was very angry and said he's
not home, he's in the office. So he came to the office,

The cable from Eshkol said very simply that he was worried
about events in Isrszel and he was afraid of an outbreak of war.
It was May the 20th. Hs wanted to know if I could mobilize

twenty or twenty-five million dollars very quickly if necessary.

It was like mental telepathy. Here I was working on this exact
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problem and he was over there worrying about the same thing., He
even used the exact same amount of money that I had come up with,

I told Mike Lo give a coded answer that I'm coming over to-
morrow. There was no sense trying to talk about this. An oven
telephone line was obviously no good, and coded cables bapk-and
forth take toc long., I had a date with Sapir on the 22nd of May
ahyway to talk about the Keren Hachinuch, the Education Pund,
which we had started a couple of years earlier in 1964. I was
always calling Sapir about 1t and we had a tentative date which
I was not going to keep because on May 22nd I was thinking zbout
war, not about Keren Hachinuch. But now that Eshkol sent this
cable I decided I would jump over tomorrow znd derech agzv, QEES
keep the date with Sapir.

I left the next day, the 21st, and T arrived on the 22nd. I
walked into Eshkol's office which at that time was in Room 503
in the Dan Hotel., All the General Staff was in the Dan Hotel
and all of his closest advisors were there. They were living
in a few rooms. He wanted to get away from the Kiryzh and the
whole routine business of the government. That same day was the
day Nasser announced the closing of the Straits of Tiran.

When I walked into Eshkol'!s office I asked him why did you
send the cable? What zave you the feeling that you are having
to go to war? In America nobody acceopts it when I say 8o and
here in Isrzel nobody accepts it when you say so, beczuse novedy
accepted it when Eshkol began to warnm about it. FHe said, I'1l

Army CheE Chigair~
tell you one story that convinced me, J\G-r:u"a'n came to me with =
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request for dedicating a piece of land in Ramat Gan for a cemetery.
According to the estimate of the zarmy, they wanted to have a
plece of land for a cemetery, biz enoush for forty thousand graves.

[ =i

Forty thousand, because the army was thinking that, if there will

would

te a war, there will be mass bomb%ng of the big cities. When
Goren came in, two days ag&ﬁgi;;;éégﬁg sent you the cable. He
shocked me because he put into words what I was thinking myself,
Thnat!s how my mind was workinz, Now, today, Nasser closed Tiran,
so we know this and we are going to make a full mobilizatlon.

Babin was in Room 504, and just put his head in the door all
the time, saylng what do you want, what shall I do and taking
orders from Eshkol. I said I agreelwith ;3;, but now ftﬁ;ve to
convince my people in America. The campaign for 1967 is finished.
It's almost June, We have to orsanize an Emergency War Fund
C ampaign and I know that I'm not going to be zble to convince
them easily. I want to go down to the Sinzi border for two, three
days, myself. BHe called in Rabin and the latter wrote sore notes,
But I saild, when I have finished making my own investization, and
I am no biz military expert, then I must go back to America and
say I was at the borders of the Sinai. I saw the preparations
of the Egyptians,

To cut a long story short, I went down there and spent o

Ay lint
o™ three days. I went to Nitzana and across, frem that point., I
lonad
was with seme—guy who was the commznder of the artillery znd I

saw across the lire, over the green line into the Sinai. With

binoculzrs I saw long lines of Egyptian tanks standing there,
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I saw the mobilization, the boys sitting by the tanks in full
preparedness (Kemzmmzmil)., I traveled hundreds of kilcmeters,
as far as we could go{uﬁTJéggj:J;is, the Egypotians,

I came back to Tel Aviv and szid to Eshkol, I now have enough
knowledge to talk with authority. Give me a telephone line,
Jacob Herzog, I think, arranged it very cuickly. I got a good
connection right in Eshkol's room. He was sitting on the couch
eating-ﬁigzgaggigg_and sometimes sleeping, In the next room were
the army boys and alsc some of the advisors. Everybody was nervous
and tired, I started to call the naticnal chairman of the UJA
to get surport for the idea that we must call a nationzal emer-
gency meefing in New York city, call all the communities together
and declare a national war fund, an emergency fund, By this time
Eshkeol was not talking twenty-five million dollats, Ee and I were
trying to mzke an accounting. It was so silly, now that I look
back at it, almost a joke, Jacob Arnon, the Director of the
Treasury, was there and we were trying to talk zbout fizures,

How much is this war gzoingz to cost, depending on how many days
1t'11 go on ? It was sorme thing really bizarre. We came up with
apnother figure, sixty-five million dollars. So I szid we have
to have a fund for ore hundred million dollars.

How little we krnew zbout what war really costs, We didn't
know. I got no response from the leaders of the UJA in America.
They said I was crazy, hysterical, making propaganda. They said
there will not bte a war. All the facts I gave them didn't

convince them.



- 150 =
B, /1

All of them?

A,
Almost all of them, everycne I spoke to. The chairman of the UJA
was Max Fisher. He was not in the United States but in Athens.
After I finished all these televhone calls, I got on a plane znd
went to Athems that after_noon. Fisher was in the Hiliton Hotel with
a friend by the name of Nate Cumminss, a fantastically wealthy man,
hundreds of millions of dollars. He was the chairman of the cor-
poration called Consolidated Foods which owns 2ll different kinds
of food industries.

Nate Cummings had not given any money to Israel for fifteen
years because of some argument, He got angry once in the past and
nobody knew why. I was nervous and tense, I came into Fisher!s
room and said, lock, Max, Israel is going into a war and we, the

UJA, have to gzlvanize and mobilize the American Jews, If we don't

Liapetes o vy D 2RIV EPR

do it, we miss our historic duty. He said, you are oeras¥ . hi sald,
no, I'm not. You're the chairmsn., I am the executive vice chairman,
You and I have to make this decision. I've made 1t. I'm begging
you to come back to Tel Aviv with me this afternoon a2nd see Eshkol.
You must beccme convinced as I am convineced.

He szid no, it's imoossible, I'm here with my friend Cummings
and I'm waiting until tomorrow for my friend, Henry Ford. BHe is
coming from Bome znd we are going on a cruise of the Islands in the
Aegean. 1It's g vacation., My wife is in Rome with Mr.Ford znd his

wife and the three of them are coming tomorrow, so I'm nct Zoing to

<
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Tel Aviv. I hazd z terrible agrgument with him. I said Max, you
have a duty, a responsibility, and I pleaded and begged., I told
him how it ggii look if Israzel éggs into a war and the Jews of
America-;;; not warned or prepared by us, and we falle],
public man with a public responsibility, yrou—canlt-do-it.,

This other fellow, Mr. Cumminzs, was walking around in a
bathrobe during this whole discussion and he wanted to know what
$h45’ 3 211 about. I sald listem, I don't know who you ars, tut
do me a favor and stzy out of thls argument., Probably nobody hzad
ever talked to him like this in his life, I szaid if you want to
know what this is all about, this 1s about a war, Jewish fate, the
State of Israel, possibly getting hurt or defeated, the Jews of
America trying to help. We're talking about the most sericus things
in the world, war and peace, 1ife and death. If you want to get
into 1t, get into it, btut then you have to be constructive and tell
your friend Fisher thzt I need a few hours from him. I'll tzke him
over to Tel Aviv, let him talk to Eshkol for zn hour and we'll
bring nim bzck. By this time 1t was late at night,

Qe
Did Cummings reply?

A,
No, nothing. He said I just don!t knmow anything about this so I
will keep listening, but I will not get into the argument. You
are right. I will stay on the side,

That day, I think it was either 24th or 25th of May, there

was 2 revoluticn in Greece aznd the colonels took over the govermment,

b 15 -r_re;,J Aimr 'fb Fineae .

"A‘ s

o
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I was in the Hilton Hotel and I wanted to make a long telephone call
to the vice chairman of the UJA, Mr, Edwzrd CGinsberg, to revort to
him that I was not succeeding with Mr, Fisher and that we are going
to com® into a crisis.

My plan was, that if I could not persuvade Pisher, then I was
going to resizn, call a press conference and announce why I resigned -
because there 1is a default of leadership in the UJA. As long as I
stay on the Job, I cannct overrule the chairmsn, but when I am out
of the job I can do what I want., I am a free man and I will call a
oress conference in New York and will accuse the leadership of the
UJA of defaulting on their duty. I will cz2l1l on the Jews of America
myself to come to a nationzal conference-and they will core.

That same day was the 50th birthday of Edward Ginsberg and he
was having a birthday party in the Jewish coumntry club in Cleveland,
and I was in Athens, and the Colonels took over the country., They

closed down the post cffice and the televhcne lines. There were
five nzational chairmen present at Ginsberg!s birthday party so 1
can get the vote of six people.

Q.
How many nationzl chairmen were there?

A.
Twelve, which means if I have fifty percent, I have them 211, because
the other fifty percent are not going to argue. I spent 211 night
trying to make contact.

C.
Cculd they overrule Fisher?
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A,
Sure, the UJA doesn't have a strict parliamentary organization
which goes by vote. It never happened in my whole exnerience,
Never was a decision taken by a vote of eizht to four or seven
to three, it's a consensus

Qe
A typical American organization? Many of the leading American
orzganizations have a consensus. The ccnsensus even became more

important than the subject discussed.

A,
No, ﬁbat's not true, TQ%\UJA was not consensus.
'\\. .\t\ Qc
Bat the UJA, but other orzanizations.
:\ A.

\
\

Not consensus per se, but consensus in order to try to keep a good

\

Q. \
The Jewish Labor Committee, the American Jewish Committee, the Usmim 4

‘." C% (“Pm - N ‘M.L:y\ ==
American HebrewACcmg;egations, the =eil of HZObis, many times

workins team together.

preferred a conﬁ%nsus and rezlly stooped discussing a new volicy.
A,

No, not with us. |\

You agree?
\

\ A,

\
I think I zzree with you. I'm not too familiar with their
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nternmai—worktingsy—but—TI—think-generally you orobably are right,
—because‘tﬁ§§‘ﬁE?€*frghb&ng—ebanﬁipattcy’questions. /

//

were on technical questions. Snall we eall 2 speclal conference

o tertcin dutt~ Y 2y % ’
on Juxne-2nd? ’ rd. If two or three of the fellows

We never had p::iig/questions to,argue. Our arguments zalways

said, we 't believe there's going to be a2 war and we-d&dnitakd
>

want Fall a natignai conference. We will look stupid and we
t make a squgd campalign in the middle of the year.
I spent all nizht trying to get that telephone2 call throuzh
and I finally got it. The Greek censor didn't understand znd he
didn't want to listen. He had troops shooting and tanks taking
over the radio station. It was crazy. Finally, they Eave per=-
mission for the call and I svoke for over an hour on the pnone
to Ginsberg and tc all the .mational chairmen at this birthday
party. I told them I was zoing to try once more in the morning
with Fisher to get him over to Tel Aviv. If I could succeed, I
was coming back to Amerieca in a few days and they would have to
start now, to help organize a biz national meeting., If I didn't
succeed with Fisher, I would be back with them on the ovhone
tomorros from Tel Awlv and I was coming home to make this resizna-
tion and public statement,

We-slept for three or three hours, not much more znd then
We were up again, PFisher and I started to arzue again about
this. Finally he said okzy, I will zo to Tel Aviv with you.
And I told him that I thought that was really what a2 leader should

do and that I would try to explain to his wife and to Eenry Ford,
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wnom I knew. We are friends by accident because we went to Yale
college tozether and our names, Ford and Priedman, were together,
we sat togetaer in class, just b'mikreh. So I knew him opretty
well., To this day we are friends,

I said I would go to the airport with Fisher and we would
walt for them to come from RBome and I would explain to his wife
and to Henry that I had to take ¥ou away and they should 2o to
hotel and wait. When we are finished in Tel Aviv, we will come
back, He agreed., 3y this time, Cummings said to him iax, you
should zo. We will take care of everythinz, We willl nire the
cook and the band and the other things for the yacnt. We have
work to do for a day and we will wait for you.

I spoke to Margorie Fisher, HEnryt;sked what's the matter?
I sa2id there's going to be a war., Ee sald, you know, you're
probably rizht. I can feel something, and I don't know whether
we should be goinz on such a cruise now, at this time, but we zare
here and he continued with it. They were very nice, Max was
very relleved when he saw it was no oroblem with his friends and
with his wife. We went to Tel Aviv, to room 503 and we stayed
there all afternoon and all through the night. By this time,
Pisher was already beginnince to be in it.

Q.
They convinced him?
A,
Yes, he could sense the atmospnere and feel what was going on in

the room. EHe never left that rocom. I told nim a2gain, long stories
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about what I saw in the Sinai. I forgot to tell you one whole
part of the business witn Sapir and Abba Eban. Eban and I were
friends. Tnat week he went to France, England and America. He
got nothing,

He saw de Gzulle first and de Gaulle told him, if you fight
you lose France. He told that to Sapir and Sapir told it to me.
Eban went to England for a few hours and Wilson told him, what can
I do? ZEngland has no power. So he left and went to America. He
got a very interesting reaction from Johnson, which was that the
American government rezlly wanted to help, and the way to helo
was to try to get some other maritime powers to azree to mzke a2

convoy znd brezak up the Tiran blockade,

Asboiad
Eban «ds fellinc-us—this—on—the—tetephons+—ie—sald that
bk
Johnson asked him for three weeks to mzke a survey of zll the

pevel o cre o wanld +e joim o brfall, Thet
geat-maxy powers of the world, tkese—Shat-donlt aggres with—She

Tivav
blockade of ankx straits, ceasulf-beecuse L thiscan—bte—done against—
Tohnie~ Tra¥ o otdo
Fepasl if Ccapne—dene—esainst—rybody, Eban szid to ohts,
G e hiv~ let bfh\l.. M.. u-u-(f‘
Lhinicwe—heve three dayqﬂand came back to Isrzel. I told all this
to Fisher and Fisher cauzht the atmosphere.

We agreed on a plan. Fisher would go back to Athens the next
morning and zo on his cruise, I would gso back to the States and
with his aporoval we would phone everybody and call the nation to
a special meeting for a special emergency war campzaign., We didn't
sleep the whole night. Ee was very tired and ne fell asleep and

Eshkol fell asleep.

By this time one vobe had already passed in the government
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not to go to war, nine to nine. Of course, it was the first vote.
Trhat was the day we left. I think it was Sunday, which had to be
the 28th. We left Israel on the same plane, He dropped off in
Athens and I went on to New York. Those were the days from May
20th, when Mike Arnon first walked into my office until May 28th
when I came back to my office. That was 2 holiday week-end in
America, Memorial Day in memory of all soldiers killed in all the

wars, JlNobedylas—rerisdng

I got Joe Schwartz from the Bonds, Phil Bernstein from the
Council of Federztions and Eddie Ginsberg who hﬂaaailﬁaéj&ctins
Chairman of the UJA, mes—the Denutz Chalrman because Fisher was
on a boat in the Aegean., We made the decision znd we pushed all
of the buttons. We 1lit up every community in the country and there
was a great national conference on Sunday, June 4th,

By that time there was a vote in the government, sixteen to
two, to go to war. Everybody was saying, after Eshkol made that
radio speech, huw'he was stuttering and stammering gggihe was no
good, that he was too weak. Eshkol was a very strong man, from
my point of view, beczuse he understood before anybody that'&e
;éé going to war.

Q.
We were told in the army on a Priday, I think May 26th.

A.
The government vote on Sunday, May 28th, was nine to nine, full
mobilization. Sunday, June 4th there was a great meeting in

New York, the best top leadership, no arguments. Everybedy simply
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said, what!'s the assignment, how mucp, ?hat do we have to do?
We will help. At that time we o delezation of Pincus -a=d
Sapir and Laskov appointed by the army, the Jewish Agency and
the government::éoming to help. This was the delsgation of three
people that was going to make a blitz througn the United States,
as many cities as possible, every day. Nobedy knew the war would
come the next day, Monday June 5th.
Sunday, the 4th, we know that the army had been mobilized

for two weeks already, all civilisn industries were at a standstill.
The American effort had produced orly one country, Hcllznd, which
agreed to joirn a naval convoy. There was no way cut. Egyot was
fully mobilized., We met before the cabinet. There was seven
hours time difference, By early afternoon, the vote in New York
was okay. We had a national campaign teginninz immediately,
tomorrow. Six, seven hours later, the word cazame zbout the cabinet
vote, And still, to tell you the truth, even I was surprised.
When the cabinet was finished, it was midnight, Sundzay in New York.
I didn't hear about the attack, only about the vote,

Q.
You d4id hear zbout the vote?

A,
I hezard about the vote, Why za2re you sBurprised =zt that, was it a
secret?

Q.

A top secret. You were all surprised. It could kill the whole

overation?
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A,
After the czbinet vote, I still did not thlnkﬁg;'would come the
next morning. I was as surprised as everytody else, because 1
thought we still had a few days to work. |

I got a telephone call in the middle of the night from Pircus.
He was sleeping in the Essex House Hotel, fifty yards from where I
lived., He called and said, I just got word that war started.

Where is Sapir? I said Sapir is in the 2ir on the way down to
Buenos Aires. He sald, where is Laskov? I said he is in the air
between Chicago and Miami, BHe said, you have to get word to them
both. I said I will, but let's get together. 1In fifteen minutes

I was up and dressed znd we were talking at‘ggg o'eclock in the
morning, drinking coffee, trying to fizure out how to make the plan
work for the following few days. I certairly didn't expect war
irmediately.

A few hours later we reached Sapir. He was already in Buenos
Alres and said he was zoing to continue with his mission beczuse
there::'nothing he %3% do if he.é;;; back to Isrszel and the most
important thirg for him % to try to get scme money. Las€ov said
the reverse, that he f%g-l-s he had to g0 back a2s a General. Iths~+
act so important for him to et momey. He had to help in the fight-
inz, That afternoon we got him a plazne frém Miami to Lendon and
Tel iviv.,

Pincus decided to stay ard so he and Sapir continued te go

from city to city. I was with them. Never mird that whele story,

we can tell 1t some other time, but the lmvortant thinzs was the
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teginning., Fisner . stayed on the boat, I think for the whole five
days, six days of the war. Ee televhoned. He got a vhone call
through from the boat that he hopea'we 5@2 doinz well and he en-
couraged us and will be coming hope as scon as ne can. He hoves
Ginsberg fg doing a good joo. Nate Cumqings QSEEGPto give a
hundred thousand dollars and Henry Foréf;antaéto give a hundred
thousand dollars, They were listenins on the beat radic to what
was happeninz every day of the war.

The UJA headguarters was turned into a war room. It was a
fantastic thinz. I'm sorry we don't have a vnotogrzph to describe
the teletype machines and the telegraph machines znd the cvpen
telephcne line, a blg fantastic switchboard built into the room
of the board of directors. I was sitting at my desk wearing the
canvas Australian hat, with the big 'ZAHAL' on the top. I brought
it home with me,

Men were flying in from all over the country zsking for
assignments -- what do we do, where do w2 o, who do we see? The
televhone company brought in fifty telephones to the big rcem
of the board of directors in a matter of two, three hours. We had
twenty-five lines on the switchboard, but we brouzght in fifty
extra trunk lines. Every man cculd nave a straizht line out,
without raving to zo through the switchboard.

One of the mea on my staff was sitting next to each Eﬁéﬁ“‘
giving hix names of pecple to call. They said, I'm calling from

the UJA headquarters in New York. The following is the latest

report we got today from Tel Aviv., Now I want from you z hundéred
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thousand dollars, yes or no, fast, I have a lot of veople to call.
t went like this, like a machire,

Q.
Did you receive negative answers?

A,
Sure, when you are dealing in such a volume, thousands and thousands
of people, you got some peovle who %3; I'm not going to give Fyou
any money. 1'm not in azreement with this. Israel is the aggressor.
Isrzel coculd have started World War III. I don't agree with it,
forget it and he hangs up. You Qgée such cases. Ycu h;¥% other
cases of peovle who say we just finished the 1967 campaign. I gave

Gnvm e

fifty thousand dollars and I haven't got i% to zive, anymere, SO
the fellow on the phone is ééﬁﬁfﬁg with them, but 1f he rezally égé%
there.i% nothing doing, he had to stop because he must Zo on to the
next man,

The more common thins was the number of stories of veople
r.ml;ir.-'mf-: o

who went, overboard;"a meeting held in = synagogue or in a2 community
center the Jews &ré gathered together and the black men who is the
Janitor of the building g;;ﬁ I want to zive my ten dollars , z2nd

the man who ie outside cutting the lawn wanted to give his ten
dollars. There were non-Jews, Jews, voor Jews for whom the regular
campzign was never crganized. The UJA was rever z mass czampaign
reaching down to the last Jew, but in the war this Jew who was
never asked by the UJA or the Federstion, came forward and brought
his ten dollars, twenty dollars end his hundred dollars. 3ar
mitzvah boys bringing in all of their money or going out to try to

sell the presents to getr money; the book, the fountain pen, the
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violin znd the shirts.

A,

No book has been written with all of these human interest stories,
but I have a Jjourrzl in my archives of as many as we cculd rememter
of this time. Everyone knows, in general, now the Jews resvonded,
but these 1little episodes in particulzsr -- the woman who brings in
her ring -- literally hapvened., In every city the Federation had
a big tzble in the lobby of its office building, community center
or synzzogue. This was no regular event, This was everything
havrening, people volunteerinz, The UJA znd the Federaticns did
not conduct a campaign in the war of 1967 in the normal sense of
the word. The Jews gave money, the Federations and the UJA took
the money and gave some 1little kelp. We kept them up-to-date with
wnhat was happening in-Israel, We sent spezkers to them very quickly.
Lots of pecople came rurnning over from Isrzel. Even when the war was
finished, the campaign for the money wasn't over in six days. It
went on 211 the month of June risht up to the beginning of July.
I would szy the campzign took four, five weeks to finish., During
that time, we provided them with sveakers, zenersls who came from
Isrzel. I made audio-visual tzves. So it's not fair to say we
didn't do anything, but basically, the Jews 4id 1t themselves by
their own initiative and by their own feeling of excitement.

I think that the human interest stories are z very good foot-

note to the whole thinz; veorle who brousght versonal vossessions
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to cash in; pecople who went to the bank to take a mortage on
tke house to get money. All this is true, it all haprvened. People
who Just bought a new automobile took it back to the dealer and
said, give me some money back for the car, I don't want the car,
He sazid, but it's a used car. wine, I will lose something on 1t
but zive me back the most you can give me. I want to give the money
to Isrzel. Hundreds and hundreds of stories like this, which showed
the high degree of commitment and identification of the Jews, and
the non-Jews in America.

That's the story of how we got into the '67 yzax war. I think

it is a whole chapter by itself. It—Ptegins—withlFonday;—June—5th,
and again - biaikreh, by accident the - New Iork -etty-cam:argns*-
“’Plf. Fda misw Ca€n T b gy W -

-alweys-later. New York Clty had a meetmg, schedul“d. many YoniE -
beforéjﬁonday, June 5th, one of a normal series of meetings in their
calendar held in the Waldorf Astoria, a luncheon meeting, Business-
men coming in very quickly. The whole meeting z;isuppcsed to last
one, on2 and 2 half hours so they CanJao mack to work. The meeting
was scheduled and people had been invited weeks znd weeks earlier.
We had the room reserved. It was one of those incredible things.
The war started that day and that meetins turmed into the first
war campaign meeting znd I think we did somethins like fifteen
million dollars of new money in a matter of an hour.

I svoke for ten minutes, Pincus spoke five minutes, the chair-
man of the New York City campaign, Jack Weiler, spokd five minutes

and the people started standing up 211 over the room Jjumping, waving

their arms and yelling. You couldn't hear. The hardest thing was
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to keep only one voice talking, so you could merx everythinz down,
because some guy's yellinz twenty thousand and another guy's

yelling fifty thousand and ne doesn't give nis name, The secretarias
;:; going crazy, because they wantito know the named Three and four
people were yelling at one time, It was pandemonium, but I don't
think we miss8@d anythinz. We had a lot of secretaries working so

I think we caught e wrything.

We went on airplanes and nad meetinzs with Jews at five ofclock
in the morninz =2t some airport. We alwsys tried to have meetinss at
the airport, to brinz the Jews who should come to the airport. Then
we could stay an hour and go to the next city. We ran those whole

six days. We didn't sleep,

That's the end of the '67 story.
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A.

As to your aquestion about the big givers and who has influence on
them, the local Federation or the National UJA, it is 2lways a
combination of both things, I think from an historical point of
view you have to say that at the beginning, when the number of big
givers was very small, the relationship was 211 between the UJA
and the blg givers. The UJA develoved the biz glvers, cultivated
them, kept in touch with them, influenced them, inspired them and
solicited their gifts.

Qe
Directly?

A,
Directly. When I first came into the UJA, we had 400 biz givers,
each giving aponat 310,00‘5?: -11: ‘the whole United States of America,
including New York. I knew each one of those 400 people personally,
and all the lay leaders of the National UJA also knew them. They
were all connected with the nztional organization and influenced by
the national organization. Very few peopls in the local communities
could get a gift of $10,000 or above.

As the thins grew, developed and expanded, and the local
Federation became stronger and the professional executive directoers
learned thei> business better, pretty soon the loczl influence cn
the biz givers began to be at least ecqual to the National UJA

influence. Today,I think the formula is reversed. Now you have
net Yoo

2l
maybe 10 or 15,000 people, who are giving asest $10,000, -nes—400-
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Here, the influence 1s always from the local side, bescause the
National leadership cantt reach 10,000 or 15,000 peopls. They

can reach one or two or three thousand, so I think that the situation
is reversed. I think the major influece on most of the ©big givers
is probably from the local Federation.

I'l]l make only one reservation. The influence of the UJA is
still the more important of the two at the very tobp. Wnen you talk
about gifts of $100,000 and up, then I would have to say that the
influence of the national UJA today is probzbly still the strongest.
The higher up you Zo in the zmount, the more you need the nationzal
organization to work on the man. He must relate to some Nationzal
or even International program, like a mission to Israel and this has

the major influence on nim.

Q.
How 1s the money divided? Let's say a man gives $100,000 to the UJA,
A.
Nobody ever gives a dime to the UJA,
Q.
To the Federation?
A,

Always. DNew York City is the only place where the money is giwen
directly to the New York UJA znd two years ago the New Xork UJA
made a merser with the local Federation. No money comes directly
to the UJA.

who

You have asked me about/influences the big giver. As far as the

question a2bout relationships between New York and Nztionzal, this is
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always a question of great tensicn, zlways was and I suppose it
still is. The national UJA creates prozrams and tries to get

local communitiss to take them. New York is another local cémmunity,
New York says tc the National okay, we think we can take tnis
program, It may bte a film, a2 sveaker, an i1dea for a cash conference
or whatever the Nationzl 1s suggesting.

But sometimes New York says, look we are an exception, not
like Dallas or Atlanta and what you are suggesting won't work, Then
biz tension develops, beczuse New York says no and National says,
if you won't do this in New York how can we persuade them to do it
in Philadelphia? You must help us co serve as a model for other
pleces, There is always tension back and forth.

Secondly, there is a question of the independence of lNew
Yorkers., New Yorkers have a very big ego. That is a very important
psychological fact. New York is the center of the nation,net
Washia=bten and New Yorkers think that they know everything better
than anytody else, Even though the National office is located in
New York City, it doesn't consist of New Yorkers. On the Board of
the National UJA are people from all over the country. To New Yorkers
they are provincials and who are these provincial peovle to tell us
what to do. It was always a sericus problem.

Q.
From the beginning it was a problem in spite of the merger between
the Federation and the UJA?

A.
That doesn't make any difference, It probably even mzkes it worse,

makes the tensions even more difficult. The New York UJA has a split
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personality. It wants to help the National UJA because New York
UJA 1s all for Isrzel. Orn the other hand, it doesn't want to be
pushed around by the National UJA, because it knows better. I
would say that on the whole, the relatlcns are basically very good,

but not easy.
Whenever some big thing comes along, like masking the first loan

from the insurance companies or from the banks, Naticnal UZA has to
get the New York UJA to help, because the provircial opeople on the
National UJA have connections with their banks in their own cities,
but the banks of America are all concentrated in New York. You
need New Yorkers to go to the New York banks to begin the whole
overation., Then the bank in New York tells the bank in Cleveland
to do something or tells the bank in Los Angeles to do something.
You always have to start with the New York btanks. The New York UJA
zlways cooperates with the Naticnal UJA.

I am giving you one exzmple where there is no téension, when
the New York UJA realizes that out of "Noblesse Oblige," it must do
something because it can do it better than anybody else. I gave
you ancther example where the New York UJA said, leave us alone.

We know better than you do about what to do. So in answer to your
question about the relations between New York aznd Nationzl, they
are normal relations of love and hate, sometimes good and sometimes
tad.

Q.
They were not the same relations you had with Cleveland, Detroit

or the other Federations? Was there z difference beczuse of the
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bigness of New York znd the special influence of New York?

A,
I would say that the one basic difference was that the Naticnal
UJA always said to the New York UJA, you should understand better
than anybody, because you are here in New York, because you are
not a Federation, because you don't have to worry about local
problems and you don't have to appease anybody who is anti-Zionist,
You hzve no anti-Zionists ,‘f_&fe" Na’tf;gal used to say to New York,
vlease take the lead, take the biggest quota, say you will send the
most people on a mission. But they never sent anybody on a mission.
Sometimes they would take the biggest quota but they wouldn't put
anybody on the mission, because they wanted to make their own
mission. Sometimes you have cooperation, sometimes you don't. The
National UJA could never believe that it hzd the New York UJA in
its pocket. t was a separate, independent organization which would
very often refuse to take any suggestions from the National.

Q.
Most of the general chairmen were not New Yorkers?

A,
No, beczuse the UJA tried very hard to give a national lcok to the
UJA.

Q.
You 414 it intenticnally?

Sure.
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Qe
Not a single New York general chairman of the UJA?
Vs theraealou Wahng, cossmwatd = Aot we Thicd g i
Yew t2y to avoid a New Yorker as a generzl chairman if zou eanm find
aomebody else outside. The only people picked from New York were
Yarburg and Rosemweld;—pecause—theyrwere from the aristocracy. But
when ycu got down to the ordinary "Rabinovich" and if you have =z
Rabinovich from New York or a Rabinovich from Cleveland, you take
somebody from Cleveland rather than New York, because the rest of

the courntry has an antagonism zgz2inst New York,

I don't have to tell you, you czan see 1t now, in the bankruptey
of New York. The whole nation couldn't care léés if New York goes
bankrupt. The whole mnation hates New York., It was always this way.
In order to have good relations with the rest of the nation it is
better for the UJA if a chairman is from Baltimore, Cleveland or
Detroit. UYWe talked atout having chairmen from Los Angeles, even
though it was so hard because of the distance, The principle was:
have somebody from ocutside.

You asked some questions about relationships between the UJA
and Federation directors. Thaése relations were always very, very
difficult. It was a question of persuasion. The UJA couldn't
give any orders to the Federation directors, btut could only versuade
them. A huge amount of the time of the National staff of the UJA
and lay leaders of the UJA was spent trying to convince local

Federation directors to o along with a certzin prozram or a certain

policy.
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We used to call meetings of the exscutive directors, sS—-cur_
expense, We sometimes tried to tring them all together from the
wnole country or sometimes we would make four regicnal meetings.

Je would go to them and explalin thzt we wanted tec do some program --
we are brinsing over lMr, Levi Eshkol and we want him to have four

big meetings around the country and we want ycu men to cooperate.
We tried to brinz them in as partners. They were not employees.

We couldn't order them. We tried to make them equal partners in
the planning and this was 2 psychologlical process of trying to keep
good relations with them.

G e

Sometimes they would refuse. ﬁhen I was going to start the
Young Leadership movemeﬁi;ﬂ& wrote a letter to 211 the executive
directors, explaining what I wanted to do. I asked them if they
had any names of candidates to suggest. I checked in 533 files
the other day. Almcst every executive director in the country
wrote me a‘}etter, told me it was a terrible idea ard they refused
to JT‘T$!%O I did it without them and now every executive director
in the country will tell you how wonderful the Young Leadership
program is, beczuse it %ﬁgé him all this?%gﬁer to work with.
Qe
Henry Montor told me that in his time he tried to orgzanize,'the
bizg cities UJA committees ocutside the Federation. Did you do 1t?
A,
Ne.

Qe

It was not done later?
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A.
No. I never tried 1t either. He talked about it and thought
about it, and he rezlly wanted to do it. He wanted to break the
UJA away from the Federation, beczuse he did not like the Federation
as his partner. He dildn't want to share money with them and he
didn't believe that they were Zionist enough. He used to make g
bluff 211 the time, that he was going to form a committee znd run
a separate UJA campalgn, apart from the Federation. That means a
fight, beesusevi—the—same—Asicrim, If you go tohii}ee:‘;'}:': and he'!s
working for the Federation, and you tell him you want him to work
only for the USA campaign committee, he says no, I'm not going to
work twice. I don't agree we should have two campaigﬁégqgéﬁis was
a dream of Montor, but he never really d4did it.
g Q.
How did you deal with the problem? You always had a fight with
the directors?
A,
As I told you, the relations were very, very difficult. There was
fighting all the time. We tried to persuzde them and sometimes we
couldn't. Then we would get into a fight. |
Then your next question was what's the relationship between
the UJA lay leaders and the Federation lay leaders. You can't
gereralize., It is a very big subject and we don't have time, so I
am making generalizations for you ncw, but I don't like to. Every

generalization has to bpe broken down.



- 175

On the matter of the UJA leaders and Federation leaders I
would say probably there was also arguing. e National UJA staff
%@gag%ing to persuade the local Federation director to do something.
They have troubls., What does a UJA staff man do -- a regional
director, an area director, city director, what does he do? He calls
his UJA lay leader. He might say I'm having trouble with this
executive director. I have orders to try to get a2 big cash con-
ference going in June and I am supposed to try to persuade Chicago
to send 50 people to this cash conference. Chicago nas 5 million
dollars outstanding. They must get to work on their cash collectioms,
so we want thelr people to come to this conference to get a1l the
inspiration, the instructions to zo back and collect the casn. The
director in Chicago doesnlt want to do it. He said to leave him
alons, He didn't finish his campaign yet and he camnot bother about
sending socme people to a National conference in Atlantic City. tht
shall I do?

The UJA staff man calls a UJA lay leader znd says, do me a
favor. I'm rot getting anywhere with the executive director. Iou
call up the President of the Federation, lay leader to lay leader,
and explain to him what we are trying to do. Put the pressure on.
Tell 2aim that his executive director is not cooperating. Tell him
to interfere, to do the best he can.

Yes, you went behind his back. Ybu':;? to get one lay leader
to Eﬁ&%é"ké*a another lay leader. You fouzht with a2 prefessionzl
as a professional and you didn't zet anywhere, ﬁ%& you seﬁ# one

lay leader of yours, a2g2inst one lay leader of nis. So the relations
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also were not z2lways the best, although lay leaders didn't zet

into such bitter fights as the professionals did, because it 1s

‘Ij'\‘?i
not «is bread and butter. He doemnlt-take it with the same kind
if-Hitlghavuthr;zmd e~ s not—so—committed.-

National UJA lay leaders fought a2nd argued znd intervensd
with Pederation lay leaders and the relationsaip tetween them was
better than professionals when they would get into a fight, tut the
relationship was still one of pressure. That is the best word vo
describe the relationsanilp. UJA lay leaders were always pressuring
Federation lay lezders.,

You asked about the relat;onship between the UJA and the
Council of Federations. The Council of Federations, in my Jjudgment,
always was a weak orzanizzation. It could not control its own members
and didn't try to. From the philosophical point cf view, it didn't
need to or believe it should control or direct or give instructions.
The Council of Federations only thousht of itself as 2 clearing
house, as a service and fact finding agency. The Council of Federa-
tions would say to the local executive director:we don't know. If
you're fighting with the UJA about how to divide the campaizn, what
percentage and you are asking B for advice, we will tell you what
the figures are, how the money 1s divided in Clevelznd, Boston or
Denver, but you decide yourself what you want to do. The UJA used
to try to zet the Council on its side but never could succeed 1007.

Q.
You sometimes succeeded in emergencies?
A,

o C«l\naci\ % F‘&-af'\mq oy T a
Very rarely. I would call upﬂand say, I am havinglahterrible W pL
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with the director in Los Angeles on whatever the issue is. Can you
help me? He would ask, what do you want me to do? I said I want
you to call him up and give him hell, cr I want you to call him up
and tell him Se.pleassi cooperate with me. I want you to call him
and explain to nim why it is so important because he 1s not listening
fo me anymre. Maybe he will listen to you. He would say:I cen't
tell him what to do., I'll eall him and try to find out what is
bothering him, I said I know what is bothering him. I'm oressing
him, that's what's botherirs him. Don't act like a social worker.
Ee would say, well, I don't know.

I am answering your question; would he ever intervere? Very
rarely. And therefore the relationship between the UJA and the
Council was always full of struggle. I fought with the Council for

a long time in the early years over the question of dividing the
money and I also fouzht with them on the question of what the
priorities are, in the local communities.

I said, you are taking away tob much money for local needs in
the local community. You don't need these large community centers
and you certainly don't need these Jewish hospitals. They are not
Jewlsh anymre and the govermment pays for hospitals anyway so you
don't need to take so much money. I fought with them for a long
time, maybe five, six, seven years, Fisher tried to get me to reduce
my fighting with them a2nd to be more diplomatic, so for z few years
I wasmore diplomatic.

Qe

Toward the Council or the Federation?
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A,
To the Council of Pederations. I tried to develop Joint projects

with them. Before the National UJA would make a d=scision abogt a

"*'n :‘i--kt' y 1-.'1'.4:'1 e.eln

quota for next year, laeks nave-‘ Ediﬁg_meeting with the Council
of Federations and discuss with them what the gquota should bte next
year. In order to do that, sometimes I would be a good politician
and I would say to the Council, why don't you invite Br,., Dov Joseph
to come to the Council meeting, not to UJA meeting, or invite the
treasurer‘of the Jewish Agency to comes to a2 council meeting to
explain why Isrzel needs, or why the UJA needs so much money.

What I tried to get from the Council Y8 ons of two things:
one was a haskama (aporoval). hf- the UJA next year zou wantuto
raise the quota oS30 WIITIOn, so in every community there will «:.ld
be pressure to raise more money, more pressure to take som2thing
away from the 1c:~c:al;"L uﬁ‘gﬁa%”%e;;ﬁeldom would they do that,
so théfg;gt thing I 3EﬁiE?§Et from them was thatt:; don't disagree, <.
R dontt rignt s2E sew.

Q. '

But then you had to have a fight between the UJA and the

sl
Jfederation?
It would depend on the federation director or the Federation Lay
Leader or the president to get them to change the quota.

A,
Ut wnele!
That's the picture more or less. Either %e try to zet approval

ﬁ« e (9‘%-4:.[ e
(haskama chiyuMit) from Shem, or if you couldn't get that, to get «f “*7

what I callda hunting license, so that € could go to the local
o
comrunity ani hunt for‘ﬁr money without their fighting.
Q.

They wouldn't take them in their fight?
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A,
No. They believed that the Council of Federations would retreat
to a position of neutrality.
Q.
But today they are members of the large Jewish Agency.
A,
All this 1s after I left the UJA, so I am really not 2ble to comment

on that, I think that their membership in the large Jewish Agency
is very sincere on their part, but I alsc think very mesaningless

as far as action is concermed. The UJA still has terrible problems

with the Council of Federations or so I hear from second hand reports.
Q.

That's really a means to sonvince them - to be more into the business?
A,

Yes, to drive them, to pull them in,
Q-

In order to get them to be responsibvle, sitting in the Council of

the Sochnut?

So what?
_ Q.
You don't think it made any difference?
A.
Not much, Again we're talking generalities., With some men it makes
a difference ani they then influence their cities, but with other
men, it doesn't make any difference. Thagy . ore xwary o0ld, There's

the whole guestion of the relztionship between the UJA and the synagozues.
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Q.
The relations of the three synagozue crganizations and their rcof
orzganizations?

A,
The UJA had no relationship with any of those. Wiihr—the—nstional
G3K I created somethinélga:l:d the";;g;inical advisory council and
putﬁrabbi$ on the staff to work with & national council of 25 or

s« P

30 rabbis, each time changing the chairmsn from reformqﬁfﬁﬁa”"

\\n vetatiem,

orthodox smd—sc-ca. All this to do what? To influence the local
rabbli in the local congregation that he should work for the local
Federatiorn/UJA campaign. That was the purpose of it. I was not
interested in getting fesolutiens frem the rocof organizations, because
what are the roof organizaticns? I told you before I was a practical
man and if something had no meaning I wasn't goins to bother with it.
Ce
I was told by local Federation people tnat they had their own fizht
with the rabbis. The rabbis didn't want to support, not only the
UJA, but even the federation campaign,*?S‘they were making their
own campaignafor-%EE'g}nagogueaaad-the;—dida#t-a&lau—an$bod¥—éas
A,
That's not really true any more. That is an exaggeraticn that may
describe some loczal situation which i1s very bad, Bas where there is
a fight., I would put it to you historically this way,; rizht after
World War II, there was an expansion in the local community of all
local services, Hospitals were being built, comrmunity centers,
Jewish Pamily Agencies $o take care of refugees coming to America.

Trere was a big expansion of local services which tock a lot of money.
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At the same time, After World War II there was zn expansion of
religiocus buildings in America and great numbers, hundreds and
hundreds of synzzogues were built, some of them costing as much
as 37 and 38 million. It's hard to believe but it's true,
Qe
After ten years they were moved ocut by the blzcks.
A,

Bight, and after ten years the community centers alsc had to move
out beczuse of the blacks. Inside of a community we had the
religicus establishment working against the Federztion estzblishment.
Why were they working zgainst each other? Beczuse they were not
working tcgether. They were not working together on anythirg, not
on community education, not on fizhting against anti-Semitism. There
was no area in which they were working together and there were many
areas in which they were working sevarately.

Over the periocd of 25 years a deep antagonism develoved and
the director of the Federation complained against the rabbi; he is
no good, he doesn't care, he makes a sermon that he loves Israel,
but he won't help the campaign and then the local rabbi preaches
a sermon he would love to help the campaizn if 211 the money went
to Isrzel, but he is not going to help the campzaisn if so much woney
stays loczlly. Then the Federation director would attack him agzin
and say, what i1s the rzbbi talking about? He is keeving money here
locally. lMany millions of dollars he kevt here locally, building
his local synagosue.

So you see there are fizhts going on between ther for many
years. DNow for the first tirme, in the last two or three years, there

is a2 committee tryinz to bring understanding between the synagosue
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and the Federaticn. The Council of the Jewish Federations is always
talking with Natioral religiocus orgaznizations. PFhil Bermstein 1is

zoinz to spezk in June in San Francisco at the Naficnal Conlerence
of Reform## Rabbis, to try to make shalom b'beit.

Q.
You don't believe 1it?

A,
No, I don't. Because you have bullt-in tensions and because the
tzbbis are wrong and the Federations are wrong. Both of them zre
wrong. But the antagonisms are so deep now that I don't know how
you can overcome them without some really revoluticnary leaders
coming into the picture and saying that everybtody must forzet their
old antagonisms.

In Montor!s days he thought it was a real question, but itgs
not a real question today. Thatl!s why I szay that the Federations
are wrong to bte suspicious of the rabbils and the rabbils are wrong
to be suspicious of the Pederstion. I always believel in trying to
be a bridge between them and to try to tring the local rabbis into
the work of the local Federaticn. I always try to say to the loczl
Federation people to use the rabbils, not just to zive a "trachz®
at some dinner and yem waste his whole evening. He sits there arnd
rekes cne "brzcha” znd he wastes four hours, so then he is anzry,
Use‘the rabbi for somethirg much more serious than that. Use him
to start a2 study group inside the Federzticn or to solicit members
of his consregation, to mzke a sveech on behalf of the Federation
in the pulpit. Use him as the chairman of the campaign. We had

- Loral Tedasatiom
many rabbls who tecame successful chairmen of the campaign.
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Q.
The Federation campaign?

A,
Federation, UJA. The Federation campaizn is the UJA campaign. It
is synonomous. It is the same thing. I have been preachingz for =z
long time about rabbls beccming executive directers of the Federation.
It should be a man with a Jewish background, not Just a soclal worker,
I managed to get two me? into position after I left., I still had
some influence, I helped to get two rabbis into vpositions as
executive directers in the community, ore in Eouston and ocne in San
Francisco. I think they are succeeding.

I keep telling the rabbinical organizations that theéy should
infiltrate into the field, beczuse there is a terrible lack of man-
power and the Jobs are good jobs, important Jjobs. It is the central
job in the commurity (Kehilla) and the man who is trained as a rabbi
with a2 good Jewish backzround could help a2 great deal to develop
the loczl community. If we had 30 or 40 rabbis in those jobs as
executive directors, I think a tetter job would be done. I give
this as an example of what I think should be the test relationship.

Q.
What did you really create in the National UJA? The specizl depart-
ments dealing with the synagogues and the rabbils, what are they doing?
A,
I created something called the 100% plan. Every rabbi was supposed
to take his membership list and check with the contributor list of
the Federation to make sure that every one of his members‘gg a
contributor to the Federation/UJA campaign. 100%. I based it on

the theory that if a man is =2 member of a synagogue, vcluntarily
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nobody Foroed nim, and he pays 3200, $300, S400 dues svery year,
how 1s 1t possible that such a man should not give any morney to
the rederation campaign? How can a man be a2 member of a synagogue
and not give Isrszel any money? The answer is that nobody asked
him.

He is a Jew, a good Jew. He Joins the synzgogue and he
volunteers. I am sure if somebody asked him he would give his morney
to the campaign. I supposed that the individuzl Jew is okzy. He
is not the probtlem. The provlem is the organization which doesn't

go to him. If the rabbi would go down Zm his membership list and

see§ Shissuy—ts—sizing §100-83066-—3100-1200, 3500,.31,000,.
. Py : EE VY RS
2265900 —z= T LW paras 7 il apeae C-.":'F‘«'r-?" IS RAVERS | BTG 5 R R A
% ] H . L 6 ]
Suddenly vou find a Jew who is not givine, The rabki should

- Z =2

Dah it - -

go to kim or apvoint a committee of the board of directors to zo
to him and say, my gocod friend Mr, Goldstein, you are a member of
E&kcongregation. We have a plan. We want 100% of our members to
be contributors to Israel and you are nct. I am sure somebody
overlocked you., So we are here on dehalf of the synagogue. We want
you to contribute to the campaigh. I think you should contribute
$1,000.

The first synagogue in America that ever achieved success
with 1007 of its members, was a synagcosue in Los Angeles. The ratbl
was an Orthodox fellow, Simon Polzin, who now lives in Ramat Eshkol.
}blgin was very proud and I was very proud, We becamre good friends
even though he was orthodox and I was reform. The point is that
you had 3,000 synsgogues in America and I gave instructions to my

Rabbinital Ravsery
NationalACommittee; you have to work in 211 of your circles to try
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to make sure that every member of every syrnagozue 1s giving some-
thing -- 1004, First we did research whicn showed that atout 6073
of the members of congregations were not giving any monsy.

Qe
When did you begin it? '63, '64?

A,
Sope~ie 1o o Lot we
Yos-, the middle sixties. In '64 A started the Keresn Hachinuch
(Education Fund). I never started two thinss in one year. *In '63
I started the Young Leadership cabinst. I—Fou-lhave a-synagogue
whers L07-ef—thepeoplie—de—net—conbribute;—you—want—to-brins—it—to—
1004, Even if you only brinz it ko 80%;-you StIIT dcublsdi—

Qe
You had rabbis, reform rabbis, ortnodox rabbis and conservative
rabbis, dealing with their own congregations?

A,

A elf Bvam e co chbdewtm — oL e <l aen pa¥ ..c’-«-mw~h'o--tnff-o
Yes, 4&&&4&%3?4&“&—5&&—*@e-woulﬂ_bg_ﬁhe chairman was a a rabbi by the’
~Rane _of-Racimer;—=well-lmown arthodcox rabhbi.
To finish this, I don't kmov how to judze the success of tails

rabbinical operation. All I know is that it increases the number

of contributors all the time and it i1s another chammel by waich to
get at people in a community. I don't know hcw effectively it is
workinz today, but I know in theory the 1dea is correct and it nas
rroduced lots and lots of new money and rew contributors, Its
potertial is really unlimited. The by-product of what you gain from
thig:lgrﬁnlimited, beczuse if you work at it very nard, soor=r or

later you will wipe out the fighting between the rabbis and

Federations. If you can get the rabbis involved in helving with
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the campalgn, then you reduce their antagonism.

The pederatlon, Af ;;s smart will involve the rabbl. How
nany ha#e—you‘“ﬁt‘IETt” vou talk about three, four, five men, in
gia town. You can't fight them doing something that will zet them
involved. You have to be pretty stupid not to figure out how to
involve four or five people, tem in a large city.

New York City nad a different relationship with the synagogues.
New York City had a2 specific synagogus division as a fund-raising
tool, like a trade and industry division. You raise money from
doctors' meetings and from dentists at dentists' meetings and you

raise money from synagogue members at synagogue meetings.

Qe
There was no duplication?

A,
Sometimes there‘ig duplication z2s when you have a meeting on Wall
Street where the man works and one out in Long Island where the man
lives., You have to figﬁiﬁiéiiiﬁSEﬁ“Fna t!s all, The computer
doesn't record a man's gift twice. He can announce it in two
sepvarat2 places, but fhen ne 1s only asked to pay it once and he
knows 1t, you know and the computer knows 1it.

Q.
Somtimes he gets his hconor twice?

A,
Of course. The synagogue division of the New York Cify campziz
is a big division and an important ons. They work very hard to

keep zood relationships with 211 local synagogues and 211 local
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rabbis. They work through one rocof organization, callad the New
York Board of Rabbis.

Q.
That includes the rabbis from all three éE%%%ééafibnée

A,
Yes. In this whole relizious fight where the orthodox organizations
say that their peopls should not be together with reform and con-
servative, there 1s one exception. You can work together, reformsd
and crthodox people, on anything which has to do with Isrsel. That's
okay. You may cooperate with them, even thougsh you think they are
"goyim® because if it is for Israel, Hhat's "Kadosh-Kadosh!

Q.

You 4idn't have any relzationship with the National organizations?

i . - - R

Tou told us nothing.

A,
Whica one?

Q.
The American Jewish Committees?

A,

No.hcime American Jewish Congress, These are politiczal organizations
and the UJA hzas zalways stayed away from the political side of Jewish
life.

Q.

Even the Zionist organizations didn't support and work for the UJA?
A,
That's a different question. Pirst you asked if we worked with the

organizations. The answer i1s no. The second gquestion is, didn't
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the Zionists work for the campalgn? Not the Zionists, the Zionist
organizatiors., iontor saii nothing, They really didn't do anything
during all the time they were in charge of the UJi, the ZOA zand the
Poal2il Zion, Hadassah, They didn't do anything. We had no relations
with them. They weren!t cavable of doing anything. This was the

way I explained it, What do I want to say, that they are nasty
reople? All I want to say is that they are wesk people. They mean
well, but tney have no power a2nd they coculdn't influence anything.
They had so much trouble keepinz their own organizations goirg. They

winked ol pid B
eIt Erdty ralse any money for themselves, They were small-minded,

closed minded, ¥i£§‘§rganizations. The esly thing Ezadassah women
can think about is the Eadassah Hospital. Every time I would say
that a hospital is only part of a nation. . If you don't have a
h05p1ta1?q;cu sti11l have a naticn, you are okay. If ycu have a
hospital and you don't have a country, what the hell goed is 1t.
Never mind, I could talk and talk until I &= blind.

Q.
On this problem you agree 100% with Montor?

A.
Ch, yes. I zsree more, but I don't want to make zn attack on them

Ll n..r\'t..crn-nn. hay

now, beczuse they are almost éaed "The Zionist organizations don't

\L{IM«M-—C ¢

mean anythinz asnymore, se—wba»t—tbe—hel‘:.h et T3 Wk TS e stmee § nelbes

n
VYL | PN Q
L

The ZOA?

Al
None of them. Until only a few months ago Ezdasszh wouldn't even
agree to use the word "aliyzh? Aliyah was a dirty word. You could

never get the American Zionist crganizztions, men or women, to get



benind a2 program for aliyah. - They refused. They said, it's not

Tol. VaA sy 74, ) sz tf
our business., Our business 1s tc bulld z hospital. Or our business
is to help General Zionists in Isrzel, 6r we have a project where we

are geoing to build one room in the Eebrew University.

" There's nothing ;;;Q;I;‘;;h%gém'ébout,'nd'stringi},ﬁb viston,—
no leadership. They gre small veople wisth-no lay-leadershkip, no
seafessional-leadership. Hadassah ladies were like Amazons. They

would kill you 1f/you didn't believe whai; they believed in. They're
hard, like rock{/to this day. They make big speeches about how they
are the big;pét Zicnist organiz%tfg;rin tke world, or in America,
because thef have 300,000 mamb;;s. My answer to that is, so what?
fi am net interested in your membership. I am inferested in what you
" do. And what you do i; some 1little bit of a program of education,
what they call American education andra little bit of Israel educa-

i

tion, and a hoéﬁital znd that's allnyThey hzve a vocationzl school,

1] S h
hgeinigkert.

To come to them and talk about helping in the campaign to make
200 million, 300 million or 400 millicn, no. It is rezlly a dreadful

Seligsturg? It is all a

————

thing. They really are sewmsosonsaitive, = corplete failure, I think,
from an historic point of view, because they lost any relationship
to fund-raising, to aliyah.

Tre UJA had no relzations with the National organizations or
with the Zionist organizaticns of any effective nature in regzrd to
trke running of the campzign. ZIZvery year we would have a mass meet-
ing of all the organizations and we :rculd plead with them for their

support. Zvery year they would promise it and every year we wculd
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get a letter from 2ach ene saying that they had rassed the following
resolutions. I don't know wno passed those resolutions. Somebodldy
ir the back room writes a resolution, signs it and sernds it to us.
So it is a resclution, so what? It didn't mean a thing.

Q.

Did you recruit any people from these organizations?

A.
No.

Q.
To the lay 1leadership?

A,
Almost never.

Q.
After Silver, nobody came in?

A.

If you @ould come up with somebedy who was an important lay leader,
whe

either loczlly ar nationally, and - havpened to te important in

4w

":hl Zionist organigation, then it was k'mikren. There was z say™*

in Philadelphiz, Samuel Daroff, who was an important lay leader, a
Fellay.

good Suy. He is desd ncw. the yesars when he aras givin ’:’35@,990-
— 7

to the/campaign / a man by Lfhe name of Frederick I-:,a;:n WZES ving

zero dollars td the capbaign. He also lived in Philadelppiz. He

am Daroff crazyl For his 23,000 he gefks the Famn

Juditorfum ayd for my £50,000/I get zero. /I don't washt my name on

A J%t he shouldn't bWave his name eanything., Darcff believed
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/
Meir egde that deal w th’?ggderickfﬁaﬁgfand ne was//

- s

-

trat Colg

¥ A s
sore zs hell for the rest of nis life at Golda Meir beczuse of

tfat.| Daroff was a good worker, locally and naticrally, an im-

vortant lay leader of the UJA. Ee was one of the first men who

came on the first mission with Montor to Cermeny in 1946 when the
war was over, I met him then azd I knew him for 2ll1 those 25 years.
He happened to be a Zionist leader in Philadelphia, but this was
sort of an aceident, =Ze wcrked hard for them, but he didn't become
a lezder in the UJA, because he was 2 Zionist. I could go through
the years in my mind, in different cities and F could give you maybe
ten names like his, ziiiéﬁgﬁ.

Your next question regarding the relationsaio of the UJA to
the Keren Eayesod. There was none, none at zll. Am Amperican,
Isrzel Goldstein, was chairman of the Keren Hzyesod, living in
Israel, but that didn't mean anything. Keren Eayesod hzd nothing
to do with America, At a certain point I began to feel that I could
increase the sights of the American leadership if I could show them
that there were cther Jews around the world who were zlso working
on this campaign, that they~§;3 not the only ones doing it. You
Inew Americans; as far as they are concerned, they are the leaders
of the world. I wanted to show them that there were other Jews who
gave money and a2lso worked, so I started sometking.

In our annual Decemper conference I tegan to bring in Jews,
3 or 4 of them from different parts of the world, to invite them
gs our guests., We paild the airplane fare. We hzd thenm sSemd—=md
mak&—a—é%g:éh about what they were doing in their country. I did

it very frankly, in order to give something "pilquant" to my peéople.
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I showed tnem a Jew from lexico, a Jew from Iran, and a Jew fronm
Switzerlard, I put them all in the same program and said look,
thiz is the Jewish pecvple of the whole world. It made my people
feel excited, and i1t was very Zood, Sc for several years in a2 row,
we had a sessicn called "The Internaticnal Session of the American

- Jf?;'—km‘ ks
UJA Conference® and I invited three or four people,

4t
They gave
speeches and we had a party for them. They gave interviews to the
local press and television. If they had time, they went out of
New York and made a circuit to otner offices.

Every year, when I would try to decide whom to invite to this
conference, I would talk to Israel Goldstein in Jerusalem and say,

0 “'“"‘I-'“'!, A Evel e

who is the leading Jew in South Africa? I don't ¥now. So he would
e o o L LR TAR ‘
say, Judge Xemselii;—or—YigselHorovitz: I would cz2ll him up and
invite nim to come to the UJA confersnce next Decemker. What's
the UJA, I sz2id, it is the Keren Hayesod in America. That was the

whole relzationship. Thars woas npo-etkor—melstienseiv.

Gradually, the Keren Hayesod in Jerusalem tezan to be zwzre of
the fact that I was trying to create a broader outlook and Israel
Goldstein said, why don't I come over. Then I began to te friendly
with a Mr.Michael Barzelai. He later went to Zngland as the

director of the campaign. He is now finishing there. He was the

co-director of the Keren Hayesod in Jerusalem until ne went to

Gradually, the relztiorns between the UJA znd the Keren Hayesod
began to be better and better and closer and closer. They began to

use the films that we made and we begarn to ask them to send their
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films, They began to bte aware of cur Younzg Leadership Division
and they opensd one up and put a staff man on it, Raviv, = big
tall guy. So Keren Hayesod has a young Leadership staff.

I began the idea of having a2 meeting of UJA glvers in the
nome of Rothscnild in Pa2ris, Jjust for Americans; to give them
something picuant., Then the Xeren Hayesod said, why don't we
make 1t an international meeting of big givers, not just Americans,
You are bringing over 50 people to the Rothschild house, so we will
put in a few people from Belgfium, Germany and Switzerland. Slowly
the relationship developed and got closer. I would say that, today
there is a good working relationship, no enmity, no hatred,iég:“f;“*ﬁ*
eenaegvorpe, They stilll have far to go to brins the campaizns of
the Keren Hayesod up to the level of the campaign in America, from
a technical point of wview.

Cn that point, I will give you Jjust one footnote to nistory.
When I movsd'gegga%rsaid to Sapir and Pincus fbeta—of—themmow—dead)—
that I was zolng to move tuEE;;a&t, that Israel Goldstein was zoing
bo vatize ant thot IRt b e L T contd s tntiats
country very well. I szid, I would promise them that I would
introduce a3ll of the American methodolosy into the other campaigns
around the world and in three years I would raise the income three

times., These two gentlemen came back to me and said, sorry, I
Mos? tofy [y in irned e

don't come from the rizht political party znd trat's that.4'They it

O=my *

[ T

said it was too bad, but they already nad a candidate for Tthe Job, ! <

- n -
who came from the right political party, ¥r. Ezra Shapiro from Pt
= Resly

ol yrends

Cleveland. They asked me what &4id I LAiak avout him and I told them
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4rat I thouzht about him.  That didn't change She situation, nob
what I thought about him a2s a humzn beinz or as a person. EHe is
a nice fellow, but that's not what I think z2bout nim as the crairmen
of the Keren Eazyesod worldwide. I tried to change the whole picture,
I said I thought ne was witanout ability, that's all, He was a good
lawyer. He was a nice Zionist and he was from the rizht party, etec.
So what? Ee was a party candidate for a professiomnz2l job.

Q. L
These things don't happen in America?

A.
No, are you kidding? In America, if you are talking about political
parties, c2ach political party has its candidates for different Jobs,
but every candidate has to be able. Anyway I hope that the relation-
ships between the UJA and the Keren Hayesod will get deeper and
better because they can learn from each other.

Q.
Do you think that the UJA can learn from the Keren Hayesod?

A,
Ch sure, no cuestion about it, There were some years wnentifaiﬁn't
make a film, because the film that the Keren Hayesod mzde was as
good, or better than anythingfg-cculi meke. So why should I mzake orne?
We had zood publicity people but they nzd 2 man oy the nzme of Rozcow.
I don't mow where he 1s now. EHe igsa good publicity man, and we used
a lot of his pieces, Sa there are things that the American.
campaign can lesarn from the Keren Hayesod.

Qe

How was tne bosrd of the UJA elescted?



I want to know what you mean by the Board. The UJA is a corpora-
tion. The UJA corporation ha‘ a meeting of its Board of Directors
once a year, for ome hour. The UJA has two members on the Board,

A and B, VMember A is the Joint Distribution Committee, Member B

is the United Isrzel Appezl. ZEach member has a right to put 12
persons on the Board. These 24 people come to a meeting of the
3oard of Directors. They vote in a block. There are only two votes,
an A vote and a B vote. That's all. They vete on such things as

the signature on bank accounts.

The secretary prevares resolutions to which the Board has to
agree, so the secretary reads the resolution:it is hersby resolved
that the bank account in the Chase Bank shall have the powar of
these names for signing checks, Jack, John, 3ill, 3 EE;G. The
secretary says, Mr. Chairman, do I hear z motion? So somebody from

the side of A says, I move to accept the list. Somebody from the 3

side says, I second the motion. Finished. The secretary has a
Serme
whole Tist of questions 1like that 211 prepared for the A and the 3
A

side. Ore makes the motion and the other seconds it., That's it.
That's the corporation. These pecoples are not elected.

Q.
But you 4id have a certain body of peovle, not a Soard?

A,
Crce you say not a Board, then you are talking about campaizn
structure,

Q.

Not only campaign structures.



- 194 -

A,
That's all they are. They chanze all the time. Secontimes we used
to have a2 campaisgn cabinet, what we call campalzn officers, the

campaign executive commiittee, These are all different kinds of

structures.

Qe
Were they elected?

A,
No, they were not elected.

Q.
They were volunteers, more or less?

A.
They were appointed.

Qe
Appointed by whom?

A,

They were appointed by a concensus of two or three people. TFor
instance, in the structure today there is something czalled z cabinet
with probably 250 or 300 names in 1t, Maybe it has z meeting once

a year, It is a structure which has outlived 1t's use. There 1is also
a structure called national chairmen, 12 national chairmen,

Q.

Sefore you came to the United Jewish Appeal, what structure was
there Then? You took over from Schwartz? What structure was there?

A,
We had no national chairmen, We kad no exscutive committee, no
administration committee. I think we had a cabinet of 30 to %0
people from all over the country, There were a2 few cteople from

New York also. This was z so-called ruling body of the UJA.
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Gradually that cabinet got bizzer and bigger and as 1t-é;;; bizger,
it zot to be less executive. So I sald, we have to have a few zuys
who can get together, four or five fellows, to make a decision.

Iet's form an inner committee, an actions committee, I forget what

ﬁ?called it. Out of thke hundred pesople in the cabinet, take 5 or

6 of the closest, the hardest workers, the ones with the most in-
fluence. These were the onss we used tc call together more frequently.

There are no by-laws, no articles of asscciation that say the cabinet
shall meet on the first Monday of every month, ;- ittt
Q.
It is no United X=kimm Jewish Appeal Parlizment?
A,
It 1s like z semi-dictatorship. Two, threé or four people always
had to make the inside decisions, the exscutive director, whoever
was his chairman of that year, whoever we were thinking might be
the next chairman and maybe one or two more people and that's it.
Qe
They made the decisions?
A,
Yes, You once asked me how was a chairman elected,

Qe
Who had the right to elect the chairmzan?

A.
There was no guestion of right. It is not written down anywhere.
In practice it was myself with the present chairman., I would say
to him, you know who would be a goocd fellow for the next chairman

when you are finished. We might consult with somebody just to get
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a feeling, maybe witk Warburg, the chairmsn of the JDC. I wculd
say Eddle, we are thinking of 2 young guy from Clevelznd, Ginsberg,
to be the chairman. EHe'd say, who is he? Tell me about him, I
told him something. He said, i1s he a good guy? If he's a good zuy,
okay. Then I called up the executive director in Cleveland, Zucker,
and said we are thinking of Gingbarg for chairman.
Q.
We interviewed Zuckery§
A,
Zucker thinks of himself as Bhe number one professicnzl of america,
and many others think he is, 21so. I liked him, but I don't under-
stand the mystique gbout him. I never did. Sometimes we would
also con”u1tq;hman who was the president of the UJA corporation.
The lastgiﬁgﬁ; xas involved in was when &inzburg was the chairmen,
FPisher was the president of the corporation and I was the director,
so it was the three of us, democratic enocugh, deciding who is goirg
to be the next chairman.
Raudl

A fellow by the name of, Zuckerman was pushing to get the ]Job.
He was telling everybody in America, I am going to be the next
chairman, Hhenﬁigwtéﬁg down to talk about it I said; I think not.
I think he doesn't have the quality. Ginzburg said I am not sure
either, I am not sure that T like hfg:kkﬁ% I pronmised nim that I
would see to it that he gets the Job. Pisher said he is my next

door reighbor. I don't like him. We fight 211 the time, but I

think we have to give it to him. I said no, he doesn't have the

capablilities, and I lost. The two of them said yes and I szid no,



- 187 =

They invited him to be the chairmsn zand many years later toth of
thnem said that they had rade a mistake, That's how it works, no
elections. IHS—was—a—-dissatorsiin.. Then we worked cut a system
that the ocutgoing chairman should become the president of the cor-
poration, so he'ggg still be an irnsider for anotkher year or two.

Qe
Who 1s the president of the corporaticn today?

A.
The president of the corporation today is Paul Zuckermsn, the ex-
chairman. When Lautenberg will become the ex-chairman, he will
become the president and Zuckerman will go out. I hear thgt the new
general chairman will be Leonzrd Strelitz from Norfolk, Virginia,
He is one I put on the list for you to interview, because I was

hearing the rumors.

o e 7 I AN U‘g
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The last question you asked was whether it is worthwhile to
go to the smaller givers., I don't have the time to go into 211 the
arguments. My own personal belief in the matter is that the UJA
should go after the small zgivers to broaden the base of the number
of people who are makinz contributions. As a2 general rule, the
smaller the city, the more you cover everybody and almost everybody
is making some contributicn.

In 2 commnity where there are already 5,000 families, I am
sure that you do not have 100% varticipation. ZEven in a community
that small there are still msny veople not:contributing, because
neither the National UJA, or the local Federation soes down deep
enoush to reach everybody. We know all the reasons wny not. It
costs too much money, there isn't enough manvower and nobody has

a way to do it.



The Bond organization doesn'!t think it is worth while. The
smallest bond they now sell is 3250. They zare not interested in
the small-gﬁg who wants to buy ;50 or 8100. They used to sell a
$50 bond and 3100 bonds, but no more. They say it is not kedsi,

but I am not convinced of that.

-

™ PR S -.;1 L r-d

I belisve that a campaign has %o go two ways;{up-n-d 1t must

2lso go sideways to cover everybody. I suggested this meny times
but I never succeeded, Last year, 1975, for the first time, the
New York City UJA started something which they called a mass action
in the city, a telethon. Ta;Tran a telethon for 24 hours. They
took in S7 millién and they zot something 1ike 30,000 new corntributors.
I am not sure of that number. I am 2all in favor of that because
if you put 30,000 néew names into the computer you have 30,000 new
customers to go to during the next campaign.

Q.
I heard that it had the worst coverage.

A.
As I told you before, the higher up you zo on the scale of population,
the smzller the percentaze of coverage becores. The next worst
coverage after New York therefore is what city?

Qe
Los Angeles, then Chicago and Philadelphia.

A,
It goes like a scientific law. It is a universal problem znd in
the whole strategic approzch of the commander of the campaimm, he

must a2lways leave the questiorn of hov to get the smaller
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contributicns alons because nobodyn?ound an znswer for him, I
J

had an answer., I oproposed 1t, but it was never really tried, so
I don't know if it would be successful or not.

I wanted to use the students and kill two birds with one stone.

A
One wiuld ravt

First of all’I—hzﬂ to irdoctrin=te the students and tezchk them to

nd

go out to work on the campaign, Secondly, Z could get their ,w~

™| y.rl.ulﬂl

contributions. I don't care if it %= $1, 35 or 810, but they beccme
contfibutors, I would give each one his identity card and he would
ge out as an official of the campaisn. You give khim a2 big building
and you give him a shetacnh. You nave to work it like zn army, in

pluzot and gedudim. You kzve to nave commarnders and maps. Every-

4o Mo sete]
body comes in and makes a report. It all has to be done in = very

systematic way, I belisve that if we could mobilize the student
:‘_}[ﬂ“ manebar

power of America;;hoo,ooo Jewish students, @aybe_mope _now, each
of the students might give Sten himself, 2nd bring in a2 thousard.
Do you Ka&w what we are talking about? And this is really only

the beginning.
SM-"“A wﬁ-i!u‘.’“l
My answer is yes, i1t is worthwhile to go after Fhem, T—hsd

e Fhat plan )
Dot ast o b M._a e  wended anly
in overation five years, F~outd—ba—able—50 tell you whether it
i.-l W.IOJ
works or noct. But nobody has done it. I have gizau-the plan ../

o ﬁh‘s"’ h | l::'-‘-{ 2
beth=ge Irving Bermstein in National znd So=¥iekelle in New York,

/1

I dorn't know why they don't want to do it, but they don't.
Q.
Today we are talking about two sections: first of 211 Young

Lezadership and then the Women's Division.
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A,

I think it is commonly agreed and understood by now that the Young
Leadership is one of the most important things which the UJA
developed, learned how to do, is ncw profiting from 2nd will continue
for many years into the future, Since that is so, I think it is
important to understand how it began. It could pessibly te z lesson
for another big project which, I think, should be conducted among
the student generation, ages 20 to 25. I think that scme of the
lessons that we learmed from the Young Leadership, 2ged 30 to 35,
‘ﬁ:ﬁ be appliésjggﬁh}ears éagizgifand the same success achieved with
tae student generation.

That's really the only reason that I am interested in mskinz

sure that the details of how the Young Leadership was organized,
should be in the record. ¥aybe somebody willl look at the record
and think of how to apply it to the student generation. I had
intended to start with the student generation when I 1loft the Uda,
actually in the summer of 1970, to develop the first student
committee of the UJi. Then I left the UJA in 1571 to come aere,
so nothing realily ever naprened. It is too bad.

I was corvinced that we had 6o find a2 new generation of leaders,
that we had to ftrain them and motivate them. For a year I went
around the country to every meeting of the UJX\?;;;;;QTE;; ;;ung
men who were obviously more than average, who stood out zbove the
crowd, 2itner in the way they spoke, the way they gzve money, the
way other people followed them. You can tell who is an exception.

I was marking down names in my book for a y2ar tut didn't tell f

anybody what I was doins. \/
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Which y=ar?
A.
: Frow~

That hfad to be 1in 1953 the fall of '59 until the spring of 1960,
cne whole campaign season. I had something like 300 to %00 names
in my boock by the time I wes finishﬂag this research znd notody
knew what I was doing. ZEvery time I would go to a meeting I would
look 2nd see who was there and watch who was spezaking ard loock for

the younz ones. I would find out the names.

B +Mt P'""" icauled
Then I decided it was time to ca2ll a conferencs r waich I eslled

L'\‘E-"\Aw-b-'
for september 1960, I wrote to the executive directors of the
Federations in the communities, telling them that I was goins to
try to form a group of young men whom we would teach and train and

move into leadership positions. I asked what they *‘-ou"ht of the

“ho Shawfd be invived = (R sl insatnes.
idea 2nd did they have any candidatss ..o_sugae.s#—te—ae " I nave the

file of letters which I received, T kept every on2. It was
absolutely remarkable how they all said, no, don't do it. It is
not your Job and you shouldn't do it. It is the Council cof
Pederations' jJjob and you are zoinz to conflict with thenm,

To cut a lonz story short, I called a meeting z2nd 250 people
came, 211 at their own expense. It was a fantastic success.
Nobody believed there would be such number, such quality and such

enthusizsm. I could see immediately that this was something so

w wﬂu—w S u“-l}
exciting that these -1&-3 scusd not be treated .Li-r:e 2 routine

..-r-'
confarence wher:2 they come and lisfen to somebody ziving a speecnes
sscus—the Joink, T 314 211 this fse,—I -inmvited—Hr—feavittof—
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But they needed something svecial a2nd I decided that I would
try to give them an educational lecture wrich you do not ordinarily
get at the usual weekend corfa2rence, I didn't know whather it
would succeed. This was a biz gamble for re because if this
succeeded, then I knew that I had found the secret of how to deal
with these people 1T‘§hé"‘inte1 sctual level and then to proceed
to the emotional lewvel, Their fathers of the nrevious gensration

ras leor~ much les tale-- Y
were 211 emotion and =0 intellect. If-yotr-"alkrto their fathers,

ngiC
who were bora in Minsk, Pinsk, or g;‘msz', skan all -you—hed-—to—do
was_semetiring—ttiethe—Pavlov—condittoned reflex: You had to Lo remnies

-} 1"&'11&\-“) o parde i Tiraels rbegiesimi . Vo Tue [ (m-u, Wesr Fagitalicd Sonit ok i lendan,
A;;_4ams_arﬂ_zath1nz_ELll2Q_lnhhhﬂ_nngnam,-and—$q&—fabﬂer—wuurd

atan:_zn_nzx_ana_x__ll___g would say., I must-do-something znd he-
MLce 2iien iy Pasdeud & Povlovia ~

woulé—sive—326- It-i-s—-a conditiomed reflex, It is automatic, but
nofi very bigr It was an emotional gut reaction, the Jewish shtetl
reaction.

I kmew that this was nct correct for their sons who were
university graduates. I would try an intellectusl aporoach, but
I knew tnats.“é'.'-‘-iotj‘enough e1tner, I Xif1 begin with this and shem
teis I dill go:‘to the emoction. F‘i‘he 1ntellec*ua£’fmw§at touch
thEmlgad then I would have no way to reach them. I decided to give
a lecture that would be the highlizht of this confa2rence, but it
mizght have to take four or six hours, which was also unprecedented,
I decided to deal with the subjlect of 100 years of Jewish history,
1380 to 1980. I gave the lscture in 1960, so there nad to be 20

years of projection into the fubture, I picked 1880 because that
Pobiedcnestoov

was the watershed, the dividinz point. That was the "ZRetsdors"

era in Russia, the beginninzg of the biz mizration to America and
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the bteginning of the "BILU" into Palestire. First, I tcok them

back 100 years and told them what life was like in the satetl.

That was the backzround., Then I told them what happened when the

Jews started to cows, o America and Lhat- o fewJewe—stamtod—te—go-

to Palestine; and the build-up of the American communi“y in 1890, 1900,

?‘la- #=-

1910 z2nd World War I; the first zliyah l; Israel; the, second z2liyah
ia Isrzel; I took them through the years of 1920's, That ;;;ﬂ us
into the build-up of the Hitler period and then into the Holocaust;
tae estzblishment of the State of Isrzel; building up the state;
all of the waves of immizgration; and meanvhile the bulldinzg of a
strong commnity in America.

detir il TR thsmse 4 pakess

eXaluss are—ehensing in America from tge "what will the goyim

say" attitude and fearfulness, to more of a Jewish sense of inde-
pendence; and more independence in Israel, war after war; the two

communities grewing up parallel with eacin other, each developing
more self-confidence., Then, of course, I tried to mzke a2 projection
of what would happen from 1960 to 1980.

The sveech 1s cn record, so I don't have to go into the speech
now, but the point of the matter was that when it was all over,
there was this fantastic, incredible reasction. First of all, I
gave them a2 history lesson. They never knew such things happened
and thls orened up an appetite to learn this history. Number %two,
it showed this feeling of pride. It was long before the Six Day
War znd the State of Isrzel was still something fairly new.

Woat I tried to do was to make them proud of being Jews and
of beinz comnected to Isrzel, At the end I left them, of course,

with a feeling that they hzad a bilz responsibility. I am very hard
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_1-;.'.
on that. If you want to take part in this thing, ryou have to

enlist as a soldier for the rest of your life, If you dontt want
to take part, good-bye. That's all, s.he%:—h\tm the Protestant churech.
Shalom. So we lost a few more Jews. It doesn!t make any difference,
We lost six million, so we will lose you and another few thousand.

It doesn't matter. We will fight the fizht with wheever wants to be
a good soldier. Those who don't want to be good soldiers, go home.

I don't want to see you anymore. But if you stay, you have to stay

v T Lo Ao f“&-ﬂu rtw""__
for your whole 11fet1me. I told them of the Bible Lhe.whole story,
T v Tt v ant el Ray
Wéo wantd to fizht and who dgéhn&t want to fight and who érinka:%he

water;—That—is-our—Sradition.
feginbese .
These stories were new to them? To these Kids?
A,
Sure. This is what 1s called the lost gemeration in America. They
Q;ée no Jewish education because their parents ESEQL%:;;;E-En;m—te-
-have any, The parents didn't cama, They were tusy becoming
Azericans, Now the children's generation, the second or the third,
want to come back. They are hungry to come back, tut you nave to
know what to feed them,
Q.
Is 1t rezlly Just the intellectual involvement that is importanti?
Don't you have to create a certain emcticnal irnvolvement? In-
tellectual involvement is nothing. You can get involved witnh the
Chirese people.
A,
M‘tr.mf.-

I said that, Intellectual invelvement is medhing. You have to gt

on to the next step of emoticnal involvement., The question is, how
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to get them interested at all. If you begin with an emotional
thing, you lose them because they don't nave any background to

understand the emotion you are talking about.. The father understood.

& +pe father was btorn in Minsk all you had to say to the father 8,

- v
Cossack.

The first story Golda Meir tells in her book was tuat when
she was six years o0ld, she remembered skef the Cossacks:t;me riding
down the street on their big horses and she was a frightened iittle
girl. Then skhe tells the story about when she was in Milwaukee,
the first time she saw an American policemzn on a big horse, she
was afraid of him, Eﬁ;gfhe‘gé like the Cossack. Sometody told her
that in America the volicemen are not there to nurt vecple, 5ut to
nelp them. So she learmed a lesson about the difference between
the Cofssack and the American policeman, on the same horse.

That is pure emoticn, which the fathers resvord to but the
generation of the sons cannot yet respond to this. Pirst you have
to teach them, what 1s a Cossack. You have to teach them wkat is
a sﬂétl. This is pure intellect, academic materizl out of a book,
out of the mouth of tre speaker, out of a2 film or picture. This
is something that you have to create for them, a whole aczdemic or
intellectual environment, Then you have to draw out of this the
emotionzl implication of why they shoull be involved in this tusiness.

Nobody could ever prove that this was right. I toock 2 big
gamble, bteczuse if I was wrong and this conference would have teen
a biz failure, that's it, finished, The thing would never get off

the ground. 3But it turmed cut I was right. The approach was correct
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and the reaction was incredible. They wanted to learn more, so
we started the idea at the conference of sending a book 2 menth.
After a while, most of them developed 2 librzry of 50, 75, 100
volumes, 211 on Jewish nistory, ohilosopay, nz2lf of the bocks
comected only with Isrzel. Zach of them now nas a little library
which we gave them. T was money well svent.
Q.

How did you develop their involvement?

weuld =y
We planned that they.corme on a2 mission to Israel in the summer of
1961. It was the first Young Leadership mission. %hen I asked how
many reople wéi& come next June, 211 the hands went up. We 4didn't
have all of them, but we had 100 and Half of them came. We develcped
their involvement by making them read the becok every montk, come to
a retreat once a yéar, come to a regional conference once a year,
come on a mission overseas once a year and then begir to tazke part
in the work of the loczl Federation Campaizn for the UJA.

After you train somebody, motivate him, invclve him intellec-
tually and emoticnally, teacn him how to do the work of soliciting
money, £t him orn three trips to Isrsel, so he knows what he is
talkinsg zbout, then what do you do with him? It is as if ycu-;;ée
traasth Jaok dool.

2 beautiful sew, but how to pul that #=% To use? That was the

organizational side, to convince the loczl corrunitiss to tegin to
take these fine trzined, zood, fresh new ;gyzdézg—cut ther to werk
with resporsibility. We kad to work with the executive directors,

to convince them to accert this new manpower.
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In some cities we failed and in some cities wes succeeded. At
the end of a vrocess of 10 or 15 years I will Jjust zive you one
statistic. There are 68 cities in America that raise more than
%1 million. In 57 of these the chairman of the campzign is someons
who came out of the Young Leadershivp campzign. It is like z
revolution, where you train a cadre and move them into vosition.
They rise to the fop and they take over the leadership. In some
citlies where the executive directors couldn't see the wisdom of
thls, they sald, we don't want these young fellows. They rejected
them, used 211 kinds of excuses. The exscutive directors would say,
ry cld leadership is not yet ready to retire.

Chicago is the most outstanding example of 2 city that absoclutely
refused. The Young Leadership Cebindt Led ame-matibmal chairman,
like the zeneral chairman of the UJA., We—kedé-Bne fellow from Chicago
ne el becawe Pre fitms asdis. . .-

Bobert Schrayer, Ske Chairmen for the whole country. In his
own city of Chicagzo he had a hell of a fight to get himself onto
the board of his own loczal Federation, because the executive director
was stupld and btecazuse the lay leadersnip was blind and couldn't see
the value of these young é;;E coming in, making a revolutior and
taking over.

Last year, the chairman of Chicazo finzlly was 2 men, Leon=rd
Sherman, who.iésa Triend of these Young ILeadership boys, 2lthough
he 1s about ten years older. =e never passed throush the Young
Leadership training in an officizal way but in a non-official way,
ne 4id. Now in Chiczago we have one of our Young Lezdersuip graduates,
<Back in the early days thers were-more—cities that were rejecting
then-but—thank~God; most cities did not.
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Cleveland 1s znother city which rejected them more or less,

and 1t didn't out into, dositien

in the local leadership any of the men who came uvp thkrouzh the
Youns Leadersinip ranks. In most of the country it worked, and most
of the cities had enough intelligence to realize that these bogs
gﬁﬁé to be put into positions of responsibility.

Q.
Is there continuation? That was in 1960. Eas Younz Lesdershin

developed new psople?

B g
There was 2 constant process of recruitment, in and out, bveczuse
man B
wheén a bey reached the aze of 40 he rad to e, Ee wasn't young

lezdership any more,
Q.

In Isrzel the Young lLeadership is 70 years old. Mrs. Feir is 78.
A

You have To keep recrultinzg veople 211 the time. We recruited more

people in '61 anéd had znother mission in '62., 3r the time we got

et it wng e Fo

to '63, I formalizey #t and msMe a cabinet out of it, Sxran: -
A L st i
som=_recnis _who were—no—-sood-end—nicked-up-come——new—psople. In

1963 we had a meetinz. I asked Gowrnor Herbert Lahmen to come to
this meeting and give his blessing, so in the records of the history
of the UJA, we say that the Young Lesdership Cabinet was formed by
Governor Lehman. It was like the Constitutional Convention in
Pailadelpnia. Everybody in the first Cabinet zot 2 picture taken
with Governor lenran. Zvery one of the first Cabinet members was

a founder of the Young Lezdsrship movezent, Cne hundred y2ars from
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now it will b2 history, like the first Zionist Congress.
The organizztion was esfizplished, formed and then began to

make chapters in each cify. Then there was the organizational work

of convinecinzg the executive directors to accent these people znd
then widening the circle, btegiminz to look for new names.

I was involved very closely in thzt for ten years, from 1960
to 1970. I picked the chairmen. Scme were good, some not so gZocd,
some excellent. I had two executive directors. I picked them out
of my staff and assigned them to this project. I paid a tremerdous
amount of personal attention to this prozrzm. I took these men on
trips to Dachau, to Mgkhausen, to Auscawitz, so they should re=lly
understand the Holocaust, I took them many times to Isrzel. I
wsnt to every regional corference myself znd I fouzht with executive
directors to accept them in every city. It was a2 personzal structure,
but it is fantastic in its power, because today it carries the whole
weight of the UJA, with the excepticn of maybe a dozen cldsr men.
The work in the conmunities is done by these men. There are two or
three thousand who went throush thls training orocsss.

A second development occurred. In the communities, the Courcil
of Federations quickly saw that this was a very useful thing, so
the communities begzn to develo;“z;adership trainins courses. They
would recrégé:loo ﬂgﬁb. Maybe only two or three of tnese fellows

N 3 le V‘Q
were good enoush to Esina-to the National Czbinst, tut in the local

what p
community the standards are different. They would hzve z2 Young
Leadership trzining course znd we would send people down to lecture
them. I went myself many scores of times to talk to the Ycung

T(‘v}l‘ oral ';-t t‘-‘-\ut\'l‘:‘i.
Leadershiphof —oiemn ;
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VYho organized the loczl Youngz Leadership, the,Younz Leadership
people or the Federation director?

Al
It began with the initiative of the Natiocnal Youns Leadership rceople
and if the lccal Federation director was smart, he accepted it.
Sometimes he fought against it, but after two or three years of
fighting, suddenly he would see the wisdom of it z2nd he would atart
1t himself. He would say, I don't want you fellows from the UJA to
tell me what to do. I will do iC myself, because my young leadership
must be oriented to the local needs as well as those of Israel, I
didn't care, He was accepting the principle,

Q.
Could you zive me some exXamples of executive directors who bcok
the irnitiztive in this field? Who was very active?

A.
¥y memory is not so good and I can't pinpcint it for you. I can tell
you tnat in 1960, '61, '62, '63 and the very vegimminz years, the
director in Los Angeles, Jullius 2atner was very enthusilastic zbout
a Young Leadership Division, He got Chester Firestein, the son of
Fax Firestein, Max Pactor Perfumes, to be the first chairman of the
Youns lLeadership in Los Angeles. He was exactly rigzht, perfect,
beczuse if you zet such a 535, 30 years old or maybe less, to be
the chairman of the Youns Leadership, he is like 24 carat zold, the
elite, They will come around him and they will sit and listen.

Los Angeles developed an excellent young leadership, teczuse
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the local executive director azreed with the concept, took the
inspiration from us and took a2ll of our materizl., I used to go
out thergt?oa; tines a year to talk to the yourg leadersnip and
it developed into somethingjzzgd.

Philadelphia 21s0o 3ot a Zoocd prozram going. A young boy, Saul
Friedman, wzas the Vice Chairmar of the National Young Leadership
and sold nis local director, HNr. 532$§3E;i the idea that they should
have one in Philzdelphia.

Qe
Did the National Young Leadership involve itself in real fund
raisins or only in organizational work?

A.
Organizaticn leads to fund raising. They entered into the fund
raising macnine of the loczl community. Wher they were lucky and
we pusihed them properly znd the executive director had enough sense
and all of the factors were right, they got to tne top. Last year,
the chairman of the Campaign in Los Angeles was Irwiq‘?ield. Ee
is L0 years o0ld =2nd when we started with him, 15 years ago, in the
Young Leadership he was 25. Ee rose up throush the ranks in the
Nztional Young Leszdership. Ee took assigznments all over America.
He gets invited tc m=zke a speechsin 3oston, cr in Dallas, to sit
devm znd solicit money from their young leadership group. He comes
in as the expert from outside ard he starts to raise tae monsy
among them. That's what he dces, outside of his own comrunity, as
a nztional leszder.

Inside of his own community, first he tegan as the chairman of

the industrial division, then the chairmar of the local ccomittee
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out in the valley where he lives and up the ranks Finally ne is
ﬁa.generaffg?ﬂgﬂs whole city of Los Angelss in the Campaizn of 1974
and againr in '75. He now gives 560,000 and runs a campsizn of
345 million., He 1s a perfect examplie of a leader who rose tc the
top 2t a younz z2z2, with 2 willing executive directcr and loca
establishment behind him, with a natioral framework, within which
he nas developed his own reputation. In his own community he reached
the top. Ee did a fantastically good Jjob. Ee was vice chairman of
tee rational Young Leadership. This year he was elected as one of
the 12 national chairmen of the whole UJA. Ee is the younzest one.
%ill ne ever get to be the General Chairmen of the UJA? I hope so.
I have conducted afEiggt now since 1973 with the UJA, with Mr.
Irving Bernstein, with fr. Max Fisher, with ¥r. Pzul Zuckerman.
Why? They do :'not.take one £3§ from this Young Lezdership group as
the next General Chzirman, even in the next one, two or four years
from now, to look to the future, The Cabinet was formed in 19é3
and in 1973 there was a 10th anniversary conference in Washinzton,
D.C, They invited me to speak. I said, kol hakavod, conzratulatidns.
You guys have really done 2 teautiful job., You fulfilled =211
expectations. Now I would 1like to ask you to do one more thing, and
here, of course, I was not very popular. I said, by now one of you
should have bteen the Cenerzl Chairman of the National UJA. Fou are
not being invited znd you know why. Just as in the beginnirs, we
nad to meke a revolution in the local commurnities to get you boys
nto positions, I am now urzing you to maske a revolution in the
National UJa, because if they won't put you into position, you hzve

to put yourselves into rosition a2nd force your way in.
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Of course, this was not very popular with the zimsed and

novody liksd that speech very much, but I liked it. I think we
are coming to the time where, not the next chairman, but the one
after him, will be Gordon Zacks from Columtus. £He was one=ofathe
chairmen of the Younz Leadershnip Cabinet when he was 35 years old.
Ee is xazy rich, industrious, from the Midwest, a2 verfect type for
you to study as a soclologist, keen intellsct, total emotionzl
commitment, He will be, I think, the first ex-Young Leadership
chairman to be the Generzl Chairmar of the whole UJA. I think
mayoe two or three years from now, they will be ready for him, I
nore so.

Qe
wnat about the Women's Division?

A,
The YWomen's Division is a2 much shorter story. I didn't start it
so I don't now what the founding philosovany was. I think the
vhilosophy was that a gift from a woman is an extra gilft to the
campaign. I think it is no more than that. The velief was that,
in America, women have their own money or they get zn sllowance
from the husband and if they are very careful, they can save 510
or 3100. Why shculdn't we try to get extra gifts from the women?
The first Women's Division chairman was selected with an eye toward
social prominence, socizl importance, It was the sister of Willlam
Rosemwzld, Mrs, Adele Ievy.

Q.
She was 2 contributor on her own. 3She gave a quarter of 2 millien

dollars to the UJA.
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R L] 148, but the Women's Division was started before that, I
don't know exactly what year, but it was zlrezdy in existence in
'48, She proved her point tkat a woman's gift is an extra in-
dividual gift. It means plus money and this was the first slogan

of the Yomen's Division, "Your dollars are plus dollars." That
——

was the first idea behind it and this 1dea succeeded. Again, the

-r\"-.
whole question was that the National UJA had 2 plan and nﬁhiyeu

4
hgge to sell 1t to the local community Federztion, the szme business.

In some Fzderations they accevted the idea of Women's Divisions

end in some Federations they said no, if the woman gives $100

the man will take 1t away and give 5900 instezd of $1,000.
Qe

In many families women rezlly have thelr own rcorey.

A, _
You zalways have z liberal, a visionary attitude and you have a
reactionary attitude. If an Executive Director wants to find a
‘reason to say no, se=this is his reason. If there is 2 rick wildow
who has a lot of money of her own, then let her te aoproasched bty
the Fen's Division. Let them go to her and make believe she is a
marn. The argument went baek and forth, but year after year the
Women's Division grew stronzer and stronger.

Qe

I understand tnat the Women's Division was started by lMontor.
'_,-""'"_'_________‘—-——_____._-———'— —

—— S———————————————————————————————

A.

Yes, he started it in '47, or '46. I really don't lmow which ysar.

Q.

Did he also start a2 loczal Women's Division?
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A.
Ze couldn't start anything local. You must understend the dynamics.
The National Director of the UJA could never start anything
locally. His relationskip with the local veople wouldn't mzke any
difference. Schwartz! relationship with the local people was
perfect becagse he never fought with them. They thouzht ne was a
god because he never got into an argument with them. He always

the VIR Diwcd—
gave them what they wanted. The only thinz #e could do if the

loczal people wouldn't agree, was to say, I will spliit ﬁggi you., I
don't want to work through you. I don't want you to te oy zgent.
I don't want to have any connections with you. I will mzke an
independent UJA committee, Icntor used to threaten this all the
time, but never 4id it. Schwartz neve;:gareataned it. Scuwartz
didn't fizht wita the community a2t all.

I lived with the community. At the begimming there was a
43§§;Z§1e state of tension and fizhting with them. Then I grew more
mellow. It was always a struggle to convince then of something,
but I nsver made any foolish threats, T wanted to aave senarsts
campaigns in two places, Chicago and Los Ang2les, but I never
threatened them, because I never had the backing from a1y own veople,
Iy own Generzl Chairman znd EFFIe exscutive committee or my

cabinet. If you don't have their backirg, how can you threaten

to do something.

The ‘omen's Division zrew stronzer and stronzer by having

good chazirmen and by hsving a strong sense of commitment. You

know women when they take something on. Why 1s Hadassah the

stronzest Zionist orgsnization in America? Women are mucih more

—

—
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devoted %o z project than men sre. Here it was a big money vroject.
Q.
Was there any kind of coordination vetwesn ths2 Women's Division

of the UJA zni the ZHadasszah,louncil of Jewish Wonen?

A,
There was no coordinzation. There was fizht. Zeere—was—nothing,—

like living on two separate planets. A woman in Boston, Dorothy

’ —
= - deni Thi l ha ==2a
Specter, was very active in the Hadasszh. never zot to be the

e

National Pregident. She was also very active 1in the UJA Yomen's

Division. I was thinking about her as the National Chsirm=an., She

vaesT 0 Dws mes Ina vt

is the quickeet exampls I can bhink)of‘ 2 woman who was zctive in
. - &‘-:‘lll'l" .
Hadassah znd also rose to the tep in UJA 'Jomen.sA "ost of the women

who were at the top of the UJA, naticnslly or locally, were zood
members of the Hadassan chapter, or good members of the Council of
Jewish Women., 3But its different being a member and bteing 2 leader
and I'm talking about leasders, The leadership of the Nationzl UJA
and the local UJA committess grew up sevarately and independently
and trhere were no conflicsts with the other women's organizations.
If a woman:;: active in Hzdassah, ghe loveg Israsel, s0 she 5§§§5£f
say no to Eadassah. Buthfiggé:és'thﬂE?Q:;maﬁ of the $365 lurmcheon
for the Pederation Campaign,*gﬁg is working like nell montk after

month to zet veovle to give 3365, 51 =2 day.
s 51&
- - 4 b P
In Eadassanh there is a %25 donor luncheon,, 2z $100 doror
A shont aofm [tatia ealized TAaY he comdd

luncheon. ,%=ean maks more money,im the UJA than throuch Hadassah,
fn Tirael Thaus)

—— e

So she's a good member of Hadassan, a good member of tae synagogue,
See—tedies'—uIId or the sisternocd, a good member of the Council

of Jewish Jomen. She's z good member of ewerything. 3ut whsre 1s
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she a lead2r? She is a leader in the UJA Campaizm. I would say

ct

hat the Women's Division grew and developed beczuse of the quality

f their lezdership. It was superb. From lirs. Levy to iatilda

F1yTY 4
Brailoy€. In nher day she was superb and Paulette, was zn excellent

6]

chairmen, and Zlaine Cyrus Winik was fzntastic. The present chair-
man is Mrs, Easenf21d from Providence, Rhod2 Island. She has such
quality and elegance, There was Fanny Shenan and IIrs, Karp. This
1s superb human matarial,
Q.
I see that most of these Women's Division lezdsrs are not New Yorkers.
A,

That's right. There was only one. The second reason for the success

was thzat the women were zlways willing to take a risk and try soms-

thing new. That's what I liked zbout them, They would sit anrd

study znd think and they would m2ke® some psycholozical survey, They
would have a2 tig meeting. Boston is very conservative, so we'll
only make the jJump up to $500. Los Angeles and Eollywood are more
flamboyant, so we'll mske the next Jjump $1,000. New York would
always follow the lead, New York never gave the lead. When there
was a 81,000 lunchson in Los Angeles, New York would have a $1,000
lunchson. In Chicazo when they agreed they would try a £2,000
women's lunchaon, New York tried 2 52,000 women's luncheon. It's

—

reached the point where there are now 710,000 mirximum Women's
a—— —_—

Division luncneons,

et

Qe

Tou're zoinz to tell me that this is not their husband's money?



I think not, bscause any women can give 310,000 if her husband _
is giving 850,000, Es weusdwet zive 3§0,000, bub e woufé.flftm
her zive 310,000. Now it's a question of her prestize in the
iccal ccmmunity. The Women's Liberation groups are mucan stronger.

Sne tells nim I want to be in the ;ggd. I want to give my own

money. I want to zive 910,000, Ee says to her, what do you mean
your money, it's my money. She says no, it's not, because I worked
for it too. Did you ever near women's literation people? I work
toco. I brouzh® up the children., I ran this hous2dold, I did as
much work as you did in your office. Don't tell me it's your money.
I want to give 310,000. Naybe ne cubs deown %o 340,000, tut I don't
think so. We aave 2lmost no cases like this, I think it's the

sare principle, oxtra money. That's the human psycholozy. She

comes on her separate women's missions. She has 2z separate cash

S ——— —

collection committee and she has her separate vrogram 2t the

—_—

National Conference in December every year. IL nas reached She

—_—

Iif).v

point now waere women are producinz mors than 8% of the gross
Campaizn. That's fantastic, 250 million through their own initiative,
Q.

Have you ever considered youns women's lezdership?

A,
Sure, I did, but trey're not doing it. You have to nave one person
around who will do 1%, around whom to tuilld and who will put the
time z2nd attention into it., They rezlly do it, but they don't
create a separate organization. What they do 1s look for young

3irls, 25, 30 year old youns marrisd womern with ons child and
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i

taey bring her right into the woren'!s committee, Trey don't make
a separate committee out of it. laybe for them it's right.

R.
Could you have created a zirls' division?

A,
I don't mow. Young girls, 20 year olds, are students at univer-
sities and 1 think it's better to have 2 students' division with
boys and zirls together. Between the ages of 25 and 35 there is
a huge difference. At 25 you nave 2 young married woman with no
children, at 35 a marrisd woman with two or three cnilldren. She
is aliresady a different type of person. They are in twvo separate
worlds. A 25 year old man who is starting cut as a young lawyer
antG a 35 year old man who is an established lawyer, they are both
lawyers. They bota go to their offices. Or they ere both architects,
stcrekeerers, whatever. They can be 25 or 35 years old and they'll
still have something in common. A 25 year old marrisd woman znd a
35 year old married woman don't have anythinz in common anymore.
The older one is already over the line,

Q.
Wners's the line?

A,
Maybe 30. 35 to 45 are the same, There's no difference. The
children are a little older, that's all, but they are in the same
psycnological, mental and social framework. This one nas problems
with her children who are 2ight years old. The other one has
problemns with her cniliren who are eighteen years old, the same

provlems. .
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T™e third reazason for the success of the Women's Division is

—_— —

this women's liberation movemant z2nd a motivaticn to want to do

some thinz on their own, as women, not just as Jews. They zre prov-

”

ing themsel¥es as people, equal tec their husbends., As that developed

I think that strengthened the Women's Division. Women's liberation

is a separate movement, not a Jewish movement, but as 2 general

movement in socisty, 1t helped the Women's Division.

Numter four, the last peint I would merntion, 1s the degree of
o o

ideclogy and commitrent. When you get 2 womesn commitied, her con-
________________,_.——-—'—_'_'_'-—— —

zitment, I think, is deeper than her husband's znd she helps to

e

CEEXEEEE—EEE' Thus the value of the Women's Division is not Just
that she will give her 91,000 plus, tut that she keeps convincing
tim that he should raise his $10(To 313-Fo $15% Ste helps work on
his gift. !Most people don't think of this. 1If she becomes so
deeply committed, she keeps pushing him, She is the best solicitor
of him,

Q.
Fanny Shanen told me that she became the chair-lzdy of the gensral
Campaign in Dallas, Did that hapren many times?

A,
Unfortunately, it didn't happen tog meny times. It happened from

time to time, but still it's not common thzt a2 womsn is chairman

! a i M L opmmman vy, .
of the whole campaignk Some women have alsc become president cf

the federaticn, not Jjust chairman of the Campzlizn.
Q-

Faulette could have done thzt?



A,
Sure, ocut Paulette was never in her hometown very much. She was
travelling all the time. 1In all the active years of her 1life, sne
was almost never in her own cocomunity, so she could never te presi-
dent of the Federzation. She was never there.

The Women's Division is worth a whole study by itself, believe
me. I would criticize myself and the men's administrztion of the
UJA because we never really gave the women a2s much time, zttention
end support as they wanted, a2s they reeded and as they had a right

to. They deserved it zand we never zave them encush. They zlways

complaired zbout it and then they always szid, we'll go 2rxd do our

Lm business. | |
Zu*}\(\‘ //\b 1y SLE
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